
 

Page 1 of 3 

  City of Gardner, Massachusetts 
Office of the City Council 

~~~~~~~ 
CALENDAR FOR THE MEETING 

of 
MONDAY, JULY 1, 2024 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER 
7:30 P.M. 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS  

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. CALL OF THE ROLL OF COUNCILLORS 
 
III. OPENING PRAYER 

 
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 V. ANNOUNCEMENT OF OPEN MEETING RECORDINGS 
 

Any person may make a video or audio recording of an open session of a meeting, or may transmit the meeting through any medium, subject to reasonable 
requirements of the chair as to the number, placement and operation of equipment used so as not to interfere with the conduct of the meeting.  Any person 
intending to make such recording shall notify the Chair forthwith.  All documents and exhibits used or referenced at the meeting must be submitted in 
duplicate to the City Clerk, as they become part of the Meeting Minutes. 

 
VI. READING OF MINUTES OF PRIOR MEETING(S) 
 
VII. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

  
VIII. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 
 

11323 – A Vote to Authorize the Mayor to Enter into a Host Community Agreement 
between the City of Gardner and Bay State Racing, LLC conducted  

 
IX. PETITIONS, APPLICATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS, ETC. 
 

11317 – A Vote to determine if a track of land located at 827 Green Street, be 
approved as the location of a running horse racing track where race meetings 
laid out and conducted by licensees under M.G.L c. 128A will be held or 
conducted (Public Hearing Required) 

 
 
11324 – An Open Meeting Law Complaint Filed by Paul DeMeo Regarding Open 

Meeting Law Discussion with the City Council. 
 
 
 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

 
X. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES  
 
 FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

11289 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Part 1, thereof 
entitled “Administrative Legislation.” (In the City Council Referred to Finance 
Committee, 5/20/2024, More Time 6/3/2024, 6/17/2024) 

 
11314 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, Section 90 of 

Chapter 553, Thereof Entitled, “Sewer Rates” (In the City Council and 
Ordered to 1st Printing 6/17/2024, Printed 6/21/2024) 

 
 APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 
 

11140 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Robert Swartz, to the 
position of Planning Board Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027. (In 
the City Council and Referred to the Appointments Committee 1/16/2024) 

 
11141 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Stephen Cormier, to the 

position of Planning Board Member, for term expiring January 4, 2027. (In 
the City Council and Referred to the Appointments Committee 1/16/2024) 

 
 11255 - A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Vincent Pusateri, to the 

position of Assistant City Solicitor, for term expiring January 1, 2025. (In the 
City Council and Referred to the Appointments Committee 4/16/2024) 

 
 11315 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Melory Cornett, to the 

position of Zoning Board Member, for term expiring June 12, 2026. (In the 
City Council and Referred to the Appointments Committee 6/17/2024) 

 
11316 – A Measure Confirming the Mayor’s Appointment of Laurie Wiita, to the 

position of Zoning Board Member, for term expiring June 12, 2027 (In the 
City Council and Referred to the Appointments Committee 6/17/2024) 

 
 
SAFETY COMMITTEE 

 
11115 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner Chapter 600, 

Entitled “Vehicles and Traffic”, Section 24, Entitled “Parking Prohibited on 
Certain Streets.” – Douglas Road. (In the City Council & Referred to Safety 
Committee 12/18/2023; More Time 1/2/2024, 1/16/2024, 2/5/2024, 2/20/2024, 
3/4/2024, 3/18/2024, 4/1/2024,4/16/2024, 5/6/2024, 5/20/2024, 6/3/2024, 
6/17/2024) 

 
 
 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 
11204 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner Chapter 600, 

Entitled “Vehicles and Traffic”, Section 24, Entitled “Parking Prohibited on 
Certain Streets” – Edgell Street, from Elm Street to Lawrence Street. (More 
Time 3/18/2024, 4/1/2024,4/16/2024, 5/6/2024, 5/20/2024, 06/3/2024, 
6/17/2024) 

 
11318 – An Application by GameStop, Inc. #3725 for a License to deal in Second-

hand Articles at 376 Timpany Blvd (In the City Council & Referred to Safety 
Committee 6/17/2024) 

 
11319 – An Application by Gardner Coins & Cards, Inc., for a License to deal in 

Second-hand Articles at 18 Parker Street (In the City Council & Referred to 
Safety Committee 6/17/2024) 

 
11320 – An Application by The Salvation Army – Family Store & Donation Center, 

for a License to deal in Second-hand Articles at 8 Union Street (In the City 
Council & Referred to Safety Committee 6/17/2024) 

 
11321 – An Application by House of Peace and Education, Inc., d/b/a HOPEful 

Boutique, for a License to Deal in Second Hand Articles at 29 Pleasant Street 
(In the City Council & Referred to Safety Committee 6/17/2024) 

 
 WELFARE COMMITTEE 
 

11211 – An Ordinance to Amend the Code of the City of Gardner, to add a new 
Chapter 15 to be entitled “Agricultural Commission.” (In the City Council 
and Referred to Welfare Committee 3/18/2024; More Time 4/1/2024, 
4/16/2024, 5/6/2024, 5/20/2024, 6/3/2024, 6/17/2024) 

 
XI.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS AND MATTERS FOR RECONSIDERATION 
 
XII. NEW BUSINESS 
 
XIII. COUNCIL COMMENTS AND REMARKS 
 
XIV. CLOSING PRAYER 
 
XV. ADJOURNMENT 
 
  
 

Items listed on the Council Calendar are those reasonably anticipated by the Council President to be discussed at the meeting.  Not all items listed 
may in fact be discussed and other items not listed may also be brought up for discussion to the extent permitted by law. 



11323



11323



11323



ORDERED – THAT 

WHEREAS, Baystate Racing, LLC (“Baystate”) proposes to locate and operate an Equine Center  
consistent with Massachusetts General Laws Chapters, 128, 128A, and 128C, as such licenses, 
permits and approvals may be issued by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts; and 

WHEREAS, Baystate anticipates that as a result of the Equine Center’s operation, the local 
economy will create additional business for local farms, restaurants and local businesses; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Baystate want to ensure any and all impacts to the City are compensated 
by way of a Host Community Agreement; and  

WHEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the Company and the City wish to enter into a 
Host Community Agreement.  

NOW THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED that the Honorable Mayor Michael J. Nicholson be hereby 
authorized for and on behalf of said City to execute and deliver any and all documents and take 
any and all acts necessary, convenient, and helpful to facilitate and execute the Agreement as 
attached or in form substantially similar thereto.  

11323



HOST COMMUNITY AGREEMENT 

FOR THE SITING OF A RACETRACK IN THE CITY OF GARDNER 

By and Between the City of Gardner, Massachusetts 
and 

Baystate Racing, LLC 

This Host Community Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of July   , 2024 (the 
“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Gardner, Massachusetts, acting by and through its 
Mayor, in reliance upon all of the representations made herein, a Massachusetts municipal 
corporation with a principal address of City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Gardner, MA 01440, (the 
“City” or “Gardner”), and Baystate Racing, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company, with 
a business address at Post Office Box 2311, Framingham, MA 01703 (“Baystate” and, collectively 
with the City, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 
WHEREAS, Baystate wishes to locate and operate an Equine Center providing for the 

breeding, housing, riding, showing, studying, treatment, training, retirement, and racing of horses 
and other equestrian- and agricultural-related uses, which also includes wagering on live and 
simulcast horse racing as authorized by Massachusetts General Laws 128A and 128C the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Equine Center”) at the former 117-acre Andrews Park (827 
Green Street in Gardner) (the “Site”) in accordance with and pursuant to Massachusetts General 
Laws Chapters, 128, 128A, and 128C, as such licenses, permits and approvals may be issued by 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”) in accordance with its laws and 
regulations and by the City in accordance with its Zoning Bylaws and other applicable local 
statutes, bylaws and regulations; and 

WHEREAS, Baystate anticipates that as a result of the Equine Center’s operation, the local 
economy will create additional business for local farms, restaurants and local businesses; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Baystate want to ensure ongoing collaboration and 
communication amongst the parties, Baystate will establish an Oversight Committee and agrees to 
report to the Mayor and Council before June 1 of each year on the operation of the Equine Center 
the year before and plans for operations for the year ahead, including the number of race days, 
non-racing operations, parking, marketing, and hiring of vendors and employees. 

WHEREAS, the City recognizes the development of the Equine Center at the Site will 
benefit the City and its citizens through increased economic development, additional employment 
opportunities for residents, bringing in an estimated $460,000 per year in new revenue and benefits 
when fully operational, and further that the Equine Center operation will enhance and protect the 
agricultural designation of the site, accordingly the City desires to support Baystate in the 
development of the Equine Center at the Site; and 

WHEREAS, Baystate recognizes that 3,093 residents of the City, according to the most 
recent U.S. Census reports, live at or below the poverty line and will work to employ and assist 
these individual and families as permitted by law to reduce the number of individuals and families 
below the poverty level in City; and 

11323



2 

WHEREAS, Baystate anticipates that as a result of the Equine Center’s operation, the City 
will incur additional expenses and impacts on the City’s roads and other infrastructure systems, 
law enforcement, fire protection services, inspectional services, permitting and consulting 
services, as well as unforeseen impacts, both quantifiable and unquantifiable on the City; and 
provided further that Baystate is committed to paying the cost of such expenses and impacts; and 

WHEREAS, Baystate intends to provide certain benefits to the City in the event that (a) 
the City issues applicable licenses, permits and approvals for the operation of the Equine Center, 
(b) Baystate or its affiliates receives all necessary licenses, permits and approvals from the
Massachusetts Gaming Commission to operate the live and simulcast horse racing with wagering;
and (c) Baystate or its affiliates receives all other necessary licenses, permits and approvals from
the Commonwealth and the City to construct and operate the Equine Center; and

WHEREAS, Baystate commits to never seek or apply for so-called casino or Class III 
gaming in the City of Gardner; and 

WHEREAS, Baystate stipulates that the Site is located in a zoning district that prohibits 
operating under a licensed issued pursuant to the Massachusetts Sports Wagering Act. G.L. c. 23N 
and 23K.  

WHEREAS, a majority of the registered voters of Worcester County voting on the question 
described in Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 128A, Section 14 regarding horse racing 
meetings, voted in the November general election in 1974 in the affirmative when said question 
was last submitted to them, and therefore Worcester County has authorized the licensing of horse 
racing therein at which the pari-mutuel system of betting shall be permitted; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council, after a public hearing held after seven days’ notice had been 
given by posting on the City website and publishing in Gardner News, has approved the location 
of a racetrack at the Site such that the Massachusetts Gaming Commission may issue a license for 
racing meetings at the Equine Center pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 128A, 
Section 13A. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set forth 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby are 
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Recitals
The above Recitals are true and accurate and are incorporated herein and made a part of

this Agreement. 
2. Payments to the City, Support of the City

In the event that Baystate or its affiliates obtains the requisite licenses and/or approvals as
may be required for the operation of the  Equine Center from the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission, and receives any and all other licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the 
construction and operation of the Equine Center from the Commonwealth and the City, and at the 
expiration of any final appeal period related thereto, such licenses, permits and approvals allow 
Baystate and its affiliates to locate, occupy and operate the Equine Center in the City, then Baystate 
agrees to provide the following “Annual Payments” each municipal fiscal year that it conducts live 
racing and so licensed to fully operate to the City (expected to commence July 1, 2025): 

A. Annual Community Impact Fee

11323



3 

Baystate anticipates that the City will incur additional expenses and impacts on the 
City’s road and other infrastructure systems, law enforcement, fire protection

11323



4  

services, inspectional services, and permitting and consulting services, as well as 
unforeseen impacts, both quantifiable and unquantifiable, on the City. Accordingly, 
in order to mitigate the financial impact on the City and use of City resources, 
Baystate agrees to pay an “Annual Community Impact Fee” to the City, in the 
amount and under the terms as follows: 
1. Baystate shall make monthly payments to the Commonwealth in the amount 

of one and one-half percent (1.5%) of simulcast revenue as provided for in 
Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 128C, Section 4. Said amount to be 
collected by the Commonwealth and paid to the City along with its local aid 
disbursements. It is estimated that said fee, when fully operational, will be 
approximately $240,000 per year. 

2. The City shall use the Annual Community Impact Fee as it deems 
appropriate in its sole discretion. 

B. Additional Costs, Payments and Reimbursements 
1. Initial Community Benefit Payment: Within thirty (30) days after receipt of 

all licenses and permits necessary to operate the Equine Center but in any 
event before undertaking any horse racing wagering operations, Baystate 
shall pay to the City an initial community benefit payment in the amount of 
Fifty thousand dollars ($50,000). 

2. Permit and Connection Fees: Baystate hereby acknowledges and accepts, 
and waives all rights to challenge, contest or appeal, the City’s building 
permit application fees and all other local charges and fees generally 
applicable to other commercial developments in the City and the PILOT 
payment except as provided for herein. 

3. Equine Center Consulting Fees and Costs: In addition to the Annual 
Community Impact Fee, Baystate shall reimburse the City for any and all 
reasonable consulting costs and fees related to any land use applications 
concerning the Equine Center, negotiation of this Agreement and any other 
related agreements, and any reviews concerning the Equine Center, 
including planning, engineering, legal and/or environmental professional 
consultants and any related reasonable disbursements at standard rates 
charged by the above-referenced consultants in relation to the Equine 
Center not otherwise covered by this agreement. 

4. Other Costs: Baystate shall reimburse the City for the actual costs incurred 
by the City in connection with holding public meetings and forums 
substantially devoted to discussing the Equine Center and/or reviewing the 
Equine Center and for any and all reasonable consulting costs and fees 
related to the monitoring and enforcement of the terms of this Agreement, 
including, but not limited to independent financial auditors and legal fees. 

5. Meals Tax Revenues: Baystate shall be responsible to collect and remit to 
the Commonwealth on behalf of the City any local meals taxes with respect 
to the Equine Center in accordance with applicable law. It is estimated that 
said tax will be approximately $10,000 per year from increased sales in local 
restaurants, food trucks and concessions.  

11323



5  

6. Motor Vehicle Excise Taxes: Baystate shall principally garage all vehicles 
owned by it or its affiliates and used in connection with the Equine Center 
in the City, so that excise taxes shall be paid to the City consistent with 
applicable law. 

7. Late Payment Penalty: Baystate acknowledges that time is of the essence 
with respect to its timely payment of all funds required under Section 2 of 
this Agreement. In the event that any such payments are not fully made with 
thirty (30) days of the date they are due, Baystate shall be required to pay the 
City a late payment penalty equal to five percent (5%) of such required 
payment. Baystate shall pay an additional penalty equal to five percent (5%) 
of the required payment to be made directly to City for each thirty days that 
accrues without full payment. 

8. Real & Personal Property Taxes: Baystate understands and accepts that its 
property will be assessed and taxed in accordance with state law and will 
pay all such tax bills in a timely fashion. Provided, however, that in lieu of 
said payment, Baystate shall, as a Payment In Lieu Of Taxes, be at least 
$230,000 per municipal fiscal year. 
This amount shall increase, after the first five years, each year thereafter by the 
percent increase to the real estate tax levy, not including new growth, up to two 
and one half (2.5%) percent per year.  
Every five (5) years the City may appraise the value of the property. After the 
appraisal the PILOT fee will be adjusted to the higher of either, 1) the new 
appraised amount multiplied by the then tax rate per $1,000.00 or 2) the amount 
as provided for herein. Should the product of the new appraisal multiplied by the 
tax rate per thousand be greater than the PILOT amount calculated pursuant to 
the terms of this agreement and if the applicant disagrees with the City’s 
appraisal, then Baystate shall obtain its own appraisal for the property. 
Thereafter, if the parties are unable to agree on the amount of the PILOT the 
appraiser for the City and the appraiser for the Baystate shall select a third 
appraiser, by mutual agreement, who shall resolve the dispute. 

C. Public Amenities 
The Baystate shall complete, as components of its project, a series of infrastructure and 
public improvements in connection with the project, including, without limitation: 

1. Community Events: Baystate shall work with the community to host at least 
one event per year at the Equine Center for the benefit of the community, 
such as fundraisers for local charities, athletic teams, and schools, and for 
celebration of community. 

2. Local Preference: Baystate shall develop a program for preferential access 
to at Festivals conducted at the Equine Center for Gardner residents. 

3. Education & Mentoring Program: Baystate shall work with local schools to 
develop an “Ag in the Classroom” program for students and a mentoring 
program to provide jobs for local graduates of agricultural schools. 

4. North Central Pathway: Baystate shall provide easy access from the trail to 
the Equine Center. 

11323



6  

5. Tree Replacement Program: Baystate shall cause 500 trees to be planted 
throughout Gardner consistent with a program approved by the Mayor.  

6. Infrastructure: Baystate shall be solely responsible for any necessary cost 
incurred in connection with improvements to the public works 
infrastructure of the public ways, water supply and city sewer system which 
are incurred in connection with developing the Equine Center and the 
operation of the equine Center on race days 

 
D. Annual Charitable/Non-Profit Contributions 

In addition to any funds specified herein, Baystate shall annually contribute to 
public local charities/non-profit organizations in the City, or a regional non-profit 
organization that directly benefits residents of the City, in an amount no less than 
twenty thousand dollars ($20,000), said charities/non-profit organizations to be 
determined by Baystate upon recommendation of the City in its reasonable 
discretion. The charitable/non-profit contribution shall be made annually beginning 

11323



7  

on the first anniversary following the Commencement of Operations at the 
Equine Center, and shall continue for the term of this Agreement. This 
amount shall increase after the first five years by an amount equal to one (1%) 
percent of the previous year’s payment each year thereafter.  

E. Commencement of Baystate Payments to City 
Not including one-time payments to the City, annual payments to the City shall 
commence in the fiscal year in which Baystate first conducts live racing in 
accordance with M.G.L. c. 128A at the Equine Center. For example, this is expected 
to occur on October of 2025, so annual payments to the City would commence in 
fiscal year commencing on July 1, 2025. 

3. Vehicular Access To and From the Project 
A. Traffic Plan & Improvements 

Baystate, as part of its project review by the Planning Board, at its sole expense shall 
study the local traffic impacts of the proposed project and present a plan to mitigate 
any such impacts to the City. Baystate shall fund and cause the permitting, design, and 
construction, in coordination with federal, state and municipal regulations, of any said 
improvements to the project as outlined in the foregoing plan. 

B. Transportation, Marketing & Parking Management Plans 
Baystate shall develop, in coordination with state and municipal officials, a 
transportation and parking management plan for all Race days at the Equine Center 
to ensure that impacts from said events are properly managed. Said plan will be 
formulated with the input of the police chief, fire chief, and planning board chair, and 
then presented to the Mayor for his approval at least thirty (30) days in advance of 
the first Race day and will be updated on an annual basis to both reaffirm the original 
plan and improve operations, as identified, and needed. 

C. Traffic Peer Reviewer 

If asked, Baystate will reimburse the City for the cost incurred in connection with 
hiring an independent traffic/transportation engineering consultant to review 
Baystate’s proposed transportation and parking plan, and provide commentary, 
recommendations, and general advice to the City during the review of the Traffic 
and Parking Plan. 

D. Setup, Removal & Cleanup 

Baystate shall, at its sole expense, pay for the setup, removal and cleanup of the site 
and surrounding area after each racing day. In addition, Baystate shall pay for all 
necessary police and fire details, DPW personnel, or other related municipal cost 
associated with the operations of the race day. Baystate shall commence setup of the 
site no sooner than seven days before the start of a race, shall cleanup the site and 
surrounding area within one day of the conclusion of a race, and shall remove all 
temporary facilities within seven days of the close of each race. 

4. Local Permit Review 
Baystate acknowledges that, in accordance with the City’s Zoning Bylaws, the operation 
of the Equine Center is subject to the issuance of a permit and or decision(s) by city agencies. 
Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall have the effect of binding or otherwise 

11323



8  

limiting the discretion of the local officials to conduct such reviews and impose such 
conditions as it deems appropriate in connection with its review of Baystate’s application 
for a permit and or a decision(s). Any permit, decision(s) or license required for the Equine 
Center and issued by any City board, committee, commission or official, including any 
amendments or changes to said City permits, decision(s) or licenses approved by any such 
board, committee, commission or official, shall be enforceable by the City consistent with 
any regulatory or administrative enforcement remedies that may be available to the City. 
Notwithstanding the Zoning Ordinance, the Applicant agrees to submit to the Planning 
Board for a site plan review including but not limited to the traffic plan. 

5. Operational Issues 
A. Limitation on Race Days 
Baystate agrees that no more than twenty (20) Race days shall be held at the Equine Center 
per calendar year. Further, Baystate agrees, prior to filing its annual application for a Racing 
Meeting License, to review the number of live race days it will request with the City. The 
parties recognize that the number of race days are subject to approval by the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission. 
Subject to the approval of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, over the next five 
years, Baystate shall seek approval to race only on the following number of weekends 
(days) each year: 

2025: One Weekend (three days) 
2026: Two Weekends (six days) 
2027: Two Weekends (six days) 
2028: Three Weekends (nine days) 
2029: Three Weekends (nine days) 

Baystate shall work with the City to select dates that minimize conflicts with other local 
events, subject to the approval of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. 

6. Treatment of Horses 
Baystate has emphasized the importance of the care and treatment of horses in connection 
with the Equine Center. To this end, Baystate shall establish and implement best in trade 
management practices to ensure the highest possible level of care, treatment and 
protection of horses kept, trained and/or raced at the Equine Center. Baystate shall 
establish a Racing Oversight Board, which shall be charged with establishing and 
ensuring compliance with these best in trade management practices. Baystate shall at 
least annually report to the City on the steps it has taken to ensure compliance with this 
provision. Baystate shall include one individual appointed by the Mayor of the City of 
Garnder on Baystate’s Racing Oversight Board. Upon request, the Racing Oversight 
Board or its chair shall attend a meeting of the Council to review and discuss Baystate’s 
compliance with this section. 

Baystate shall forthwith advise the City of the initiation of any investigation by the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) or any other state or federal regulatory body 
into the poor treatment of horses by Baystate or at the Equine Center and, upon 
completion of such investigation, shall forthwith advise the City of the results thereof. 

Baystate shall collect all horse manure, store it in a covered container or facility, and 
dispose of it off site.  In addition, Baystate shall strictly follow all related regulations.  

11323



9  

7. Responsible Gaming in Gardner 
Baystate recognizes that, while gaming is an enjoyable leisure and entertaining activity for 
most, there is a percentage of the population that cannot game responsibly. Therefore, 
Baystate will implement a “Responsible Gaming Plan” at the Equine Center on Race days, 
the goal of which shall be to ensure that those people who cannot game responsibly get the 
help they need. 
Baystate will accomplish the Responsible Gaming Plan goals by: (1) educating its 
employees and providing information to patrons about the odds of betting and how to make 
responsible gaming decisions; (2) promoting responsible gaming at Race day operations; 
(3) supporting public awareness of responsible gaming; and (4) prominently displaying and 
providing educational materials at the Equine Center on Race days to educate customers 
regarding the risk of problem gambling and available services to obtain treatment. 

8. Local Vendors and Employment 
Prior to the Commencement of Operations at the Site, Baystate shall organize and conduct 
two separate information sessions and job fairs for veterans and City residents, and shall 
publicize both events through local City website and newspapers, social media and by 
posting notice of the same at various locations in the City. Baystate shall also use good 
faith efforts to offer job skills assessments and provide guidance for interested persons to 
receive training to qualify for certain positions at the Equine Center. 
To the extent such practice and its implementation are consistent with federal, state, and 
local statutes, bylaws and regulations, Baystate will make every effort, in a legal and non- 
discriminatory manner, to give priority to local businesses, suppliers, contractors, builders 
and vendors in the provision of goods and services for the “non-initial” construction, 
maintenance and continued operation of the Equine Center when such contractors and 
suppliers are properly qualified and price competitive and shall use best faith efforts to hire 
City residents and utilize women-owned, minority-owned, and veteran-owned vendors 
within the City. Baystate also shall use best faith efforts to offer job skills assessments and 
provide guidance for interested persons to receive training to qualify for certain positions 
at the Equine Center. 

In addition to the information sessions and job fairs mentioned above, Baystate’s efforts 
shall include actively soliciting bids from vendors through local advertisements and direct 
contact, advertising any job expansion or hiring of new permanent full-time employees 
first to City residents a minimum of two (2) weeks before advertising through all typical 
regional employment advertising outlet coordination with the local Chamber of Commerce 
and such other reasonable measures as the City may from time to time request. 
Baystate’s annual report to the Mayor and City Council in accordance with Section 14 of 
this Agreement shall include information concerning the number of City residents 
employed at the Equine Center. 
In coordination with Gardner businesses, Baystate shall actively promote Gardner farms, 
restaurants, businesses and other attractions, both on its website and in prominent locations 
within the Equine Center. 

11323



10  

9. Local Taxes 
At all times during the term of this Agreement, property, both real and personal, owned, 
leased or operated by Baystate or its affiliates shall be treated as taxable, and all applicable 
real estate and personal property taxes for that property shall be paid either directly by 
Baystate or its affiliates and Baystate shall not object or otherwise challenge the taxability 
of such property with respect to such taxes. 

10. Security and Safety 
To the extent requested by the City’s Police Department, and subject to the requirements 
of state and local authorities, Baystate shall work with the City’s Police Department in 
reviewing and approving security plans prior to the Commencement of Operations, 
including determining the placement of security cameras. Unless prohibited by the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission or Massachusetts State Police, the City’s Police 
Department shall be given access to video feeds from all security cameras. 
Baystate agrees to cooperate with the City’s Police Department, including but not limited 
to periodic meetings to review operational concerns, security, cooperation in 
investigations, and communications with the City’s Police Department of any suspicious 
activities at or in the immediate vicinity of the Equine Center. 
Baystate shall pay for police and fire details to staff Race days as deemed appropriate by 
the Fire Chief and Police Chief. The Equine Center shall be open to the Police Department 
for inspection at any time, with or without notice. 
Baystate agrees and acknowledges that annual inspections of the Equine Center by the 
City’s Police Department, Fire Department, Building Department and Board of Health 
shall be a condition of continued operation in City and agrees to cooperate with the City’s 
Police Department, Fire Department, Building Department and Board of Health in 
providing access for scheduled inspections of the Equine Center. 

11. Nature of Baystate’s Obligations 
The obligations of Baystate set forth in this Agreement are specifically contingent upon (a) 
Baystate or its affiliates receiving all necessary licenses, permits and approvals from the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission to operate the live and simulcast horse racing with 
wagering aspects of the Equine Center; and (b) Baystate or its affiliates receiving all other 
necessary licenses, permits and approvals from the Commonwealth and the City to 
construct and operate the Equine Center. If, for any reason, Baystate and its affiliates have 
not received all such local and state licenses, permits and approvals necessary to construct 
and operate said Equine Center within 48 months after the date of this Agreement, not 
including months with an intervening force majure event, then either party may, in its sole 
discretion, upon notice to the other, terminate this Agreement, whereupon neither the City 
nor Baystate shall have any further obligations or liabilities hereunder, provided, however, 
that Baystate shall be required to pay any consulting or other costs incurred by the City 
prior to such notice in connection with the Equine Center. If Baystate does so terminate 
this Agreement, then the City shall not be responsible for the return of any funds provided 
to it by Baystate. 
This Agreement does not affect, limit, or control the authority of City boards, commissions, 
and departments to carry out their respective powers and duties to decide upon and to issue, 

11323



11  

or deny, applicable licenses, permits and other approvals under the statutes and regulations 
of the Commonwealth, the General Bylaws and Zoning Bylaws of the City, or applicable 
regulations of those boards, commissions, and departments or to enforce said statutes, 
bylaws and regulations. The City, by entering into this Agreement, is not hereby required 
or obligated to issue such licenses, permits and approvals as may be necessary for the 
Equine Center to operate in the City, or to refrain from enforcement action against Baystate 
and/or the Equine Center for violation of the terms of said licenses, permits and approvals 
or said statutes, bylaws, and regulations. 

12. Support 
The City agrees to support the adoption of the requisite licenses, permits and approvals for 
the operation of the Equine Center. The City further agrees to submit to the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission, or such other state licensing, registering or monitoring authority, as 
the case may be, the required certifications relating to Baystate’s (or its affiliate’s) 
application for a license or certificate of registration to operate the Equine Center where 
such compliance has been properly met, but makes no representation or promise that it will 
act on any other license, permit or approval request, including, but not limited to any zoning 
application submitted for the Equine Center, in any particular way other than by the City’s 
normal and regular course of conduct and in accordance with its rules and regulations and 
any statutory guidelines governing them. 

13. Term 
Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement shall take effect on the date set forth 
above, and shall be applicable for as long as Baystate, its affiliates, their successors or their 
assigns operates the Equine Center at the Site and is licensed by the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission to operate the live and simulcast horse racing with wagering aspects of the 
Equine Center. 

14. Annual Reporting 
Baystate shall file an annual written report with the City Council each year, on or before 
June 1, for the purpose of reporting on compliance with each of the terms of this Agreement 
during the preceding calendar year and shall, at the request of the City Council, appear at 
a regularly or specially scheduled meeting to discuss such annual report. 

15. Successors/Assigns 
This Agreement is binding upon the Parties hereto, their successors, assigns and legal 
representatives. Baystate shall not transfer or assign its rights or obligations under this 
Agreement without prior written authorization of the City, which will not unreasonably be 
withheld, delayed or conditioned. Baystate shall provide the City with information relating 
to any such successor in advance of any such transaction, including any information 
required by the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. Any assignee of or successor in 
interest to Baystate shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement to the fullest extent 
allowed by law. The provisions of this paragraph shall also apply to any transfer, sale or 
conveyance of Baystate of a controlling interest therein. The City may consider a 
prospective owner’s documented violations by regulators owing to its failing to protect the 
health and wellbeing of horses and financial condition when considering to give its 
approval. 

11323



12  

16. Notices 
Any and all notices, consents, demands, requests, approvals or other communications 
required or permitted under this Agreement, shall be in writing and delivered by hand or 
by other reputable delivery service, and shall be deemed given when so delivered. 
To City: Mayor, City of Gardner 

City Hall 
95 Pleasant Street 
Gardner, MA 01440 

Copy to: 

 
To Baystate: Brian Falk 

Mirick, O'Connell, DeMallie & Lougee, LLP 
1800 West Park Drive, Suite 400 
Westborough, MA 01581-3926 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
17. Severability 

Copy to: 
John Stefanini 
Baystate Racing, llc 
Post Office Box 2311 
Framingham, MA 01703 

If any term or condition of this Agreement or any application thereof shall to any extent be 
held invalid, illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the validity, 
legality, and enforceability of the remaining terms and conditions of this Agreement shall 
not be deemed affected thereby unless the City or Baystate would be substantially or 
materially prejudiced. Further, Baystate agrees that it will not challenge, in any 
jurisdiction, the enforceability of any provision included in this Agreement; and to the 
extent the validity of this Agreement is challenged by Baystate in a court of competent 
jurisdiction, Baystate shall pay for all reasonable fees and costs incurred by the City in 
enforcing this Agreement. 

18. Governing Law 
This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and enforced in accordance with the laws 
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and the Parties submit to the jurisdiction of any 
of its appropriate courts for the adjudication of disputes arising out of this Agreement. 

11323



13  

19. Indemnification 
Excluding any Claims (as herein defined) caused by the gross negligence or intentional 
misconduct of the City, Baystate shall indemnify, defend, and hold the City harmless from 
and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, actions, causes of actions, defenses, 
proceedings, subpoenas, document requests and/or costs and expenses, including 
attorney’s fees (collectively, the “Claims”), brought against or initiated as to the City, its 
agents, departments, officials, employees, insurers and/or successors, by any party, 
including any private or public entity, arising from or relating to the Equine Center. Such 
indemnification shall include, but shall not be limited to, all reasonable fees and reasonable 
costs of attorneys and consultants of the City’s choosing incurred in defending or 
responding to such Claims. Baystate agrees, within thirty (30) days of written notice by the 
City, to reimburse the City for any and all costs and fees incurred in defending itself from 
or responding to such Claims. To the extent that any of the City’s insurance policies 
provide coverage for any Claim to which indemnity is being sought hereunder alleging 
negligence or intentional misconduct of the City, the City shall first submit the Claim to its 
insurance carrier before seeking indemnity from Baystate, and Baystate shall only be 
required to indemnify the City to the extent there is no coverage or insufficient coverage. 

20. Entire Agreement 
This Agreement, including all documents incorporated herein by reference, constitutes the 
entire integrated agreement between Baystate and the City with respect to the matters 
described herein. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations and 
representations, either written or oral, and it shall not be modified or amended except by a 
written document executed by the Parties hereto. 

21. Amendments/Waiver 
The failure of any party to exercise any right under this Agreement shall not, unless 
otherwise provided or agreed to in writing, be deemed a waiver thereof; nor shall a waiver 
by any party of any provisions hereof be deemed a waiver of any future compliance 
therewith, and such provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

22. Headings 
The article, section, and/or paragraph headings in this Agreement are for convenience of 
reference only, and shall in no way affect, modify, define or be used in interpreting the text 
of this Agreement. Where the context requires, all singular words in the Agreement shall 
be construed to include their plural and all words of neuter gender shall be construed to 
include the masculine and feminine forms of such words. 

23. Counterparts 
This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts all of which taken together, 
shall constitute one and the same instrument, and any party hereto may execute this 
Agreement by signing one or more counterparts. 

24. Signatures 
Each party hereto, and their respective successors and assigns agree that the execution of 
this Agreement by electronic means (including by use of DocuSign (or similar) and/or by 
use of digital signatures) and/or the delivery of an executed copy of this Agreement by e- 

11323



14  

mail shall be legal and binding and shall have the same full force and effect as if an original 
executed copy of this Agreement had been delivered. 

25. No Joint Venture 
The Parties hereto agree that nothing contained in this Agreement or any other documents 
executed in connection herewith is intended or shall be construed to establish the City and 
Baystate, or the City and any other successor, affiliate or corporate entity as joint ventures 
or partners. 

26. Nullity 
This Agreement shall be null and void in the event that Baystate does not construct the 
Equine Center in the City or relocates the Equine Center out of the City. Further, in the 
case of any relocation out of the City, Baystate agrees that an adjustment of annual 
Payments due to the City hereunder shall be calculated based upon the period of occupation 
of the Equine Center within the City, but in no event shall the City be responsible for the 
return of any funds provided to it by Baystate. 

27. Third-Parties 
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with or a cause 
of action in favor of a third party against either the City or Baystate. 

28. Representation of Authority 
Each person signing this Agreement hereby represents and warrants that he or she has the 
full authority and is duly authorized and empowered to execute this Agreement on behalf 
of the party for which he or she signs. 

29. Force Majeure 
Baystate shall not be considered to be in default in the performance of its obligations under 
this Agreement to the extent that performance of any such obligation is prevented or 
delayed by a “Force Majeure Event” (as defined below). If Baystate is prevented or delayed 
in the performance of any such obligation by a Force Majeure Event, it shall provide 
reasonable notice to the City of the circumstances preventing or delaying performance and 
the expected duration thereof, if known. For the purposes of this Agreement, a “Force 
Majeure Event” is any circumstance not within the reasonable control, directly or 
indirectly, of the Party affected and includes, but is not limited to, the following: strikes or 
other significant labor disputes; significant supply shortages; pandemics, adverse weather 
conditions and other acts of nature; acts of God, fire, other substantial property damage or 
any condition that prevents or significantly interferes with the operations of the Equine 
Center; significant subsurface conditions; riot or civil unrest; the forced closure of all 
gaming establishments by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts or the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission; and actions or failures to act of any governmental authority or 
agency. A Force Majeure Event may justify delay of performance of one or more payment 
obligations hereunder but shall not justify excusal of performance. 

11323



15  

30. Enforcement. 
It is expressly understood and agreed, by and between Baystate and City, that if Baystate 
shall neglect, fail or refuse to substantially comply with any nonpayment term herein, then 
Baystate does hereby agree, as a part of consideration for the City’s execution of this 
Agreement, after 30 days written notice from the City Council specifying in detail said lack 
of substantial compliance and the resolution sought by City, and if after another 30 days 
written notice outlining reasons for the continued lack of substantial compliance and a 
public hearing by the City Council, then to pay to the City one thousand dollars ($1,000) 
per day per violation, not as a penalty but as liquidated damages for such breach of contract, 
for each and every calendar day that Baystate shall be in default after receipt of the initial 
notice of such default from the City. The said amount is fixed and agreed upon by and 
between Baystate and the City because of the impracticability of fixing and ascertaining 
the actual damages the City would in such event sustain, and said amount is agreed to be 
the amount of damages which the City would sustain and said amount shall be deducted 
by the City from periodic payments. Nothing herein shall limit the City’s ability to pursue 
injunctive relief, specific performance or any other remedy available at law or in equity. 

 
{ INTENTIONALLY BLANK} 

11323



16  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement under seal on 
the day and year first written above. 
CITY OF GARDNER BAYSTATE RACING LLC 

 
 
 

 

By: Michael J. Nicholson 
Title: Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 

True Copy attested by 

 

By: Sagi Genger 
Title: Manager 

 
 

 
 

By: Titi Siriphan 
Title: City Clerk 

11323



From: John Stefanini
To: Elizabeth Doiron; Elizabeth Doiron
Cc: Mayor; Vincent Pusateri II
Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: Material for next City Council meeting
Date: Thursday, June 27, 2024 11:52:40 AM
Attachments: BSR 827 Green Street Traffic Study.pdf

BSR 827 Green Street Wetlands Memo.pdf
BSR City Council 27 June 24.pdf

CAUTION: This email originated from a sender outside of the City of Gardner mail system.
Do not click on links or open attachments unless you verify the sender and know the content is
safe.

From: John Stefanini <stefanini143@gmail.com>
Date: Thursday, June 27, 2024 at 11:47 AM
To: tsiriphan@gardner-ma.gov <tsiriphan@gardner-ma.gov>
Cc: Mayor <mayor@gardner-ma.gov>, Vincent Pusateri II <vpusateri@pusaterilaw.com>
Subject: Material for next City Council meeting

Good morning.

On behalf of Baystate Racing llc, please accept the attached correspondence for the next City
Council meeting. As always, please contact me with any questions or comments.

Thank you.

John

11317

mailto:stefanini143@gmail.com
mailto:edoiron@gardner-ma.gov
mailto:edoiron@gardner-ma.gov
mailto:Mayor@gardner-ma.gov
mailto:vpusateri@pusaterilaw.com



 


Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
260 Arsenal Place #2, Watertown, Massachusetts 02472 
P  617.924.1770 F  617.924.2286 www.vhb.com   


To: Mr. John Stefanini Date: May 9, 2024 
 


Project #: 16012.00 


    
From: Robert Nagi, PE 


Director Transportation Planning and 
Operations 


Re: Preliminary Gardner Equestrian Traffic Assessment 


VHB has prepared this technical memorandum to outline transportation elements of the proposed equestrian facility 
located along Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts.  The purpose of this memorandum is to both review the current 
traffic volumes in the vicinity of the Project site and to conceptually outline how the project will function during both 
the normal ‘day-to-day’ operations as well as during their Special Event days. 


Current Traffic Operations 
The site is currently serviced via an existing driveway along Route 140.  Along the entire frontage of the site, 
Route 140 is under the jurisdiction of the City of Gardner.  Immediately to the southeast, Route 140 is under the 
jurisdiction of MassDOT (including its intersection with Green Street approximately 300 feet south of the site’s current 
driveway). 


According to MassDOT, Route 140 just south of 
the Project site carries approximately 11,200 
vehicles per day with about 1,000 vehicles during 
the peak commuter hours.  Weekend traffic is 
slightly lighter with about 10,000 daily trips, but 
the peaks are not as significant.   


Similarly, Green Street south of the site carries 
approximately 5,100 vehicles per day with about 
400-500+/- vehicles/hour during the commuter 
peak periods.  


The intersection of Green Street at Route 140 
operates well during the commuter peak periods 
with some delays for side street turning traffic. 
According to MassDOT, there are no notable 
safety issues within the vicinity of the Project site. 


Daily Facility Operations 
During normal operations, the facility will provide 
typical equestrian activities (maintenance, training) of which many of those activities would take place during off-peak 
periods (mostly on weekends and during the middle of the day on weekdays) with only limited full time staff arriving 
and departing from the site during typical commuter peak hours.  As currently envisioned, access to and from the site 
would be provided via the existing driveway along Route 140 which will be reviewed during the site plan development 
to assure it is designed to accommodate a safe and efficient operation.  


Figure 1 - Route 140 Weekday Daily Traffic Volume 15-minute increments 
(Source: MassDOT TCDS portal) 







Mr. John Stefanini 
Ref:  16012.00 
May 9, 2024 
Page 2 
 
 
Traffic Impacts 


As noted above, the general day to day operations of the equestrian operations do not generate any significant 
volume of peak hour traffic – with ranges of about 20-40 employees arriving and departing during these time periods. 
Over the course of the day, the site would typically see anywhere from 250-350 daily trips arriving/departing the site 
spread out over the typical daylight hours. These are made up of employees arriving and departing from the facility, 
deliveries, and visitors to the facility.  This would equate to about 2-3 percent additional traffic being added to the 
Route 140 corridor. 


Special Event Operations 


Assuming that the project will host some number of special event days throughout the year (of which the frequency 
and number of visitors will be determined through discussions with the City), VHB considered that the majority of 
visitors arriving to the site would likely do so to the Gardner area via Route 2, with some smaller volume of traffic 
arriving from the north via Route 140.  


As is typical with these types of special events, guests will arrive at the site over the course of several hours depending 
on the schedule of events to take place at the facility.  In most cases, there is a surge of visitors who depart the site 
within the hour of the conclusion of the schedule of events.   


For example, a special event that hosts between 3,000 and 5,000 visitors would typically see about 1,000 to 1,600 
vehicles arrive over a two- to four-hour window and depart within an hour of the event conclusion.  Arriving traffic 
during the busiest period would represent about 50 percent of the arriving vehicles (~500-800 cars/hour).  As noted, 
the peak hour of the Route 140 corridor sees about 1,000 vehicles per hour with limited congestion near the project 
site observed – so the volumes are consistent with what the corridor currently carries during the weekday. 


In order to address the impact of these surges in traffic associated with the special events, VHB typically works with 
the City, MassDOT, police (local and state), and other stakeholders to develop a detailed traffic management plan that 
is developed cooperatively based on the collective experiences of the stakeholders and VHB.  This plan is then 
presented to the City in advance of the event for discussion and implementation.  Following the first events, VHB and 
stakeholders would review what worked well with the TMP and where adjustments could be made to improve the 
overall experience (which would be integrated into the next TMP for future events).  


Elements of the plan will include, but are not limited to, the following: 


• Pre- and post-event staging (deliveries, set up, and break down), 


• Event timing (to coincide with off-peak commuter traffic), 


• Parking management (guests, VIPs, and participants), 


• Shuttle bus routes (to remote parking areas),  


• Signage and wayfinding, 


• Temporary intersection control (police details and signage), 


• Media and digital content outreach, and 


• Identification of police/medical emergency access/egress 








Wetland Permitting Process – 827 Green Street 
Map/Parcel: R42-21-1 


Informational Letter | Page 1 
 
 
June 24, 2024 
 
Re:  Wetland Permitting Process  
  827 Green Street (Map/Parcel: R42-21-1) 
  Gardner, Massachusetts, 01440 
  
To Whom it May Concern, 
  
On behalf of Baystate Racing LLC (the Applicant), Goddard Consulting, LLC (Goddard) is pleased to provide this 
informational narrative surrounding the proposed project involving the construction of a horse racing track located 
at 827 Green Street in Gardner, MA (the Project Site). This narrative is intended to provide additional details 
pertaining to the wetlands permitting process, the work performed to date, and the level of review and project 
minimization required to meet the performance standards for work adjacent to wetland resource areas.  
 
The proposed project site is located at 827 Green Street in Gardner, MA (Map/Parcel: R42-21-1). The site has been 
in a similar agricultural use to the present for over 100 years. The site is currently known for the Carl E. Dahl House, 
a therapeutic farming community that tends to the existing livestock.  The goal of the newly proposed project is to 
remain in line with the historic uses of the site, keeping the area as an agricultural community.  Outside of race 
weekends, the census of horses on-site is anticipated to be similar to the present day. Although in early, design level 
phases, the project is anticipated to consist of a one-mile looped racing track, associated stadium seating, pedestrian 
walking paths, pastures, and limited on-site parking.  As race weekends are scheduled only a few weekends out of the 
year, the majority of event parking will be utilized off-site in order to remediate traffic concerns on-site. The remainder 
of structures used on race weekends (paddocks, tents, barns, offices) will be temporary in nature, intended to be set 
up and broken down following scheduled race weekends. 
 
1.0 THE WETLANDS PERMITTING PROCESS 
 
1.1 GENERAL OVERVIEW 
 


The wetlands permitting process is an iterative and detailed process, reviewed by the Massachusetts Department of 
Environmental Protection, and the City of Gardner Conservation Commission.  The wetlands permitting process 
begins following a review of the intended project through the city council.  When the project, at a large scale, receives 
an authorization to proceed with the design, proposals, and permitting processes, the wetlands permitting phase 
begins swiftly, as the strict land use performance standards for proposed work adjacent to wetland resource areas are 
frequently the most limiting factors on project design and layout. 
 
The wetlands permitting process begins with a wetland delineation conducted for the site by a qualified wetland 
scientist to define the resource areas within the property.  The wetland scientist delineates all wetland resource areas 
within the project limits, guiding the landowners and applicants through the performance standards associated with 
each. Goddard Consulting LLC, the wetland scientist team for the proposed project at 827 Green Street, conducted 
a full wetland delineation of the site, culminating at the end of May 2024. The wetland delineation is included in a full 
site survey, currently underway in June of 2024, that will produce the final proposed site plan used for all site permits.  
All concept plans shown to date have been utilizing approximate wetland data from the site delineation and are an 
excellent representation of the resource areas that will affect the project for planning purposes. 
 
After the proposed project at 827 Green Street in Gardner, MA receives an authorization to proceed from city council, 
the wetland delineation and site survey will be utilized to lay out a final proposed design that meets all regulatory 







Wetland Permitting Process – 827 Green Street 
Map/Parcel: R42-21-1 


Informational Letter |Page 2 
 


 


compliance under the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act and the City of Gardner Wetlands Protection 
Ordinance, at the assistance of the project wetland scientists, engineers, and architects. Once a design of the proposed 
project is finalized, a Notice of Intent will be filed with the Gardner Conservation Commission and the Massachusetts 
Department of Environmental Protection. Under the Notice of Intent procedure, the project team will be required 
to evaluate all alternatives for the site to determine the least impactful alternative for the project. The project will be 
analyzed under both the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act and the City of Gardner Wetlands Protection 
Ordinance for compliance with all performance standards set at the state and local level. The Massachusetts Wetlands 
Protection Act (310 CMR 10.00) serves at the state level to define the various wetland resource areas and outline 
applicable performance standards for each.  The City of Gardner Wetlands Protection Ordinance [Chapter 650] 
further expands upon the provisions of the Wetlands Protection Act by defining and maintaining additional 
performance standards not set at the state level. These may include, but are not limited to, the jurisdiction over 
additional types of resource areas, and the permissible setbacks for limits of work and structures from wetland 
resource areas. 
 
Under a submitted Notice of Intent, all aspects of the proposed project will be reviewed for compliance with the 
aforementioned state and local regulations.  The Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection does not 
issue the project a file number until the project meets all criteria outlined at the state level.  Once a final number is 
issued by the state, the review at the local level will continue until the Gardner Conservation Commission deems 
that the project has met all additional performance standards outlined under the local bylaw. As a full wetland 
delineation has been completed for the site, the applicant team is in the process of mapping out the locations of all 
wetland resource areas on the property.  The project will be bound to review standards for Bordering Vegetated 
Wetlands, Intermittent Streams, Perennial Streams, and Bordering Land Subject to Flooding (BLSF). All aspects of 
the project will be reviewed for compliance, including but not limited to, the limits of work from said resource 
areas, total areas of clearing required, the design of any stream crossings, and the site’s stormwater management 
design.  In addition, the site is mapped within an Outstanding Resource Waters (ORW) Area, meaning that the area 
is an important recharge area for a public water supply.  The project will be required to adhere to strict stormwater 
management standards to ensure the protection of surface water quality.  Such a designation presents opportunities 
for site improvement.  For example, the site is currently in agricultural use, with a similar census of horses at present 
day compared to the proposed conditions.  A new project set forth on-site will present the opportunity to improve 
manure management, stormwater runoff, and water treatment than current conditions allow. Both the 
Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act and the City of Gardner Wetlands Protection Ordinance require 
minimization and avoidance, where all alternatives for the site will be reviewed, ensuring the project as proposed 
reflects the least impactful and most beneficial alternative to the site. 
 
As the project wetland scientist, Goddard has performed the entirety of the site’s wetland delineation and will provide 
assistance in the design of a final project layout.  Based on the preliminary findings of the wetland delineation, it is 
the opinion of Goddard that the available land area presents the ability to achieve the project’s goal through 
minimization practices, while providing net benefits to the property as a whole.  
 
Please do not hesitate to reach out to us with questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Goddard Consulting, LLC 


 
Andrew Thibault, WPIT, WSA 
Environmental Scientist








 


Post Office Box 2311 | Framingham, MA | 01703 | baystateracingllc.com 


DELIVERY VIA EMAIL 
 
June 27, 2024 
 
Council President Elizabeth Kazinskas 
City of Gardner 
City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Room 121 
Gardner, Massachusetts 01440 
 
Dear Madam President and Honorable Councilors:  
 
On behalf of Baystate Racing, LLC., thank you for receiving our application at the last City Council meeting. We 
are very excited to become part of the Gardner community. The hundreds of horse owners, breeders, and farmers 
from around Massachusetts are hopeful for a new place where they can bring their passion and love of horses in 
furtherance of the Commonwealth’s policy to rejuvenate and grow the equine industry.  
 
In response to the Council request for additional information, please see the attached for background information on 
traffic and attendance, and wetlands; we are currently finalizing the purchase of sale agreement and will submit an 
executed copy to you before our meeting. We respectfully request an opportunity to present to the Council in an 
informal session to answer any additional questions.  
 
We are only at the beginning of the process. It is important to note that the Conservation Commission will play a 
role in approving this project. Our project will improve the storm water management, and environmental 
protections on the site. Only after the Council’s approves the use will we be able to meet with them and continue 
our review. Also, we will go to the Planning Board to conduct and review a comprehensive traffic study for the site. 
The initial analysis is that Route 140 is capable for handling our peak traffic flow. Baystate will pay the City’s cost 
for peer review. And annually, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission will convene a hearing in Gardner for the 
project. The Council’s approval is necessary for us to take the next steps. This is a highly reviewed and regulated 
project by numerous state and local boards and commissions, including input from the City.  
 
Our proposal continues what has occurred on the site for the last 150 years. We understand people are focused on 
the racetrack part of the proposal. Races will occur no more than 20 days in a year. Wagering only takes place on 
festival race days, and no other wagering, including sports betting, will occur on the site. We will not make money 
on the few festival race days, but the racing is critical for the horse owners as the state releases purse money to 
support the farms and horse care. We, along with the City of Gardner, will make money on the simulcasting of 
races around the country that people in Massachusetts watch and wager on their cellphones all over the 
Commonwealth.  
 
Currently, there aren’t enough horses to race, which is why the other parts of the park are critical. The breeding, 
training and retirement activities are the majority of what will occur on this site. Each plays a key role in supporting 
the horse farms throughout the Commonwealth.  
 
Family farms are disappearing at a fast pace. Massachusetts is focused on preserving agriculture. Baystate Park will 
allow horse owners to breed Massachusetts-bred horses instead of having to go to another state. It will encourage 
the growth of more local hay, instead of going to Canada. Jobs and internships for local students will bring in a new 
generation of horse enthusiasts and farmers. The retirement program gives thoroughbred horses a chance at a 
“second career” in therapeutic riding, and other activities.  







Post Office Box 2311 | Framingham, MA | 01703 | baystateracingllc.com 


 
This is a way of life – in many cases for generations – for many hardworking people, and Gardner provides them 
with a lifeline.  
 
What you see today from Route 140 is what you will see as Bay State Park. We will renovate the existing barns and 
house, and construct a gazabo and pads for food trucks will be added to the site. The grandstands for the track will 
be built into a hill, as a natural seating.  
 
Bay State Park’s focus is on the horses. We have the support of the New England Horsemen’s Benevolent 
Association and the Massachusetts Breeders Association. Horse racing is highly regulated in Massachusetts and 
around the country. The Massachusetts Gaming Commission and its Horse Racing Committee will inspect the park 
every year and can inspect it at any time. Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority was established in July 2022 
by the federal government to bring uniform regulations for the safety and wellbeing of the horses. We will have the 
highest level of care for horses from birth to second career and retirement.  
 
If the site was taxed at its current assessment, it would generate $15,231.34. In our Host Community Agreement, 
we will pay $230,000 just in property taxes alone. Bay State Park will generate new economic activity for Gardner. 
Visitors to the city will stay in local accommodations, eat at local restaurants and shop in stores. Additionally, we 
will bring in local restaurants to cater and provide food and beverages during festivals. This will be a game changer 
to many local small businesses.  
 
As for our proposed partnership with GAAHMA, we are very supportive of their nationally recognized work and 
the importance of mental health programs for those with substance use disorder. Our horses and programs will be 
there for their clients to work at the facility. We are there to support them. We also pledge to donate $20,000 yearly 
to local charities to support their work in Gardner and the region.  
 
We will be good neighbors for Gardner. We want to hear from you and your neighbors on how we can make Bay 
State Park work for Gardner. For example, if there is a concern about parking on a local street, then we put 
measures in place ensuring only neighbors can get down their street. There is a lot of creative ideas we can do to 
address concerns.  
 
We look forward to working with you, your colleagues, and partners in government in the months ahead.  
 
Sincerely,  
 
John A. Stefanini 
 
Attachments 
 
CC:  Mayor Michael J. Nicholson 
 City Clerk Titi Siriphan 
 Assitant City Solicitor Vincent Pusateri, II 







Post Office Box 2311 | Framingham, MA | 01703 | baystateracingllc.com 

DELIVERY VIA EMAIL 

June 27, 2024 

Council President Elizabeth Kazinskas 
City of Gardner 
City Hall, 95 Pleasant Street, Room 121 
Gardner, Massachusetts 01440 

Dear Madam President and Honorable Councilors: 

On behalf of Baystate Racing, LLC., thank you for receiving our application at the last City Council meeting. We 
are very excited to become part of the Gardner community. The hundreds of horse owners, breeders, and farmers 
from around Massachusetts are hopeful for a new place where they can bring their passion and love of horses in 
furtherance of the Commonwealth’s policy to rejuvenate and grow the equine industry.  

In response to the Council request for additional information, please see the attached for background information on 
traffic and attendance, and wetlands; we are currently finalizing the purchase of sale agreement and will submit an 
executed copy to you before our meeting. We respectfully request an opportunity to present to the Council in an 
informal session to answer any additional questions.  

We are only at the beginning of the process. It is important to note that the Conservation Commission will play a 
role in approving this project. Our project will improve the storm water management, and environmental 
protections on the site. Only after the Council’s approves the use will we be able to meet with them and continue 
our review. Also, we will go to the Planning Board to conduct and review a comprehensive traffic study for the site. 
The initial analysis is that Route 140 is capable for handling our peak traffic flow. Baystate will pay the City’s cost 
for peer review. And annually, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission will convene a hearing in Gardner for the 
project. The Council’s approval is necessary for us to take the next steps. This is a highly reviewed and regulated 
project by numerous state and local boards and commissions, including input from the City.  

Our proposal continues what has occurred on the site for the last 150 years. We understand people are focused on 
the racetrack part of the proposal. Races will occur no more than 20 days in a year. Wagering only takes place on 
festival race days, and no other wagering, including sports betting, will occur on the site. We will not make money 
on the few festival race days, but the racing is critical for the horse owners as the state releases purse money to 
support the farms and horse care. We, along with the City of Gardner, will make money on the simulcasting of 
races around the country that people in Massachusetts watch and wager on their cellphones all over the 
Commonwealth.  

Currently, there aren’t enough horses to race, which is why the other parts of the park are critical. The breeding, 
training and retirement activities are the majority of what will occur on this site. Each plays a key role in supporting 
the horse farms throughout the Commonwealth.  

Family farms are disappearing at a fast pace. Massachusetts is focused on preserving agriculture. Baystate Park will 
allow horse owners to breed Massachusetts-bred horses instead of having to go to another state. It will encourage 
the growth of more local hay, instead of going to Canada. Jobs and internships for local students will bring in a new 
generation of horse enthusiasts and farmers. The retirement program gives thoroughbred horses a chance at a 
“second career” in therapeutic riding, and other activities.  

11317



Post Office Box 2311 | Framingham, MA | 01703 | baystateracingllc.com 

This is a way of life – in many cases for generations – for many hardworking people, and Gardner provides them 
with a lifeline.  

What you see today from Route 140 is what you will see as Bay State Park. We will renovate the existing barns and 
house, and construct a gazabo and pads for food trucks will be added to the site. The grandstands for the track will 
be built into a hill, as a natural seating.  

Bay State Park’s focus is on the horses. We have the support of the New England Horsemen’s Benevolent 
Association and the Massachusetts Breeders Association. Horse racing is highly regulated in Massachusetts and 
around the country. The Massachusetts Gaming Commission and its Horse Racing Committee will inspect the park 
every year and can inspect it at any time. Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority was established in July 2022 
by the federal government to bring uniform regulations for the safety and wellbeing of the horses. We will have the 
highest level of care for horses from birth to second career and retirement.  

If the site was taxed at its current assessment, it would generate $15,231.34. In our Host Community Agreement, 
we will pay $230,000 just in property taxes alone. Bay State Park will generate new economic activity for Gardner. 
Visitors to the city will stay in local accommodations, eat at local restaurants and shop in stores. Additionally, we 
will bring in local restaurants to cater and provide food and beverages during festivals. This will be a game changer 
to many local small businesses.  

As for our proposed partnership with GAAHMA, we are very supportive of their nationally recognized work and 
the importance of mental health programs for those with substance use disorder. Our horses and programs will be 
there for their clients to work at the facility. We are there to support them. We also pledge to donate $20,000 yearly 
to local charities to support their work in Gardner and the region.  

We will be good neighbors for Gardner. We want to hear from you and your neighbors on how we can make Bay 
State Park work for Gardner. For example, if there is a concern about parking on a local street, then we put 
measures in place ensuring only neighbors can get down their street. There is a lot of creative ideas we can do to 
address concerns.  

We look forward to working with you, your colleagues, and partners in government in the months ahead. 

Sincerely,  

John A. Stefanini 

Attachments 

CC:  Mayor Michael J. Nicholson 
City Clerk Titi Siriphan 
Assitant City Solicitor Vincent Pusateri, II 

11317



Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
260 Arsenal Place #2, Watertown, Massachusetts 02472 
P  617.924.1770 F  617.924.2286 www.vhb.com 

To: Mr. John Stefanini Date: May 9, 2024 

Project #: 16012.00 

From: Robert Nagi, PE 
Director Transportation Planning and 
Operations 

Re: Preliminary Gardner Equestrian Traffic Assessment 

VHB has prepared this technical memorandum to outline transportation elements of the proposed equestrian facility 
located along Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts.  The purpose of this memorandum is to both review the current 
traffic volumes in the vicinity of the Project site and to conceptually outline how the project will function during both 
the normal ‘day-to-day’ operations as well as during their Special Event days. 

Current Traffic Operations 
The site is currently serviced via an existing driveway along Route 140.  Along the entire frontage of the site, 
Route 140 is under the jurisdiction of the City of Gardner.  Immediately to the southeast, Route 140 is under the 
jurisdiction of MassDOT (including its intersection with Green Street approximately 300 feet south of the site’s current 
driveway). 

According to MassDOT, Route 140 just south of 
the Project site carries approximately 11,200 
vehicles per day with about 1,000 vehicles during 
the peak commuter hours.  Weekend traffic is 
slightly lighter with about 10,000 daily trips, but 
the peaks are not as significant.   

Similarly, Green Street south of the site carries 
approximately 5,100 vehicles per day with about 
400-500+/- vehicles/hour during the commuter
peak periods.

The intersection of Green Street at Route 140 
operates well during the commuter peak periods 
with some delays for side street turning traffic. 
According to MassDOT, there are no notable 
safety issues within the vicinity of the Project site. 

Daily Facility Operations 
During normal operations, the facility will provide 
typical equestrian activities (maintenance, training) of which many of those activities would take place during off-peak 
periods (mostly on weekends and during the middle of the day on weekdays) with only limited full time staff arriving 
and departing from the site during typical commuter peak hours.  As currently envisioned, access to and from the site 
would be provided via the existing driveway along Route 140 which will be reviewed during the site plan development 
to assure it is designed to accommodate a safe and efficient operation.  

Figure 1 - Route 140 Weekday Daily Traffic Volume 15-minute increments 
(Source: MassDOT TCDS portal) 

11317



Mr. John Stefanini 
Ref:  16012.00 
May 9, 2024 
Page 2 

Traffic Impacts 

As noted above, the general day to day operations of the equestrian operations do not generate any significant 
volume of peak hour traffic – with ranges of about 20-40 employees arriving and departing during these time periods. 
Over the course of the day, the site would typically see anywhere from 250-350 daily trips arriving/departing the site 
spread out over the typical daylight hours. These are made up of employees arriving and departing from the facility, 
deliveries, and visitors to the facility.  This would equate to about 2-3 percent additional traffic being added to the 
Route 140 corridor. 

Special Event Operations 

Assuming that the project will host some number of special event days throughout the year (of which the frequency 
and number of visitors will be determined through discussions with the City), VHB considered that the majority of 
visitors arriving to the site would likely do so to the Gardner area via Route 2, with some smaller volume of traffic 
arriving from the north via Route 140.  

As is typical with these types of special events, guests will arrive at the site over the course of several hours depending 
on the schedule of events to take place at the facility.  In most cases, there is a surge of visitors who depart the site 
within the hour of the conclusion of the schedule of events.   

For example, a special event that hosts between 3,000 and 5,000 visitors would typically see about 1,000 to 1,600 
vehicles arrive over a two- to four-hour window and depart within an hour of the event conclusion.  Arriving traffic 
during the busiest period would represent about 50 percent of the arriving vehicles (~500-800 cars/hour).  As noted, 
the peak hour of the Route 140 corridor sees about 1,000 vehicles per hour with limited congestion near the project 
site observed – so the volumes are consistent with what the corridor currently carries during the weekday. 

In order to address the impact of these surges in traffic associated with the special events, VHB typically works with 
the City, MassDOT, police (local and state), and other stakeholders to develop a detailed traffic management plan that 
is developed cooperatively based on the collective experiences of the stakeholders and VHB.  This plan is then 
presented to the City in advance of the event for discussion and implementation.  Following the first events, VHB and 
stakeholders would review what worked well with the TMP and where adjustments could be made to improve the 
overall experience (which would be integrated into the next TMP for future events).  

Elements of the plan will include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Pre- and post-event staging (deliveries, set up, and break down),

• Event timing (to coincide with off-peak commuter traffic),

• Parking management (guests, VIPs, and participants),

• Shuttle bus routes (to remote parking areas),

• Signage and wayfinding,

• Temporary intersection control (police details and signage),

• Media and digital content outreach, and

• Identification of police/medical emergency access/egress

11317



Wetland Permitting Process – 827 Green Street 
Map/Parcel: R42-21-1 

Informational Letter | Page 1 

June 24, 2024 

Re: Wetland Permitting Process  
827 Green Street (Map/Parcel: R42-21-1) 
Gardner, Massachusetts, 01440 

To Whom it May Concern, 

On behalf of Baystate Racing LLC (the Applicant), Goddard Consulting, LLC (Goddard) is pleased to provide this 
informational narrative surrounding the proposed project involving the construction of a horse racing track located 
at 827 Green Street in Gardner, MA (the Project Site). This narrative is intended to provide additional details 
pertaining to the wetlands permitting process, the work performed to date, and the level of review and project 
minimization required to meet the performance standards for work adjacent to wetland resource areas.  

The proposed project site is located at 827 Green Street in Gardner, MA (Map/Parcel: R42-21-1). The site has been 
in a similar agricultural use to the present for over 100 years. The site is currently known for the Carl E. Dahl House, 
a therapeutic farming community that tends to the existing livestock.  The goal of the newly proposed project is to 
remain in line with the historic uses of the site, keeping the area as an agricultural community.  Outside of race 
weekends, the census of horses on-site is anticipated to be similar to the present day. Although in early, design level 
phases, the project is anticipated to consist of a one-mile looped racing track, associated stadium seating, pedestrian 
walking paths, pastures, and limited on-site parking.  As race weekends are scheduled only a few weekends out of the 
year, the majority of event parking will be utilized off-site in order to remediate traffic concerns on-site. The remainder 
of structures used on race weekends (paddocks, tents, barns, offices) will be temporary in nature, intended to be set 
up and broken down following scheduled race weekends. 

1.0 THE WETLANDS PERMITTING PROCESS 

1.1 GENERAL OVERVIEW 

The wetlands permitting process is an iterative and detailed process, reviewed by the Massachusetts Department of 
Environmental Protection, and the City of Gardner Conservation Commission.  The wetlands permitting process 
begins following a review of the intended project through the city council.  When the project, at a large scale, receives 
an authorization to proceed with the design, proposals, and permitting processes, the wetlands permitting phase 
begins swiftly, as the strict land use performance standards for proposed work adjacent to wetland resource areas are 
frequently the most limiting factors on project design and layout. 

The wetlands permitting process begins with a wetland delineation conducted for the site by a qualified wetland 
scientist to define the resource areas within the property.  The wetland scientist delineates all wetland resource areas 
within the project limits, guiding the landowners and applicants through the performance standards associated with 
each. Goddard Consulting LLC, the wetland scientist team for the proposed project at 827 Green Street, conducted 
a full wetland delineation of the site, culminating at the end of May 2024. The wetland delineation is included in a full 
site survey, currently underway in June of 2024, that will produce the final proposed site plan used for all site permits.  
All concept plans shown to date have been utilizing approximate wetland data from the site delineation and are an 
excellent representation of the resource areas that will affect the project for planning purposes. 

After the proposed project at 827 Green Street in Gardner, MA receives an authorization to proceed from city council, 
the wetland delineation and site survey will be utilized to lay out a final proposed design that meets all regulatory 

11317



Wetland Permitting Process – 827 Green Street 
Map/Parcel: R42-21-1 

Informational Letter |Page 2 

compliance under the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act and the City of Gardner Wetlands Protection 
Ordinance, at the assistance of the project wetland scientists, engineers, and architects. Once a design of the proposed 
project is finalized, a Notice of Intent will be filed with the Gardner Conservation Commission and the Massachusetts 
Department of Environmental Protection. Under the Notice of Intent procedure, the project team will be required 
to evaluate all alternatives for the site to determine the least impactful alternative for the project. The project will be 
analyzed under both the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act and the City of Gardner Wetlands Protection 
Ordinance for compliance with all performance standards set at the state and local level. The Massachusetts Wetlands 
Protection Act (310 CMR 10.00) serves at the state level to define the various wetland resource areas and outline 
applicable performance standards for each.  The City of Gardner Wetlands Protection Ordinance [Chapter 650] 
further expands upon the provisions of the Wetlands Protection Act by defining and maintaining additional 
performance standards not set at the state level. These may include, but are not limited to, the jurisdiction over 
additional types of resource areas, and the permissible setbacks for limits of work and structures from wetland 
resource areas. 

Under a submitted Notice of Intent, all aspects of the proposed project will be reviewed for compliance with the 
aforementioned state and local regulations.  The Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection does not 
issue the project a file number until the project meets all criteria outlined at the state level.  Once a final number is 
issued by the state, the review at the local level will continue until the Gardner Conservation Commission deems 
that the project has met all additional performance standards outlined under the local bylaw. As a full wetland 
delineation has been completed for the site, the applicant team is in the process of mapping out the locations of all 
wetland resource areas on the property.  The project will be bound to review standards for Bordering Vegetated 
Wetlands, Intermittent Streams, Perennial Streams, and Bordering Land Subject to Flooding (BLSF). All aspects of 
the project will be reviewed for compliance, including but not limited to, the limits of work from said resource 
areas, total areas of clearing required, the design of any stream crossings, and the site’s stormwater management 
design.  In addition, the site is mapped within an Outstanding Resource Waters (ORW) Area, meaning that the area 
is an important recharge area for a public water supply.  The project will be required to adhere to strict stormwater 
management standards to ensure the protection of surface water quality.  Such a designation presents opportunities 
for site improvement.  For example, the site is currently in agricultural use, with a similar census of horses at present 
day compared to the proposed conditions.  A new project set forth on-site will present the opportunity to improve 
manure management, stormwater runoff, and water treatment than current conditions allow. Both the 
Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act and the City of Gardner Wetlands Protection Ordinance require 
minimization and avoidance, where all alternatives for the site will be reviewed, ensuring the project as proposed 
reflects the least impactful and most beneficial alternative to the site. 

As the project wetland scientist, Goddard has performed the entirety of the site’s wetland delineation and will provide 
assistance in the design of a final project layout.  Based on the preliminary findings of the wetland delineation, it is 
the opinion of Goddard that the available land area presents the ability to achieve the project’s goal through 
minimization practices, while providing net benefits to the property as a whole.  

Please do not hesitate to reach out to us with questions. 

Sincerely, 

Goddard Consulting, LLC 

Andrew Thibault, WPIT, WSA 
Environmental Scientist

11317



11317



11317



From: David Thibault-Muñoz
To: Elizabeth Doiron
Subject: Fwd:
Date: Wednesday, June 26, 2024 9:18:37 PM
Attachments: Route 140 - Gardner RSA Report.pdf

Hello, Liz.
Here is the first of three documents that I would like to add to this week’s packet.
Please let me know if you have any questions.
Respectfully,
David
(508) 404-4365

Get Outlook for iOS

From: David Thibault-Muñoz <dthibault-munoz@gardner-ma.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, June 26, 2024 1:48:10 PM
To: David Thibault-Muñoz <dthibault-munoz@gardner-ma.gov>
Subject:

Get Outlook for iOS

11317

mailto:dthibault-munoz@gardner-ma.gov
mailto:edoiron@gardner-ma.gov
https://aka.ms/o0ukef
https://aka.ms/o0ukef



 
 


Lane Departure Road Safety Audit for 
Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Prepared by 
Montachusett Regional Planning Commission  


and  
University of Massachusetts Traffic Safety Research Program 


 
Prepared for 


 
         Massachusetts Highway Department  Federal Highway Administration 
 
 
 
 
 







Page 2 
 


  1.0 Introduction to Road Safety Audits & Lane Departure Crashes in Massachusetts 


The Federal Highway Administration defines a Road Safety Audit (RSA) as the formal safety 
examination of an existing or future road or intersection by an independent, multidisciplinary team. 
The purpose of an RSA is to identify potential safety issues and possible opportunities for safety 
improvements considering all roadway users.  Specific objectives of an RSA include, but are not 
limited to the following: 


• Minimizing the risk and severity of road crashes that may be affected by the existing or future 
roadway at a specific location or nearby network; 


• Improving the awareness of safe design practices which are likely to result in safety benefits 
based upon potential safety concerns. 


Although RSA’s have been employed in other countries for some time, they are being fully embraced 
across the United States as a low cost opportunity to make significant safety improvements at any 
number of stages ranging from project development and planning through existing operation.  
Furthermore, RSA’s have proven to be effective on projects of all shapes and sizes.  The RSA program 
here in the Commonwealth presents a unique and exciting opportunity for improvements in roadway 
safety. 


The RSA program in Massachusetts is being implemented in accordance with the Commonwealth’s 
role as a lead state in preventing run-off the road (lane departure) crashes and in conjunction with the 
Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP).  Lane departure crashes are a notable problem area for 
Massachusetts, especially for crashes with high injury severities.  Between 2002 and 2004, lane 
departure crashes accounted for nearly 20 percent of all crashes in Massachusetts and approximately 
one-quarter of crashes involving an incapacitating injury.   Almost one-half of fatal crashes between 
2002 and 2004 were lane departure crashes.  As the crash severity increases, so too does the percent of 
lane departure crashes as shown in Figure 1. 


Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004


Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004


All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004


Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes


18.7% 24.5% 46.2%


Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004


Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004


All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004


Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes


18.7% 24.5% 46.2%


 
 


Figure 1.  Relationship Between Lane Departure Crashes and Injury Severity 
 
In an effort to combat the lane departure problem, a strategy was developed for the SHSP to identify 
hot spot lane departure locations, perform road safety audits and implement low-cost comprehensive 
countermeasures.  The following report summarizes the findings of a RSA focused on lane departure 
crashes (LD) along Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts.  
 







Page 3 
 


  2.0 Background Material for Route 140 in Gardner 
 
Gardner is a Massachusetts municipality with 
approximately 20,770 residents (2000 census) and is 
located within Worcester County some 30 miles 
northwest of Worcester, MA.  Along the eastern portion 
of Gardner, Route 140 connects to the communities of 
Westminster to the south and Winchendon along the 
north.  Through Gardner, Route 140 is an undivided 
arterial roadway, which transitions between 2, 3, and 4 
lanes with larger than average travel lanes (>12 ft) and 
shoulders (>8 ft in some places).  The total length of 
Route 140 through Gardner is 6.36 miles which is 
owned and operated by the State of Massachusetts and 
the City of Gardner for distances of 4.93 miles 
(southern) and 1.43 miles (northern), respectively. A 
typical cross-section for Route 140 is pictured in Figure 2, and some of the major characteristics, 
including crash clusters, for Route 140 are summarized in Figure 3 below. 
 
The LD-RSA for Route 140 was held on May 29, 2007 in the City of Gardner.  In total, 19 team 
members participated in the road safety audit, and as indicated in Table 1, representatives were present 
from Federal, State, Regional and Local agencies and included a cross-section of engineering/planning, 
education, and enforcement expertise.   
  
Table 1 Participating Audit Team Members 


Audit Team Membersa Agency/Affiliation 
Bonnie Polin Massachusetts Highway Department – Safety Section 


Maliha Akhtar Massachusetts Highway Department – Highway Design 
Neil Boudreau Massachusetts Highway Department – Traffic Engineering 
Brian Doherty Montachusett Regional Planning Commission 
George Snow Montachusett Regional Planning Commission 
Michael Ellis Greater Gardner Chamber of Commerce 
Robert Babb Massachusetts Highway Department – District 3 
Tim White Federal Highway Administration 


Robert McCarthy Federal Highway Administration 
Michael Gerry Greater Gardner Chamber of Commerce 
Alan Agnelli Representative Bob Rice’s Office 
Dan Keeney Gardner DCDP 


Mark Johnson Massachusetts Highway Department – District 3 
Paul M. Capps Massachusetts State Police 
Rock Barrieau Gardner Police Department 
Bob Hankinson Gardner City Engineer 


Matthew Stanley City of Gardner, Intern 
Mary Delaney City of Gardner 


Michael Knodler University of Massachusetts - Amherst 
 


Figure 2.  Typical Cross-Section for Route 140 







Page 4 
 


 


 
Figure 3.  Characterization of Roadway Features for Route 140


Cluster of LD crashes 
near Winchendon line 


Location for split of roadway 
control: City road to the north & 


State highway to the south 
Only signalized intersection 
along Route 140 in Gardner 


Cluster of LD crashes 
near Westminster line 


Potential development area 
which may add access 


points to Route 140
Small cluster of LD 


crashes on vertical curve 
between horizontal curves. 
Solar glare may be an issue 


at this location. 


 


Downtown Gardner 


Intersection with potential 
issues related to turning 


vehicles and illumination levels 







Page 5 
 


Given the length of Route 140 through Gardner, audit team members were asked to visit the site in 
advance of the meeting to familiarize themselves with the roadway attributes and characteristics.  A 
copy of the meeting agenda and instructions as well as a packet of pertinent information was 
distributed to meeting invitees prior to the meeting (this information is included in Appendix A of this 
report).  Specifically, the additional information provided was pertinent to the LD-RSA safety 
initiative and included traffic volumes along Route 140 as well as a description of relevant crashes as 
summarized below: 
 


• Figure 4 presents hourly and directional distributions of traffic volumes along Route 140 at 
locations north and south of Matthews Street for an average weekday.  From the compiled data 
collection efforts the maximum average daily traffic (ADT) was 11,842 vpd at the south 
location and 9,198 vpd at the north location.   


• Similar to many roadways, the posted speeds vary along Route 140 in Gardner. Route 140 has 
segments posted at both 40 and 50 mph.  The official speed regulations for Route 140 in 
Gardner are summarized below in Table 2. 


• Between 2/12/03 and 3/20/05 there were 25 reported crashes (2 were later deemed as not 
occurring on Route 140) consistent with the lane departure initiative of which 19 were 
geolocated and presented in Figure 5. A complete summary of the 23 identified crashes over 
the 2-year period is included in Appendix A and was provided to participants prior to the audit 
meeting. Please note that this does not reflect all crashes along Route 140, but those deemed 
relevant to this initiative. 


 
Table 2 Summary of Speed Regulations for Route 140 in Gardner 


 
 
 
Additional resources made available to the team during the audit meeting included field videos from 
several drives along Route 140 which were used in aiding discussion of specific roadway elements. 
Also available were alternative resources including the AASHTO Strategic Highway Safety Plan and 
the related National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) 500 series reports. 
 
 
 


Northbound  Southbound 


State 
Controlled 


Beginning at the  
Westminster line  City 


Controlled 


Beginning at the  
Winchendon line 


1.63 miles at 50 mph  1.43 miles At 50 mph 
0.36 miles at 40 mph  


State 
Controlled 


0.33 miles At 40 mph 
1.44 miles at 50 mph  1.44 miles At 50 mph 
0.33 miles at 40 mph  0.36 miles At 40 mph 


City 
Controlled 


1.43 miles at 50 mph  1.63 miles At 50 mph 
Ending at the       


Winchendon line  Ending at the       
Westminster line 







Page 6 
 


 
Figure 4.  Hourly and Directional Distributions of Volumes for Route 140 


 


 
Figure 5.  2-Year Summary of Route 140 Lane Departure-Related Crashes 







Page 7 
 


 
  3.0 Characterization of Major Traffic Safety Challenges  
 
Following a brief introduction to the RSA process in general, the meeting participants were asked to 
summarize and characterize potential safety considerations along Route 140.  The initial 
characterization of the major safety considerations resulting in lane departure crashes focused on two 
key elements as follows: 
 


• Speed was immediately identified as a primary factor in the operational elements of the 
roadway and in turn a significant factor in roadway crashes.  Speeding was determined to be a 
result, in part, of large lane widths and shoulders as well as the lack of development (i.e. curb 
cuts).  Additionally, it should be noted that many of the motorists travelling along Route 140 
have just exited Route 2 (a major east- west access controlled highway through this section of 
Massachusetts). The Gardner police discussed challenges with enforcing the particular 
roadway, but noted that enforcement efforts are in place.  


• A second major characterization of the crashes along Route 140 involved the weather. Of the 
reported crashes being considered during this RSA, 88 percent of all crashes were deemed 
weather-related. Twenty-one of the crashes occurred during the months of December through 
March.  Also, 13 of the weather-related crashes occurred in the vicinity of a curve along the 
roadway.   


• Other significant factors mentioned at the outset of the meeting that are discussed in further 
detail later in this report also included the following: 


o The skewed signalized intersection at Route 140 and Route 101; 
o The intersection of Route 140 and Matthews Street, including the impact of limited 


turning lanes; 
o Future development of subdivision with access via Route 140. 


 
 


  4.0 Summary of Short Term Recommendations for Route 140   
 
The formal review of potential safety concerns along Route 140 was completed by the entire audit 
team.  Following identification of a potential safety issue the dialogue subsequently focused on 
possible countermeasures with some preliminary discussion regarding the feasibility of implementation 
(timeframe and cost) as well as the potential payoff of safety benefits.  Given the potential for an 
immediate impact there was an added focus on short term (less than 1 year) and low cost (less than 
$10,000) improvements that could be done almost instantaneously resulting in a positive safety impact.  
Resulting recommendations for immediate actions along Route 140 include the following: 
 


• Given the reported prevalence of speed among the lane departure crashes, it is recommended 
that Route 140 continue to remain a high speed enforcement area, especially during winter 
months.  It is also recommended that speed data collection be completed by the City of Gardner 
to track current operating speeds throughout the year; this may also prove useful in the 
establishment of enforcement thresholds.  Similarly, it is recommended that the speed 
regulations described in Table 2 are consistent with the current operating practice.   It is also 
recommended that additional speed signage be provided along the roadway in an effort to 
further reinforce the limits for motorists. 
 







Page 8 
 


• Given the reported prevalence of weather related crashes, 3 specific recommendations include 
the each of the following:  


o Add warning signs along the corridor which alert motorists about the impact of weather 
along the roadway.  It is also recommended that variable message signs (VMS) be used 
periodically during the winter months to remind motorists about weather issues, and to 
be cognizant in the selection of their speeds.  Candidate locations would include Route 
140 near both bordering town lines, and at selected locations in the middle for traffic 
exiting downtown Gardner.  Please note, it is not recommended that the VMS be used 
to suggest roadway speeds as variable speed limits are not 
as of yet permissible in Massachusetts.   


o Assess the exact condition of the pavement from a skid 
resistance perspective.  Specifically, ensure pavement 
provides sufficient skid resistance. 


o Similarly, it is recommended that existing drainage 
characteristics be evaluated. Elements for consideration 
would be the presence of adequate and functional drainage 
features, roadway pavement conditions, and superelevation 
at known ice spots.  


o In the vicinity of the Winchendon line, it is recommended 
that the presence of trees which may be obscuring the 
roadway, resulting in black ice conditions with some 
regularity, be identified and potentially trimmed/removed.  


Assure visible “Curve Ahead” warning signs for each direction of all 
horizontal curves. Signs should be placed in advance of the curve to allow 
adequate response time from motorists.  To further enhance the delineation, 
chevrons and/or possibly roadside reflectors should be considered as 
budget permits.  For example, at the first horizontal curve heading SB from 
the Winchendon town line has a curve ahead sign, but added delineation in 
the curve would provide an added benefit.  


• With respect to signage along the corridor some short term 
recommendations include the following: 


o As noted above, it is recommended that additional speed 
limit signs and weather-related warning signs be added.   


o Additionally, it is recommended that unnecessary signage 
(i.e., extra speed limit sign) near the signal ahead warning 
sign (see inset, top) be removed to make it more visible; the 
sign clutter may cause some motorists to miss the warning 
sign.  


o Another recommendation is that the informational sign 
depicting the Gardner District Court be moved to a higher location (possibly a separate 
posting) as the current location is easily obscured by leading vehicles and possibly by 
snow during the winter months. 


o Continue general sign maintenance.  Although it is common for signs to be knocked 
over, it is important to repair efficiently. 


o Assess the existing condition of current signs to identify faded signs which, in turn, 
should be replaced with an added emphasis on regulatory and warning signs. 


 
 


Figure 6.  Typical 
Roadside Signage 







Page 9 
 


 
  5.0 Summary of Additional Route 140 Countermeasures   
 
Although an emphasis was placed upon short term and low cost improvements that could be carried 
out immediately, the focus of the team was not limited to solely those countermeasures.  The following 
section details countermeasures discussed by the team, which are reflective of all costs and timeframes 
and includes both general (entire corridor) and specific safety opportunities. Please note that with 
respect to the timeframe there are some unknown variables that must be further explored. Additionally, 
some of the potential treatments discussed were experimental in nature resulting in an unknown level 
of safety benefits.  Several definitions exist for low, mid, and high cost as well as for short, mid and 
long term implementation timeframes. For purposes of this report, low cost improvements will be 
under $10,000, mid costs will be under $50,000, and high costs will be above $50,000.  From a 
timeframe perspective short term will refer to less than 1 year while mid and long term will refer to 
countermeasures that will take 1 to 3, and greater than 3 years, respectively.  







Page 10 
 


Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 


Implementation 
Timeframe 


& Cost 
Potential Safety 


Payoff Photos 


Speed-related 
issues along 


entire Route 140 
corridor 


Continue and expand upon a
concentrated enforcement and
educational (i.e. speed feedback,
community meetings, etc) program. 


Short Term & 
Low/Mid Cost Mid  


Consider possible low-cost speed-
related strategies, including
restriping narrower lanes, installing 
optical speed bars, and adding more 
speed limit signs. 


Short Term & 
Low Cost Low 


Distracted or    
drowsy drivers 


Route 140 already has rumble strips
in many locations. Consider rumble 
strips and/or centerline rumble
stripes in  areas along the roadway 
that do not already have rumble
strips. 


Mid Term &  
Mid Cost Mid 


Pavement 
Markings 


Upgrade pavement markings to
enhance delineation through
increased reflectivity.  


Short Term & 
Mid/High Cost Mid 


 


Horizontal curve 
delineation 


Install curve ahead warning signs,
chevrons and possibly roadside
reflectors for horizontal curves. 


Short Term & 
Low/Mid Cost Mid 


 







Page 11 
 


Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 


Implementation 
Timeframe 


& Cost 
Potential 


Safety Payoff Photos


Edge drop-off  
at roadside 


Maintain and fill roadside as needed
to prevent edge drop-off. Current 
locations may exist north of Route 
101. 


Short Term &  
Low Cost Low 


Current operation  
of existing  


auxiliary lanes 


Add warning signs at locations
where drivers should be watching
for turning vehicles.  


Short Term &  
Low Cost Low 


 


For auxiliary lanes for turning
purposes, add lane usage
information including both roadway
symbols and signage. 


Short Term  
& Low Cost 


 
Low 


Weather-related 
crashes along the 


Route 140 corridor 


Add warning signs alerting motorists
of possible weather impacts.
Employ a VMS periodically during
the winter months to remind
motorists about weather issues. 


Short Term & 
Low Cost Mid 


 


 


Assess pavement condition from a
skid resistance perspective.   


Short Term &  
Low Cost N/A 


Near Winchendon line, identify trees 
obscuring the roadway and
contributing to black ice conditions, 
and potentially trim/remove. 


Short Term &  
Low Cost Low 


WINTER 
WEATHER 







Page 12 
 


Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 


Implementation 
Timeframe 


& Cost 
Potential 


Safety Payoff Photos 


Sign efficiency 


Either relocate signal ahead warning
sign or signs around it. Current
cluster of signs may force driver to
miss the warning sign. 


Short Term & 
Low Cost Low  


Change location or elevate the 
Gardner District Court sign as it is
easily obscured by leading vehicles
and possibly by snow during winter
months. 


Short Term & 
Low/Mid Cost N/A  


Update worn and faded signs
(emphasis on regulatory and
warning), and continually perform
sign maintenance. 


Short Term & 
Low Cost Low 


 


Guard rail upgrades 


In areas with guard rail, upgrade the 
existing end treatments to crash
cushion model (some sections
already equipped, see figure, right). 


Mid Term & 
Mid/High Cost Low 


 


Dark stretches of 
Roadway in the 


vicinity of Green 
Street and Matthews 


Street 


Consider exploration of or
improvement of roadway lighting.  


Long Term & 
Mid/High Cost Low 


 
Ensure retroreflective signage at
these intersections to improve
conspicuity.  


Short Term & 
Low Cost Low/Mid 







Page 13 
 


Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 


Implementation 
Timeframe 


& Cost 
Potential 


Safety Payoff Photos 


Continued 
maintenance 


The pavement condition is in
excellent condition from the
Westminster town line through the
intersection with Route 101 and
decreases considerably beyond that.
This area should be the focus of
continued maintenance such as
removal of brush, edge drop-off 
repairs and overall pavement repairs.
Specifically, to assure safety this 
needs to be maintained. 


Short Term & 
Low Cost Low 


Drainage 


Evaluate existing drainage features
to assure adequate drainage.  During 
winter months assure all catch basins
remain clear. 


Short Term & 
Low Cost Low/Mid  


Unsignalized 
intersection at 


Matthews Street 


Safety recommendations to be
considered at this location include
dedicated turn lanes for left turns
from Route 140 NB and right turns
from Route 140 SB (may require
reconfiguration of climbing lane).   


Mid Term & 
Mid/High Cost Low/Mid   







Page 14 
 


  6.0 Discussion   
 
With respect to the safety improvement opportunities described in the previous section it is important 
to consider the following: 1) many treatments are both low cost and short term and 2) there is a 
complimentary nature of many of the safety strategies in that one improvement will aid with multiple 
safety issues.   Please note that although this document provides a series of specific recommendations 
which warrant short term implementation, the approach towards improved safety is dynamic in nature 
and warrants revisiting over time.   
 
Several additional topics that were discussed at the audit meeting and warrant consideration include the 
following: 
 


• Because of the number of weather related crashes, the RSA team determined that drivers 
familiar with the roadway were not intuitively aware of potential weather issues and were 
driving at normal operating speeds.  It is the belief of the RSA team that if variable speed limits 
become permissible, or are even experimented within Massachusetts, this would be an ideal 
candidate location.  


• During the RSA meeting one long term high cost strategy discussed was the possibility of 
making the entire stretch of Route 140 a two-lane divided roadway.  Although it is 
recommended that this be considered, this would need to be studied in much greater detail to 
identify the operational impacts. 


• There was also some discussion during the RSA meeting about the possibility of making Route 
140 through Gardner a required daytime headlight use area.   


• A proposed housing development is currently planned along Route 140 (near the Winchendon 
line).  The RSA team feels that it is imperative for access issues to be definitively addressed for 
this and future developments to assure the safety of motorists along Route 140.  Specifically, 
the RSA team strongly preferred that curb cuts be minimized along Route 140.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Page 15 
 


  7.0 Appendix A: Distributed RSA Meeting Materials   
  


Materials provided to RSA team members in advance of the meeting included the following: 
 


1. Agenda  
2. RSA and Lane Departure Introduction  
3. Tabulated Crash Summary 
4. Map of Geolocated Crashes 
5. MRPC Summary of Volumes  
6. LD-RSA Checklist  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Page 16 
 


 
 


 
 


 Road Safety Audit for Route 140
Meeting Location:  34 Pearly Lane   


Gardner, MA  
Tuesday, May 29, 2007 
10:00 AM to 12:00 PM 


 
 


Type of meeting: Lane Departure – Road Safety Audit 
Attendees: Invited Participants to Comprise a Multidisciplinary Team 
Please bring: Thoughts and Enthusiasm!! 
 


10:00 AM Welcome and Introductions 


10:15 AM Introduction to Road Safety Audits and Lane Departure Crashes 


10:30 AM Review of Site Specific Material 
• Crash & Volume – provided in advance 


• Existing Geometries and Conditions 


• Video and Images  


11:00 AM Completion of RSA  
• Identification of Safety Concerns – using checklists as a guide 


• Identification of Possible Countermeasures  


12:00 PM Adjourn for the Day – but the RSA has not ended 


 
  Instructions for Participants: 


• Before attending the RSA on May 29th participants are encouraged to drive Route 
140 within Gardner, MA and complete/consider elements on the RSA advisory 
checklist with a focus on safety factors affecting roadway departure crashes. 


• All participants will be actively involved in the process throughout.  Participants 
are encouraged to come with thoughts and ideas, but are reminded that the 
synergy that develops and respect for others’ opinions are key elements to the 
success of the overall RSA process. 


• After the initial RSA meeting, participants will be asked to comment and respond 
to the document materials to assure it is reflective of the RSA completed by the 
multidisciplinary team. 


 







Page 17 
 


 
An Introduction to Road Safety Audits & Lane Departure Crashes in Mass.chusetts 


The Federal Highway Administration defines a Road Safety Audit (RSA) as the formal safety 
examination of an existing or future road or intersection by an independent, multidisciplinary team. 
The purpose of an RSA is to identify potential safety issues and possible opportunities for safety 
improvements considering all roadway users.  Specific objectives of an RSA include, but are not 
limited to the following: 


• Minimize the risk and severity of road crashes that may be affected by the existing or future 
roadway at a specific location or nearby network; 


• Improve the awareness of safe design practices which are likely to result in safety benefits 
based upon potential safety concerns. 


Although RSA’s have been employed in other countries for some time, they are being fully embraced 
across the United States as a low cost opportunity to make significant safety improvements at any 
number of stages ranging from project development and planning through existing operation.  
Furthermore, RSA’s have proven to be effective on projects of all shapes and sizes.  The RSA program 
here in the Commonwealth presents a unique and exciting opportunity for improvements in roadway 
safety. 


The RSA program in Massachusetts is being implemented in accordance with the Commonwealth’s 
role as a Lead State in preventing run-off the road (lane departure) crashes and in conjunction with the 
Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP).  Lane departure crashes are a notable problem area for 
Massachusetts, especially for crashes with higher injury severities.  Between 2002 and 2004, lane 
departure crashes accounted for nearly 20 percent of all crashes in Massachusetts and approximately 
one-quarter of crashes involving an incapacitating injury.   Almost one-half of fatal crashes between 
2002 and 2004 were lane departure crashes.  As the crash severity increases, so does the percent of 
crashes that are lane departures as shown in the figure below. 


Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004


Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004


All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004


Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes


18.7% 24.5% 46.2%


Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004


Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004


All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004


Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes


18.7% 24.5% 46.2%


 
 
 
In an effort to combat the lane departure problem, a strategy was developed for the SHSP to identify 
hot spot lane departure location, perform road safety audits and implement low-cost comprehensive 
countermeasures.    







Page 18 
 


Crash 
CRASH 
DATE 


MAP 
(Y/N) Direction Object Struck 


Curve 
(Y / N) 


WEATHER 
1 WEATHER 2 


SURFACE 
TYPE CRASH LOCATION 


1 2/12/2003 Y N/S vehicle Y snow snow ROUTE 140 (#1490) 
2 2/17/2003 Y S snow bank N snow snow ROUTE 140/CHAPEL STREET 


3 2/23/2003 Y S snow bank Y snow 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain ice ROUTE 140 BY KELTON ST. OVERPASS 
4 2/24/2003 N snow bank N snow snow ROUTE 140 


5 4/4/2003 Y S embankment N cloudy 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain ice ROUTE 140/CHAPEL STREET 


6 4/5/2003 N/S vehicle Y rain 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain slush ROUTE 140 


7 12/8/2003 Y N/N vehicle N-merge cloudy snow snow ROUTE 140/COLONY ROAD 


8 12/12/2003 Y S/S vehicle N-merge clear dry 
ROUTE 140 (at merge from 2 to 1 lane per 
direction SB) 


9 12/15/2003 S/S 
vehicle/snow 


bank Y cloudy ice ROUTE 140 
10 1/5/2004 N guardrail N rain slush ROUTE 140 


11 3/9/2004 Y S guardrail N cloudy ice ROUTE 140 (NORTH OF MATTHEW ST) 


12 8/12/2004 Y N embankment N rain wet ROUTE 140/300 FT S OF SMITH STREET 


13 12/6/2004 Y N/S vehicle Y snow 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain ice GREEN STREET/ROUTE 140 (N of Green) 


14 1/5/2005 Y S embankment Y snow 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain ice ROUTE 140 (by the prison) 


15 1/6/2005 S vehicle Y snow 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain snow ROUTE 140 


16 1/12/2005 Y S embankment Y 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain snow slush ROUTE 140  (by Winchendon town  line) 


17 1/13/2005 Y N guardrail Y 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain ice 
ROUTE 140/500 FT S OF STONE STREET 
EXT 


18 1/26/2005 Y N/S vehicle N snow snow GREEN STREET/300 FT N OF EATON ST 


19 2/10/2005 Y S guardrail Y 
sleet, hail, 


freezing rain snow snow 
ROUTE 140/300 FT FROM CHAPEL 
STREET 


20 2/12/2005 Y N 
utility pole 


support wire Y cloudy snow wet ROUTE 140/500 FT S OF WINCHENDON TL 


21 2/23/2005 Y S 
utility pole 


support wire Y clear wet ROUTE 140 (near Winchendon town line) 


22 3/1/2005 Y 
W (N in 
diagram) guardrail N cloudy slush 


ROUTE 140/100 FT N OF RAILROAD 
BRIDGE 


23 3/1/2005 S overturned Y cloudy snow snow ROUTE 140/150 S OF MASS ELEC. POLE 41 
24 3/20/2005 Y S/S/N vehicle N-merge cloudy dry ROUTE 140/1000 FT S OF MATTHEWS ST. 
25 7/21/2005 Y S/S vehicle N-merge clear dry 829 GREEN STREET (not on 140) 


 







Page 19 
 


Crash BRIEF SUMMARY/NARRATIVE 
1 • LOST CONTROL IN SNOW & CROSSED OVER CENTER LINE 
2 • LOST CONTROL AND WENT INTO SNOW BANK 
3 • LOST CONTROL DUE TO EXCESSIVE ICE ON ROADWAY.  SPUN INTO ONCOMING LANE. 
4 • SLID INTO ONCOMING LANE AND STOPPED IN A SNOW BANK ON OPPOSITE SIDE OF ROAD 
5 • LOST CONTROL DUE TO POOR WEATHER & ROAD CONDITIONS.   SLID OFF THE ROAD & INTO EMBANKMENT 
6 • LOST CONTROL AND WENT ONCOMING LANE & HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE 
7 • VEHICLES COLLIDED AS THE LANES THEY WERE DRIVING IN MERGED 


8 
• SPUN OUT OF CONTROL AFTER HITTING ANOTHER VEHICLE IN A FAILED ATTEMPT TO GET AHEAD OF OTHER VEHICLE WHEN THE 


LANES MERGED 
9 • 2 VEHICLES CRASHED WHEN THEY WERE TRYING TO AVOID A 3RD VEHICLE THAT WAS SPINNING OUT OF CONTROL 


10 • OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE WHICH SPUN OUT OF CONTROL AND CROSSED OVER INTO ONCOMING LANE. 
11 • OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE AND STRUCK GUARDRAIL 
12 • HYDROPLANED THROUGH A PUDDLE, CROSSED ACROSS THE ONCOMING LANE AND THEN LANDED IN AN EMBANKMENT 


13 
• OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE DUE TO HORRENDOUS ROAD CONDITIONS.  VEHICLE CROSSED INTO ONCOMING LANE AND HIT 


ANOTHER VEHICLE HEAD ON. 
14 • VEHICLE FISHTAILED AS A RESULT OF DEPLORABLE ROAD CONDITIONS & WENT OFF THE SIDE OF ROAD 


15 
• RESULT OF ONE VEHICLE ATTEMPTING TO PASS ANOTHER VEHICLE IN BAD DRIVING CONDITIONS.  HIT VEHICLE WENT ACROSS THE 


MEDIAN AND INTO THE OPPOSITE LANE & EVENTUALLY HIT THE GUARDRAIL ON THAT SIDE 
16 • VEHICLE OUT OF CONTROL BECAUSE IT HIT A PATCH OF ICE.  VEHICLE WENT OFF THE SHOULDER & HIT A SNOW EMBANKMENT. 


17 
• LOST CONTROL & FISHTAILED DUE TO ICY ROAD.   CROSSED CL, STRUCK A GUARDRAIL, THEN RECROSSED THE CL & RAN OFF ROAD 


DOWN AN EMBANKMENT. 
18 • VEHICLE WAS TRYING TO MAKE IT UP A HILL BUT THE CAR KEPT SLIPPING AND HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE 
19 • OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE AND SLID INTO ANOTHER VEHICLE 
20 • VEHICLE SLID INTO & ACROSS ONCOMING LANE AS A RESULT OF SPEEDING. 


21 
• DRIVER CLAIMED THAT SHE SKID OFF OF ROAD DUE TO WET GROUND.  OFFICER BELIEVES THAT SHE WAS INATTENTIVE AND DROVE 


OFF THE ROAD. 
22 • VEHICLE SLID INTO ONCOMING LANE AND HIT A GUARDRAIL AS A RESULT OF SLIPPERY ROAD CONDITIONS 


23 
• OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE DUE TO WEATHER & POSSIBLE ALCOHOL INGESTION.  VEHICLE SPUN OUT ON CONTROL, RAN 


OFF THE ROADWAY RIGHT, AND OVERTURNED. 


24 
• CRASH OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF ONE VEHICLE CUTTING OFF ANOTHER DUE TO LANE MERGE.  THE VEHICLE BEING CUT OFF HIT 


THE BRAKES AND WENT INTO ONCOMING LANES AND HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE.  THAT VEHICLE THEN HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE. 


25 
• OPERATOR DROVE VEHICLE IN FRONT OF ANOTHER WHEN TRYING TO CHANGE DIRECTION IN ORDER TO PICK UP A TURTLE ON THE 


ROAD 







Page 20 
 







Page 21 
 


Route 140 South of Mathews Street Raw count 
weekday average May 1, 2007 


Route 140 North of Mathews Street Raw count 
weekday average May 1, 2007 


Raw count weekday average May 1, 2007 Raw count weekday average May 1, 2007 


Start Time 


Rte 140 S. of Matthews 
St. 


Rte 140 N. of Matthews 
St. 


NB SB Total Start Time NB SB Total
12:00 AM 66 20 86 12:00 AM 76 21 97
1:00 AM 33 16 49 1:00 AM 31 13 44
2:00 AM 25 16 41 2:00 AM 32 14 46
3:00 AM 22 38 60 3:00 AM 15 33 48
4:00 AM 37 107 144 4:00 AM 27 98 125
5:00 AM 83 316 399 5:00 AM 54 301 355
6:00 AM 174 619 793 6:00 AM 120 566 686
7:00 AM 361 628 989 7:00 AM 191 560 751
8:00 AM 383 390 773 8:00 AM 218 335 553
9:00 AM 338 334 672 9:00 AM 218 269 487


10:00 AM 297 275 572 10:00 AM 185 207 392
11:00 AM 292 300 592 11:00 AM 213 210 423


12 noon 300 295 595 12 noon 226 211 437
1:00 PM 292 332 624 1:00 PM 219 230 449
2:00 PM 375 344 719 2:00 PM 300 241 541
3:00 PM 534 338 872 3:00 PM 402 242 644
4:00 PM 604 340 944 4:00 PM 470 234 704
5:00 PM 665 325 990 5:00 PM 529 232 761
6:00 PM 390 259 649 6:00 PM 353 185 538
7:00 PM 235 178 413 7:00 PM 216 116 332
8:00 PM 170 143 313 8:00 PM 180 95 275
9:00 PM 141 99 240 9:00 PM 147 64 211


10:00 PM 102 80 182 10:00 PM 101 72 173
11:00 PM 92 39 131 11:00 PM 96 30 126


6011 5831 11842 4619 4579 9198
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Page 22 
 


 


GEOMETRIC DESIGN 


Issue Comment 


A. Speed – (Design Speed; Speed Limit & Zoning; Sight Distance; Overtaking 
Are there speed-related issues along the corridor?  
Please consider the following elements: 


• Horizontal and vertical alignment; 
• Posted and advisory speeds 
• Driver compliance with speed limits 
• Approximate sight distance 
• Safety passing opportunities 


 


B. Road alignment and cross section  
With respect to the roadway alignment and cross-
section please consider the appropriateness of the 
following elements: 


• Functional class (Urban Principal Arterial) 
• Delineation of alignment; 
• Widths (lanes, shoulders, medians); 
• Sight distance for access points; 
• Cross-slopes 
• Curbs and gutters 
Drainage features 


 


C. Intersections 
For intersections along the corridor please consider all 
potential safety issues.  Some specific considerations 
should include the following: 


• Intersections fit alignment (i.e. curvature) 
• Traffic  control devices’’ alert motorists as 


necessary 
• Sight distance and sight lines seem appropriate 
• Vehicles can safely slow/stop for turns 
• Conflict point management 
• Adequate spacing for various vehicle types 
Capacity problems that result in safety problems 


 


D. Auxiliary lanes 
• Do auxiliary lanes appear to be adequate?  
• Could the taper locations and alignments be 


causing safety deficiencies? 
• Are should widths at merges causing safety 


deficiencies?  


 







Page 23 
 


E. Clear zones and crash barriers 
For the roadside the major considerations are clear 
zone issues and crash barriers.  Consider the following: 


• Do there appear to be clear zones issues? 
⎯ Are hazards located too close the road?  
⎯ Are side slopes acceptable? 


• Are suitable crash barriers (i.e, guard rails, 
curbs, etc.) appropriate for minimizing crash 
severity? 


• Barrier features: end treatments, visibility, etc. 


 


F. Bridges and culverts – (if necessary) 
Are there specific issues related to bridges and culverts 
that may result in safety concerns?  


G. Pavement – (Defects, Skid Resistance, and Flooding) 
• Is the pavement free of defects including 


excessive roughness or rutting, potholes, loose 
material, edge drop-offs, etc.) that could result 
in safety problems (for example, loss of 
steering control)? 


• Does the pavement appear to have adequate 
skid resistance, particularly on curves, step 
grades and approaches to intersections? 


• Is the pavement free of areas where flooding or 
sheet flow of water could contribute to safety 
problems? 


• In general, is the pavement quality sufficient 
for safe travel of heavy and oversized vehicles? 


 


H. Lighting (Lighting and Glare) 
It is important to consider to the impacts of lighting. 


Some specifics include the following: 
Is lighting required and, if so, has it been 


adequately provided? 
Are there glare issues resulting from headlights 


during night time operations or from sunlight? 


 







Page 24 
 


 


TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES  


Issue Comment 


I. Signs  
Signage is a critical element in providing a safe 
roadway environment. Please consider the following: 


• Are all current signs visible (consider both 
night and day)? Are they conspicuous and 
clear? Are the correct signs used for each 
situation? 


 


• Does the retroreflectivity or illumination appear 
satisfactory? 


• Are there any concerns regarding sign 
supports? 


 


J. Traffic signals 
Although the focus of this RSA are lane departures, 
this does present an opportunity for us to consider any 
traffic signals. Specifically: 


• If present, do the traffic signals appear to be 
designed, installed, and operating correctly? 


• Is the controller located in a safe position? 
(where it is unlikely to be hit, but maintenance 
access is safe) 


• Is there adequate sight distance to the ends of 
possible vehicle queues? 


 


  


K. Marking and delineation 
• Is the line marking and delineation: 


⎯ appropriate for the function of the road? 
⎯ consistent along the route? 
⎯ likely to be effective under all expected 


conditions? (day, night, wet, dry, fog, rising 
and setting sun, oncoming headlights, etc.) 


• Are centerlines, edgelines, and lane lines 
provided? If not, do drivers have adequate 
guidance? 


 







Page 25 
 


 


ROADWAY ACTIVITY 


Issue Comment 
With respect to roadway activity please consider safety 
elements related to the following: 


• Pedestrians 
• Bicycles 
• Public transportation vehicles and riders 
• Emergency vehicles 
• Commercial vehicles 
• Slow moving vehicles 


 


 


 


 
 
 


ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 


Issue Comment 


Weather & Animals 
From an environmental perspective it is important to 
consider any potential impacts. Most notably is likely 
to be the impacts of weather or animals, including: 


 


• Possible effects of rain, fog, snow, ice, wind on 
design features. 


• Has snow fall accumulation been considered in 
the design (storage, sight distance around 
snowbanks, etc.)? 


• Are there any known animal travel/migration 
routes in surrounding areas which could affect 
design? 


 


  







Lane Departure Road Safety Audit for 
Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts 

Prepared by 
Montachusett Regional Planning Commission  

and  
University of Massachusetts Traffic Safety Research Program 

Prepared for 

         Massachusetts Highway Department Federal Highway Administration 

11317



Page 2 
 

  1.0 Introduction to Road Safety Audits & Lane Departure Crashes in Massachusetts 

The Federal Highway Administration defines a Road Safety Audit (RSA) as the formal safety 
examination of an existing or future road or intersection by an independent, multidisciplinary team. 
The purpose of an RSA is to identify potential safety issues and possible opportunities for safety 
improvements considering all roadway users.  Specific objectives of an RSA include, but are not 
limited to the following: 

• Minimizing the risk and severity of road crashes that may be affected by the existing or future 
roadway at a specific location or nearby network; 

• Improving the awareness of safe design practices which are likely to result in safety benefits 
based upon potential safety concerns. 

Although RSA’s have been employed in other countries for some time, they are being fully embraced 
across the United States as a low cost opportunity to make significant safety improvements at any 
number of stages ranging from project development and planning through existing operation.  
Furthermore, RSA’s have proven to be effective on projects of all shapes and sizes.  The RSA program 
here in the Commonwealth presents a unique and exciting opportunity for improvements in roadway 
safety. 

The RSA program in Massachusetts is being implemented in accordance with the Commonwealth’s 
role as a lead state in preventing run-off the road (lane departure) crashes and in conjunction with the 
Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP).  Lane departure crashes are a notable problem area for 
Massachusetts, especially for crashes with high injury severities.  Between 2002 and 2004, lane 
departure crashes accounted for nearly 20 percent of all crashes in Massachusetts and approximately 
one-quarter of crashes involving an incapacitating injury.   Almost one-half of fatal crashes between 
2002 and 2004 were lane departure crashes.  As the crash severity increases, so too does the percent of 
lane departure crashes as shown in Figure 1. 

Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004

Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004

All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004

Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes

18.7% 24.5% 46.2%

Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004

Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004

All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004

Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes

18.7% 24.5% 46.2%

 
 

Figure 1.  Relationship Between Lane Departure Crashes and Injury Severity 
 
In an effort to combat the lane departure problem, a strategy was developed for the SHSP to identify 
hot spot lane departure locations, perform road safety audits and implement low-cost comprehensive 
countermeasures.  The following report summarizes the findings of a RSA focused on lane departure 
crashes (LD) along Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts.  
 

11317



Page 3 
 

  2.0 Background Material for Route 140 in Gardner 
 
Gardner is a Massachusetts municipality with 
approximately 20,770 residents (2000 census) and is 
located within Worcester County some 30 miles 
northwest of Worcester, MA.  Along the eastern portion 
of Gardner, Route 140 connects to the communities of 
Westminster to the south and Winchendon along the 
north.  Through Gardner, Route 140 is an undivided 
arterial roadway, which transitions between 2, 3, and 4 
lanes with larger than average travel lanes (>12 ft) and 
shoulders (>8 ft in some places).  The total length of 
Route 140 through Gardner is 6.36 miles which is 
owned and operated by the State of Massachusetts and 
the City of Gardner for distances of 4.93 miles 
(southern) and 1.43 miles (northern), respectively. A 
typical cross-section for Route 140 is pictured in Figure 2, and some of the major characteristics, 
including crash clusters, for Route 140 are summarized in Figure 3 below. 
 
The LD-RSA for Route 140 was held on May 29, 2007 in the City of Gardner.  In total, 19 team 
members participated in the road safety audit, and as indicated in Table 1, representatives were present 
from Federal, State, Regional and Local agencies and included a cross-section of engineering/planning, 
education, and enforcement expertise.   
  
Table 1 Participating Audit Team Members 

Audit Team Membersa Agency/Affiliation 
Bonnie Polin Massachusetts Highway Department – Safety Section 

Maliha Akhtar Massachusetts Highway Department – Highway Design 
Neil Boudreau Massachusetts Highway Department – Traffic Engineering 
Brian Doherty Montachusett Regional Planning Commission 
George Snow Montachusett Regional Planning Commission 
Michael Ellis Greater Gardner Chamber of Commerce 
Robert Babb Massachusetts Highway Department – District 3 
Tim White Federal Highway Administration 

Robert McCarthy Federal Highway Administration 
Michael Gerry Greater Gardner Chamber of Commerce 
Alan Agnelli Representative Bob Rice’s Office 
Dan Keeney Gardner DCDP 

Mark Johnson Massachusetts Highway Department – District 3 
Paul M. Capps Massachusetts State Police 
Rock Barrieau Gardner Police Department 
Bob Hankinson Gardner City Engineer 

Matthew Stanley City of Gardner, Intern 
Mary Delaney City of Gardner 

Michael Knodler University of Massachusetts - Amherst 
 

Figure 2.  Typical Cross-Section for Route 140 

11317



Page 4 
 

 

 
Figure 3.  Characterization of Roadway Features for Route 140

Cluster of LD crashes 
near Winchendon line 

Location for split of roadway 
control: City road to the north & 

State highway to the south 
Only signalized intersection 
along Route 140 in Gardner 

Cluster of LD crashes 
near Westminster line 

Potential development area 
which may add access 

points to Route 140
Small cluster of LD 

crashes on vertical curve 
between horizontal curves. 
Solar glare may be an issue 

at this location. 

 

Downtown Gardner 

Intersection with potential 
issues related to turning 

vehicles and illumination levels 

11317



Page 5 
 

Given the length of Route 140 through Gardner, audit team members were asked to visit the site in 
advance of the meeting to familiarize themselves with the roadway attributes and characteristics.  A 
copy of the meeting agenda and instructions as well as a packet of pertinent information was 
distributed to meeting invitees prior to the meeting (this information is included in Appendix A of this 
report).  Specifically, the additional information provided was pertinent to the LD-RSA safety 
initiative and included traffic volumes along Route 140 as well as a description of relevant crashes as 
summarized below: 
 

• Figure 4 presents hourly and directional distributions of traffic volumes along Route 140 at 
locations north and south of Matthews Street for an average weekday.  From the compiled data 
collection efforts the maximum average daily traffic (ADT) was 11,842 vpd at the south 
location and 9,198 vpd at the north location.   

• Similar to many roadways, the posted speeds vary along Route 140 in Gardner. Route 140 has 
segments posted at both 40 and 50 mph.  The official speed regulations for Route 140 in 
Gardner are summarized below in Table 2. 

• Between 2/12/03 and 3/20/05 there were 25 reported crashes (2 were later deemed as not 
occurring on Route 140) consistent with the lane departure initiative of which 19 were 
geolocated and presented in Figure 5. A complete summary of the 23 identified crashes over 
the 2-year period is included in Appendix A and was provided to participants prior to the audit 
meeting. Please note that this does not reflect all crashes along Route 140, but those deemed 
relevant to this initiative. 

 
Table 2 Summary of Speed Regulations for Route 140 in Gardner 

 
 
 
Additional resources made available to the team during the audit meeting included field videos from 
several drives along Route 140 which were used in aiding discussion of specific roadway elements. 
Also available were alternative resources including the AASHTO Strategic Highway Safety Plan and 
the related National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) 500 series reports. 
 
 
 

Northbound  Southbound 

State 
Controlled 

Beginning at the  
Westminster line  City 

Controlled 

Beginning at the  
Winchendon line 

1.63 miles at 50 mph  1.43 miles At 50 mph 
0.36 miles at 40 mph  

State 
Controlled 

0.33 miles At 40 mph 
1.44 miles at 50 mph  1.44 miles At 50 mph 
0.33 miles at 40 mph  0.36 miles At 40 mph 

City 
Controlled 

1.43 miles at 50 mph  1.63 miles At 50 mph 
Ending at the       

Winchendon line  Ending at the       
Westminster line 

11317



Page 6 
 

 
Figure 4.  Hourly and Directional Distributions of Volumes for Route 140 

 

 
Figure 5.  2-Year Summary of Route 140 Lane Departure-Related Crashes 

11317



Page 7 
 

 
  3.0 Characterization of Major Traffic Safety Challenges  
 
Following a brief introduction to the RSA process in general, the meeting participants were asked to 
summarize and characterize potential safety considerations along Route 140.  The initial 
characterization of the major safety considerations resulting in lane departure crashes focused on two 
key elements as follows: 
 

• Speed was immediately identified as a primary factor in the operational elements of the 
roadway and in turn a significant factor in roadway crashes.  Speeding was determined to be a 
result, in part, of large lane widths and shoulders as well as the lack of development (i.e. curb 
cuts).  Additionally, it should be noted that many of the motorists travelling along Route 140 
have just exited Route 2 (a major east- west access controlled highway through this section of 
Massachusetts). The Gardner police discussed challenges with enforcing the particular 
roadway, but noted that enforcement efforts are in place.  

• A second major characterization of the crashes along Route 140 involved the weather. Of the 
reported crashes being considered during this RSA, 88 percent of all crashes were deemed 
weather-related. Twenty-one of the crashes occurred during the months of December through 
March.  Also, 13 of the weather-related crashes occurred in the vicinity of a curve along the 
roadway.   

• Other significant factors mentioned at the outset of the meeting that are discussed in further 
detail later in this report also included the following: 

o The skewed signalized intersection at Route 140 and Route 101; 
o The intersection of Route 140 and Matthews Street, including the impact of limited 

turning lanes; 
o Future development of subdivision with access via Route 140. 

 
 

  4.0 Summary of Short Term Recommendations for Route 140   
 
The formal review of potential safety concerns along Route 140 was completed by the entire audit 
team.  Following identification of a potential safety issue the dialogue subsequently focused on 
possible countermeasures with some preliminary discussion regarding the feasibility of implementation 
(timeframe and cost) as well as the potential payoff of safety benefits.  Given the potential for an 
immediate impact there was an added focus on short term (less than 1 year) and low cost (less than 
$10,000) improvements that could be done almost instantaneously resulting in a positive safety impact.  
Resulting recommendations for immediate actions along Route 140 include the following: 
 

• Given the reported prevalence of speed among the lane departure crashes, it is recommended 
that Route 140 continue to remain a high speed enforcement area, especially during winter 
months.  It is also recommended that speed data collection be completed by the City of Gardner 
to track current operating speeds throughout the year; this may also prove useful in the 
establishment of enforcement thresholds.  Similarly, it is recommended that the speed 
regulations described in Table 2 are consistent with the current operating practice.   It is also 
recommended that additional speed signage be provided along the roadway in an effort to 
further reinforce the limits for motorists. 
 

11317



Page 8 
 

• Given the reported prevalence of weather related crashes, 3 specific recommendations include 
the each of the following:  

o Add warning signs along the corridor which alert motorists about the impact of weather 
along the roadway.  It is also recommended that variable message signs (VMS) be used 
periodically during the winter months to remind motorists about weather issues, and to 
be cognizant in the selection of their speeds.  Candidate locations would include Route 
140 near both bordering town lines, and at selected locations in the middle for traffic 
exiting downtown Gardner.  Please note, it is not recommended that the VMS be used 
to suggest roadway speeds as variable speed limits are not 
as of yet permissible in Massachusetts.   

o Assess the exact condition of the pavement from a skid 
resistance perspective.  Specifically, ensure pavement 
provides sufficient skid resistance. 

o Similarly, it is recommended that existing drainage 
characteristics be evaluated. Elements for consideration 
would be the presence of adequate and functional drainage 
features, roadway pavement conditions, and superelevation 
at known ice spots.  

o In the vicinity of the Winchendon line, it is recommended 
that the presence of trees which may be obscuring the 
roadway, resulting in black ice conditions with some 
regularity, be identified and potentially trimmed/removed.  

Assure visible “Curve Ahead” warning signs for each direction of all 
horizontal curves. Signs should be placed in advance of the curve to allow 
adequate response time from motorists.  To further enhance the delineation, 
chevrons and/or possibly roadside reflectors should be considered as 
budget permits.  For example, at the first horizontal curve heading SB from 
the Winchendon town line has a curve ahead sign, but added delineation in 
the curve would provide an added benefit.  

• With respect to signage along the corridor some short term 
recommendations include the following: 

o As noted above, it is recommended that additional speed 
limit signs and weather-related warning signs be added.   

o Additionally, it is recommended that unnecessary signage 
(i.e., extra speed limit sign) near the signal ahead warning 
sign (see inset, top) be removed to make it more visible; the 
sign clutter may cause some motorists to miss the warning 
sign.  

o Another recommendation is that the informational sign 
depicting the Gardner District Court be moved to a higher location (possibly a separate 
posting) as the current location is easily obscured by leading vehicles and possibly by 
snow during the winter months. 

o Continue general sign maintenance.  Although it is common for signs to be knocked 
over, it is important to repair efficiently. 

o Assess the existing condition of current signs to identify faded signs which, in turn, 
should be replaced with an added emphasis on regulatory and warning signs. 

 
 

Figure 6.  Typical 
Roadside Signage 

11317



Page 9 
 

 
  5.0 Summary of Additional Route 140 Countermeasures   
 
Although an emphasis was placed upon short term and low cost improvements that could be carried 
out immediately, the focus of the team was not limited to solely those countermeasures.  The following 
section details countermeasures discussed by the team, which are reflective of all costs and timeframes 
and includes both general (entire corridor) and specific safety opportunities. Please note that with 
respect to the timeframe there are some unknown variables that must be further explored. Additionally, 
some of the potential treatments discussed were experimental in nature resulting in an unknown level 
of safety benefits.  Several definitions exist for low, mid, and high cost as well as for short, mid and 
long term implementation timeframes. For purposes of this report, low cost improvements will be 
under $10,000, mid costs will be under $50,000, and high costs will be above $50,000.  From a 
timeframe perspective short term will refer to less than 1 year while mid and long term will refer to 
countermeasures that will take 1 to 3, and greater than 3 years, respectively.  

11317



Page 10 
 

Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 

Implementation 
Timeframe 

& Cost 
Potential Safety 

Payoff Photos 

Speed-related 
issues along 

entire Route 140 
corridor 

Continue and expand upon a
concentrated enforcement and
educational (i.e. speed feedback,
community meetings, etc) program. 

Short Term & 
Low/Mid Cost Mid  

Consider possible low-cost speed-
related strategies, including
restriping narrower lanes, installing 
optical speed bars, and adding more 
speed limit signs. 

Short Term & 
Low Cost Low 

Distracted or    
drowsy drivers 

Route 140 already has rumble strips
in many locations. Consider rumble 
strips and/or centerline rumble
stripes in  areas along the roadway 
that do not already have rumble
strips. 

Mid Term &  
Mid Cost Mid 

Pavement 
Markings 

Upgrade pavement markings to
enhance delineation through
increased reflectivity.  

Short Term & 
Mid/High Cost Mid 

 

Horizontal curve 
delineation 

Install curve ahead warning signs,
chevrons and possibly roadside
reflectors for horizontal curves. 

Short Term & 
Low/Mid Cost Mid 

 

11317



Page 11 
 

Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 

Implementation 
Timeframe 

& Cost 
Potential 

Safety Payoff Photos

Edge drop-off  
at roadside 

Maintain and fill roadside as needed
to prevent edge drop-off. Current 
locations may exist north of Route 
101. 

Short Term &  
Low Cost Low 

Current operation  
of existing  

auxiliary lanes 

Add warning signs at locations
where drivers should be watching
for turning vehicles.  

Short Term &  
Low Cost Low 

 

For auxiliary lanes for turning
purposes, add lane usage
information including both roadway
symbols and signage. 

Short Term  
& Low Cost 

 
Low 

Weather-related 
crashes along the 

Route 140 corridor 

Add warning signs alerting motorists
of possible weather impacts.
Employ a VMS periodically during
the winter months to remind
motorists about weather issues. 

Short Term & 
Low Cost Mid 

 

 

Assess pavement condition from a
skid resistance perspective.   

Short Term &  
Low Cost N/A 

Near Winchendon line, identify trees 
obscuring the roadway and
contributing to black ice conditions, 
and potentially trim/remove. 

Short Term &  
Low Cost Low 

WINTER 
WEATHER 

11317



Page 12 
 

Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 

Implementation 
Timeframe 

& Cost 
Potential 

Safety Payoff Photos 

Sign efficiency 

Either relocate signal ahead warning
sign or signs around it. Current
cluster of signs may force driver to
miss the warning sign. 

Short Term & 
Low Cost Low  

Change location or elevate the 
Gardner District Court sign as it is
easily obscured by leading vehicles
and possibly by snow during winter
months. 

Short Term & 
Low/Mid Cost N/A  

Update worn and faded signs
(emphasis on regulatory and
warning), and continually perform
sign maintenance. 

Short Term & 
Low Cost Low 

 

Guard rail upgrades 

In areas with guard rail, upgrade the 
existing end treatments to crash
cushion model (some sections
already equipped, see figure, right). 

Mid Term & 
Mid/High Cost Low 

 

Dark stretches of 
Roadway in the 

vicinity of Green 
Street and Matthews 

Street 

Consider exploration of or
improvement of roadway lighting.  

Long Term & 
Mid/High Cost Low 

 
Ensure retroreflective signage at
these intersections to improve
conspicuity.  

Short Term & 
Low Cost Low/Mid 

11317



Page 13 
 

Potential 
Safety Issue Possible Countermeasures 

Implementation 
Timeframe 

& Cost 
Potential 

Safety Payoff Photos 

Continued 
maintenance 

The pavement condition is in
excellent condition from the
Westminster town line through the
intersection with Route 101 and
decreases considerably beyond that.
This area should be the focus of
continued maintenance such as
removal of brush, edge drop-off 
repairs and overall pavement repairs.
Specifically, to assure safety this 
needs to be maintained. 

Short Term & 
Low Cost Low 

Drainage 

Evaluate existing drainage features
to assure adequate drainage.  During 
winter months assure all catch basins
remain clear. 

Short Term & 
Low Cost Low/Mid  

Unsignalized 
intersection at 

Matthews Street 

Safety recommendations to be
considered at this location include
dedicated turn lanes for left turns
from Route 140 NB and right turns
from Route 140 SB (may require
reconfiguration of climbing lane).   

Mid Term & 
Mid/High Cost Low/Mid   

11317



Page 14 
 

  6.0 Discussion   
 
With respect to the safety improvement opportunities described in the previous section it is important 
to consider the following: 1) many treatments are both low cost and short term and 2) there is a 
complimentary nature of many of the safety strategies in that one improvement will aid with multiple 
safety issues.   Please note that although this document provides a series of specific recommendations 
which warrant short term implementation, the approach towards improved safety is dynamic in nature 
and warrants revisiting over time.   
 
Several additional topics that were discussed at the audit meeting and warrant consideration include the 
following: 
 

• Because of the number of weather related crashes, the RSA team determined that drivers 
familiar with the roadway were not intuitively aware of potential weather issues and were 
driving at normal operating speeds.  It is the belief of the RSA team that if variable speed limits 
become permissible, or are even experimented within Massachusetts, this would be an ideal 
candidate location.  

• During the RSA meeting one long term high cost strategy discussed was the possibility of 
making the entire stretch of Route 140 a two-lane divided roadway.  Although it is 
recommended that this be considered, this would need to be studied in much greater detail to 
identify the operational impacts. 

• There was also some discussion during the RSA meeting about the possibility of making Route 
140 through Gardner a required daytime headlight use area.   

• A proposed housing development is currently planned along Route 140 (near the Winchendon 
line).  The RSA team feels that it is imperative for access issues to be definitively addressed for 
this and future developments to assure the safety of motorists along Route 140.  Specifically, 
the RSA team strongly preferred that curb cuts be minimized along Route 140.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11317



Page 15 
 

  7.0 Appendix A: Distributed RSA Meeting Materials   
  

Materials provided to RSA team members in advance of the meeting included the following: 
 

1. Agenda  
2. RSA and Lane Departure Introduction  
3. Tabulated Crash Summary 
4. Map of Geolocated Crashes 
5. MRPC Summary of Volumes  
6. LD-RSA Checklist  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11317



Page 16 
 

 
 

 
 

 Road Safety Audit for Route 140
Meeting Location:  34 Pearly Lane   

Gardner, MA  
Tuesday, May 29, 2007 
10:00 AM to 12:00 PM 

 
 

Type of meeting: Lane Departure – Road Safety Audit 
Attendees: Invited Participants to Comprise a Multidisciplinary Team 
Please bring: Thoughts and Enthusiasm!! 
 

10:00 AM Welcome and Introductions 

10:15 AM Introduction to Road Safety Audits and Lane Departure Crashes 

10:30 AM Review of Site Specific Material 
• Crash & Volume – provided in advance 

• Existing Geometries and Conditions 

• Video and Images  

11:00 AM Completion of RSA  
• Identification of Safety Concerns – using checklists as a guide 

• Identification of Possible Countermeasures  

12:00 PM Adjourn for the Day – but the RSA has not ended 

 
  Instructions for Participants: 

• Before attending the RSA on May 29th participants are encouraged to drive Route 
140 within Gardner, MA and complete/consider elements on the RSA advisory 
checklist with a focus on safety factors affecting roadway departure crashes. 

• All participants will be actively involved in the process throughout.  Participants 
are encouraged to come with thoughts and ideas, but are reminded that the 
synergy that develops and respect for others’ opinions are key elements to the 
success of the overall RSA process. 

• After the initial RSA meeting, participants will be asked to comment and respond 
to the document materials to assure it is reflective of the RSA completed by the 
multidisciplinary team. 

 

11317



Page 17 
 

 
An Introduction to Road Safety Audits & Lane Departure Crashes in Mass.chusetts 

The Federal Highway Administration defines a Road Safety Audit (RSA) as the formal safety 
examination of an existing or future road or intersection by an independent, multidisciplinary team. 
The purpose of an RSA is to identify potential safety issues and possible opportunities for safety 
improvements considering all roadway users.  Specific objectives of an RSA include, but are not 
limited to the following: 

• Minimize the risk and severity of road crashes that may be affected by the existing or future 
roadway at a specific location or nearby network; 

• Improve the awareness of safe design practices which are likely to result in safety benefits 
based upon potential safety concerns. 

Although RSA’s have been employed in other countries for some time, they are being fully embraced 
across the United States as a low cost opportunity to make significant safety improvements at any 
number of stages ranging from project development and planning through existing operation.  
Furthermore, RSA’s have proven to be effective on projects of all shapes and sizes.  The RSA program 
here in the Commonwealth presents a unique and exciting opportunity for improvements in roadway 
safety. 

The RSA program in Massachusetts is being implemented in accordance with the Commonwealth’s 
role as a Lead State in preventing run-off the road (lane departure) crashes and in conjunction with the 
Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP).  Lane departure crashes are a notable problem area for 
Massachusetts, especially for crashes with higher injury severities.  Between 2002 and 2004, lane 
departure crashes accounted for nearly 20 percent of all crashes in Massachusetts and approximately 
one-quarter of crashes involving an incapacitating injury.   Almost one-half of fatal crashes between 
2002 and 2004 were lane departure crashes.  As the crash severity increases, so does the percent of 
crashes that are lane departures as shown in the figure below. 

Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004

Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004

All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004

Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes

18.7% 24.5% 46.2%

Massachusetts Fatal Crashes, 2002-
2004

Massachusetts Incapacitating 
Injury Crashes, 2002-2004

All Massachusetts Crashes, 
2002-2004

Lane Departure Crashes Other Crashes

18.7% 24.5% 46.2%

 
 
 
In an effort to combat the lane departure problem, a strategy was developed for the SHSP to identify 
hot spot lane departure location, perform road safety audits and implement low-cost comprehensive 
countermeasures.    

11317



Page 18 
 

Crash 
CRASH 
DATE 

MAP 
(Y/N) Direction Object Struck 

Curve 
(Y / N) 

WEATHER 
1 WEATHER 2 

SURFACE 
TYPE CRASH LOCATION 

1 2/12/2003 Y N/S vehicle Y snow snow ROUTE 140 (#1490) 
2 2/17/2003 Y S snow bank N snow snow ROUTE 140/CHAPEL STREET 

3 2/23/2003 Y S snow bank Y snow 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain ice ROUTE 140 BY KELTON ST. OVERPASS 
4 2/24/2003 N snow bank N snow snow ROUTE 140 

5 4/4/2003 Y S embankment N cloudy 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain ice ROUTE 140/CHAPEL STREET 

6 4/5/2003 N/S vehicle Y rain 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain slush ROUTE 140 

7 12/8/2003 Y N/N vehicle N-merge cloudy snow snow ROUTE 140/COLONY ROAD 

8 12/12/2003 Y S/S vehicle N-merge clear dry 
ROUTE 140 (at merge from 2 to 1 lane per 
direction SB) 

9 12/15/2003 S/S 
vehicle/snow 

bank Y cloudy ice ROUTE 140 
10 1/5/2004 N guardrail N rain slush ROUTE 140 

11 3/9/2004 Y S guardrail N cloudy ice ROUTE 140 (NORTH OF MATTHEW ST) 

12 8/12/2004 Y N embankment N rain wet ROUTE 140/300 FT S OF SMITH STREET 

13 12/6/2004 Y N/S vehicle Y snow 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain ice GREEN STREET/ROUTE 140 (N of Green) 

14 1/5/2005 Y S embankment Y snow 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain ice ROUTE 140 (by the prison) 

15 1/6/2005 S vehicle Y snow 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain snow ROUTE 140 

16 1/12/2005 Y S embankment Y 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain snow slush ROUTE 140  (by Winchendon town  line) 

17 1/13/2005 Y N guardrail Y 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain ice 
ROUTE 140/500 FT S OF STONE STREET 
EXT 

18 1/26/2005 Y N/S vehicle N snow snow GREEN STREET/300 FT N OF EATON ST 

19 2/10/2005 Y S guardrail Y 
sleet, hail, 

freezing rain snow snow 
ROUTE 140/300 FT FROM CHAPEL 
STREET 

20 2/12/2005 Y N 
utility pole 

support wire Y cloudy snow wet ROUTE 140/500 FT S OF WINCHENDON TL 

21 2/23/2005 Y S 
utility pole 

support wire Y clear wet ROUTE 140 (near Winchendon town line) 

22 3/1/2005 Y 
W (N in 
diagram) guardrail N cloudy slush 

ROUTE 140/100 FT N OF RAILROAD 
BRIDGE 

23 3/1/2005 S overturned Y cloudy snow snow ROUTE 140/150 S OF MASS ELEC. POLE 41 
24 3/20/2005 Y S/S/N vehicle N-merge cloudy dry ROUTE 140/1000 FT S OF MATTHEWS ST. 
25 7/21/2005 Y S/S vehicle N-merge clear dry 829 GREEN STREET (not on 140) 

 

11317



Page 19 
 

Crash BRIEF SUMMARY/NARRATIVE 
1 • LOST CONTROL IN SNOW & CROSSED OVER CENTER LINE 
2 • LOST CONTROL AND WENT INTO SNOW BANK 
3 • LOST CONTROL DUE TO EXCESSIVE ICE ON ROADWAY.  SPUN INTO ONCOMING LANE. 
4 • SLID INTO ONCOMING LANE AND STOPPED IN A SNOW BANK ON OPPOSITE SIDE OF ROAD 
5 • LOST CONTROL DUE TO POOR WEATHER & ROAD CONDITIONS.   SLID OFF THE ROAD & INTO EMBANKMENT 
6 • LOST CONTROL AND WENT ONCOMING LANE & HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE 
7 • VEHICLES COLLIDED AS THE LANES THEY WERE DRIVING IN MERGED 

8 
• SPUN OUT OF CONTROL AFTER HITTING ANOTHER VEHICLE IN A FAILED ATTEMPT TO GET AHEAD OF OTHER VEHICLE WHEN THE 

LANES MERGED 
9 • 2 VEHICLES CRASHED WHEN THEY WERE TRYING TO AVOID A 3RD VEHICLE THAT WAS SPINNING OUT OF CONTROL 

10 • OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE WHICH SPUN OUT OF CONTROL AND CROSSED OVER INTO ONCOMING LANE. 
11 • OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE AND STRUCK GUARDRAIL 
12 • HYDROPLANED THROUGH A PUDDLE, CROSSED ACROSS THE ONCOMING LANE AND THEN LANDED IN AN EMBANKMENT 

13 
• OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE DUE TO HORRENDOUS ROAD CONDITIONS.  VEHICLE CROSSED INTO ONCOMING LANE AND HIT 

ANOTHER VEHICLE HEAD ON. 
14 • VEHICLE FISHTAILED AS A RESULT OF DEPLORABLE ROAD CONDITIONS & WENT OFF THE SIDE OF ROAD 

15 
• RESULT OF ONE VEHICLE ATTEMPTING TO PASS ANOTHER VEHICLE IN BAD DRIVING CONDITIONS.  HIT VEHICLE WENT ACROSS THE 

MEDIAN AND INTO THE OPPOSITE LANE & EVENTUALLY HIT THE GUARDRAIL ON THAT SIDE 
16 • VEHICLE OUT OF CONTROL BECAUSE IT HIT A PATCH OF ICE.  VEHICLE WENT OFF THE SHOULDER & HIT A SNOW EMBANKMENT. 

17 
• LOST CONTROL & FISHTAILED DUE TO ICY ROAD.   CROSSED CL, STRUCK A GUARDRAIL, THEN RECROSSED THE CL & RAN OFF ROAD 

DOWN AN EMBANKMENT. 
18 • VEHICLE WAS TRYING TO MAKE IT UP A HILL BUT THE CAR KEPT SLIPPING AND HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE 
19 • OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE AND SLID INTO ANOTHER VEHICLE 
20 • VEHICLE SLID INTO & ACROSS ONCOMING LANE AS A RESULT OF SPEEDING. 

21 
• DRIVER CLAIMED THAT SHE SKID OFF OF ROAD DUE TO WET GROUND.  OFFICER BELIEVES THAT SHE WAS INATTENTIVE AND DROVE 

OFF THE ROAD. 
22 • VEHICLE SLID INTO ONCOMING LANE AND HIT A GUARDRAIL AS A RESULT OF SLIPPERY ROAD CONDITIONS 

23 
• OPERATOR LOST CONTROL OF VEHICLE DUE TO WEATHER & POSSIBLE ALCOHOL INGESTION.  VEHICLE SPUN OUT ON CONTROL, RAN 

OFF THE ROADWAY RIGHT, AND OVERTURNED. 

24 
• CRASH OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF ONE VEHICLE CUTTING OFF ANOTHER DUE TO LANE MERGE.  THE VEHICLE BEING CUT OFF HIT 

THE BRAKES AND WENT INTO ONCOMING LANES AND HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE.  THAT VEHICLE THEN HIT ANOTHER VEHICLE. 

25 
• OPERATOR DROVE VEHICLE IN FRONT OF ANOTHER WHEN TRYING TO CHANGE DIRECTION IN ORDER TO PICK UP A TURTLE ON THE 

ROAD 

11317



Page 20 
 

11317



Page 21 
 

Route 140 South of Mathews Street Raw count 
weekday average May 1, 2007 

Route 140 North of Mathews Street Raw count 
weekday average May 1, 2007 

Raw count weekday average May 1, 2007 Raw count weekday average May 1, 2007 

Start Time 

Rte 140 S. of Matthews 
St. 

Rte 140 N. of Matthews 
St. 

NB SB Total Start Time NB SB Total
12:00 AM 66 20 86 12:00 AM 76 21 97
1:00 AM 33 16 49 1:00 AM 31 13 44
2:00 AM 25 16 41 2:00 AM 32 14 46
3:00 AM 22 38 60 3:00 AM 15 33 48
4:00 AM 37 107 144 4:00 AM 27 98 125
5:00 AM 83 316 399 5:00 AM 54 301 355
6:00 AM 174 619 793 6:00 AM 120 566 686
7:00 AM 361 628 989 7:00 AM 191 560 751
8:00 AM 383 390 773 8:00 AM 218 335 553
9:00 AM 338 334 672 9:00 AM 218 269 487

10:00 AM 297 275 572 10:00 AM 185 207 392
11:00 AM 292 300 592 11:00 AM 213 210 423

12 noon 300 295 595 12 noon 226 211 437
1:00 PM 292 332 624 1:00 PM 219 230 449
2:00 PM 375 344 719 2:00 PM 300 241 541
3:00 PM 534 338 872 3:00 PM 402 242 644
4:00 PM 604 340 944 4:00 PM 470 234 704
5:00 PM 665 325 990 5:00 PM 529 232 761
6:00 PM 390 259 649 6:00 PM 353 185 538
7:00 PM 235 178 413 7:00 PM 216 116 332
8:00 PM 170 143 313 8:00 PM 180 95 275
9:00 PM 141 99 240 9:00 PM 147 64 211

10:00 PM 102 80 182 10:00 PM 101 72 173
11:00 PM 92 39 131 11:00 PM 96 30 126

6011 5831 11842 4619 4579 9198
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11317



Page 22 
 

 

GEOMETRIC DESIGN 

Issue Comment 

A. Speed – (Design Speed; Speed Limit & Zoning; Sight Distance; Overtaking 
Are there speed-related issues along the corridor?  
Please consider the following elements: 

• Horizontal and vertical alignment; 
• Posted and advisory speeds 
• Driver compliance with speed limits 
• Approximate sight distance 
• Safety passing opportunities 

 

B. Road alignment and cross section  
With respect to the roadway alignment and cross-
section please consider the appropriateness of the 
following elements: 

• Functional class (Urban Principal Arterial) 
• Delineation of alignment; 
• Widths (lanes, shoulders, medians); 
• Sight distance for access points; 
• Cross-slopes 
• Curbs and gutters 
Drainage features 

 

C. Intersections 
For intersections along the corridor please consider all 
potential safety issues.  Some specific considerations 
should include the following: 

• Intersections fit alignment (i.e. curvature) 
• Traffic  control devices’’ alert motorists as 

necessary 
• Sight distance and sight lines seem appropriate 
• Vehicles can safely slow/stop for turns 
• Conflict point management 
• Adequate spacing for various vehicle types 
Capacity problems that result in safety problems 

 

D. Auxiliary lanes 
• Do auxiliary lanes appear to be adequate?  
• Could the taper locations and alignments be 

causing safety deficiencies? 
• Are should widths at merges causing safety 

deficiencies?  

 

11317



Page 23 
 

E. Clear zones and crash barriers 
For the roadside the major considerations are clear 
zone issues and crash barriers.  Consider the following: 

• Do there appear to be clear zones issues? 
⎯ Are hazards located too close the road?  
⎯ Are side slopes acceptable? 

• Are suitable crash barriers (i.e, guard rails, 
curbs, etc.) appropriate for minimizing crash 
severity? 

• Barrier features: end treatments, visibility, etc. 

 

F. Bridges and culverts – (if necessary) 
Are there specific issues related to bridges and culverts 
that may result in safety concerns?  

G. Pavement – (Defects, Skid Resistance, and Flooding) 
• Is the pavement free of defects including 

excessive roughness or rutting, potholes, loose 
material, edge drop-offs, etc.) that could result 
in safety problems (for example, loss of 
steering control)? 

• Does the pavement appear to have adequate 
skid resistance, particularly on curves, step 
grades and approaches to intersections? 

• Is the pavement free of areas where flooding or 
sheet flow of water could contribute to safety 
problems? 

• In general, is the pavement quality sufficient 
for safe travel of heavy and oversized vehicles? 

 

H. Lighting (Lighting and Glare) 
It is important to consider to the impacts of lighting. 

Some specifics include the following: 
Is lighting required and, if so, has it been 

adequately provided? 
Are there glare issues resulting from headlights 

during night time operations or from sunlight? 

 

11317



Page 24 
 

 

TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES  

Issue Comment 

I. Signs  
Signage is a critical element in providing a safe 
roadway environment. Please consider the following: 

• Are all current signs visible (consider both 
night and day)? Are they conspicuous and 
clear? Are the correct signs used for each 
situation? 

 

• Does the retroreflectivity or illumination appear 
satisfactory? 

• Are there any concerns regarding sign 
supports? 

 

J. Traffic signals 
Although the focus of this RSA are lane departures, 
this does present an opportunity for us to consider any 
traffic signals. Specifically: 

• If present, do the traffic signals appear to be 
designed, installed, and operating correctly? 

• Is the controller located in a safe position? 
(where it is unlikely to be hit, but maintenance 
access is safe) 

• Is there adequate sight distance to the ends of 
possible vehicle queues? 

 

  

K. Marking and delineation 
• Is the line marking and delineation: 

⎯ appropriate for the function of the road? 
⎯ consistent along the route? 
⎯ likely to be effective under all expected 

conditions? (day, night, wet, dry, fog, rising 
and setting sun, oncoming headlights, etc.) 

• Are centerlines, edgelines, and lane lines 
provided? If not, do drivers have adequate 
guidance? 

 

11317



Page 25 
 

 

ROADWAY ACTIVITY 

Issue Comment 
With respect to roadway activity please consider safety 
elements related to the following: 

• Pedestrians 
• Bicycles 
• Public transportation vehicles and riders 
• Emergency vehicles 
• Commercial vehicles 
• Slow moving vehicles 

 

 

 

 
 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Issue Comment 

Weather & Animals 
From an environmental perspective it is important to 
consider any potential impacts. Most notably is likely 
to be the impacts of weather or animals, including: 

 

• Possible effects of rain, fog, snow, ice, wind on 
design features. 

• Has snow fall accumulation been considered in 
the design (storage, sight distance around 
snowbanks, etc.)? 

• Are there any known animal travel/migration 
routes in surrounding areas which could affect 
design? 

 

  

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



VOTE 

Shall a track of land located within the limits of the City of Gardner, now owned by the GAAMHA, 

Inc., located at 827 Green Street, comprising approximately 114 acres also identified as assessors 

lot number R42/21/1// and more particularly described in Worcester Registry of Deeds 

Book 63792 and Page 211 and situated on the easterly side of Route 140, otherwise called Green 

Street, be approved as the location of a running horse racing track where race meetings laid out 

and conducted by licensees under M.G.L c. 128A will be held or conducted? 

11317



Exhibit 1

11317



Exhibit 1(a)

11317



11317



Exhibit 1(b)

11317



JUNE 17, 2024

A place for breeding, training, and 
racing of horses since 1875

11317



Gardner: A Destination for 
Horse Racing in the Region
Gardner’s legacy of horses and racing dates back to the 1870s. Local 
physician Dr. Robert Foster Andrews created what was then called Andrews 
Park on the current site of GAAHMA on Route 140. The first horse race was 
held on Saturday, September 26, 1875 with more than 600 attendees. 
Andrews Park was the site of the Mid-State Fair held every year through the 
1920s.

After the Mid-State Fair, the Gardner Agricultural Society and the Gardner 
Chamber of Commerce started the Agricultural Fair over Columbus Day 
Weekend, featuring livestock shows featuring cattle, horses and poultry, 
agricultural and horticultural exhibits, horse pulls, track and field events, and 
horse racings.

Gardner Raceways held an eight race matinee with 1,000 attendees in 1953. 
One hundred years after the creation of Andrews Park, Leonard LeBlanc began 
housing horses that he trained and raced at the track. He was one of the top 
trainers in New England at the time. 

Gardner Equestrian Center brings the legacy of this location full circle by 
providing thoroughbred horses a place to breed, train, race and retire. 

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 2

11317



Our Vision
Continuing the tradition of using this site as a horse 
farm and racing facility for thoroughbred and 
standard horses. A year-round equestrian facility for 
all to learn about and enjoy farming and horses:

• Breeding program
• Training facilities
• Off-track retirement
• Agricultural and equestrian festivals 
• Agricultural programs for local students 
• Thoroughbred racing
• Therapy programs for individuals in recovery
• Hayfields and vegetable gardens, and 

livestock such as chickens and pigs
Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 3

11317



Initial Site Concept Plan (subject to local & state review)

4

11317



Massachusetts’ Challenge
• 8 acres of farmland is lost every day.
• According to the United State Department of 

Agriculture, Massachusetts ranks 6th for 
disappearing open space.

• Due to the lack of breeding programs in 
Massachusetts, only one stallion and 20 foals 
were born over the last five years.

• Bay State Park will help sustain the activities 
that will occur during the rest of the year, such 
as breeding, haying and other farm activities. 
These activities go hand-in-hand. 

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 5

11317



Equine Facility

• Our facility will be the premier facility
for thoroughbreds to breed, train,
race, and retire.

• Thoroughbred breeding program
• Therapy programs for individuals
• Place for off-track thoroughbreds

to live in a safe, healthy and
nurturing environment

• Training facilities for
thoroughbred owners and
trainers

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
6

11317



Breeding Program

• We will have a robust breeding 
program to increase the 
thoroughbred horse population. 

• The cost associated raising a 
foal is at a minimum between 
$35-50,000. 

• Not every thoroughbred horse 
will participate in racing. Other 
career options include eventing, 
dressage, jumping, polo, or on 
local farms for riding and 
therapeutic riding.  

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
7

11317



Retirement

• Incorporate a retirement facility 
for retired Massachusetts bred 
thoroughbred horses to start 
their second careers.

• Working with the New England 
HPBA, a percentage of all race 
purses will be dedicated 
towards thoroughbred aftercare 
and rescue.  

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
8

11317



Thoroughbred Festival Racing

• Competitive horse racing events 
supported by thoroughbred owners, 
breeders and trainers from 
Massachusetts and the surrounding 
regions.

• City receives state funding.

• Onsite wagering only at thoroughbred 
race meets at temporary kiosk. 93% of 
gaming occurs online off-site.

• Track eligible for state funding through 
the Race Horse Development Fund.

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
9

11317



Supporting Local Agriculture
• Preserve and protect 1,200 horse and hay farms around 

Massachusetts.
• Collaborate with surrounding farms while supporting 

local breeders, horse owners, farriers and veterinarians 
to encourage economic activity and strengthen local 
agricultural economy.

• Every horse that races preserves a farm and requires a 
minimum of seven jobs. 

• Revenues from racing assist in preserving the land, 
breeding thoroughbreds, and operating the race meet.

• Brings new local and statewide revenue to Gardner, 
providing new benefits for the city and agricultural 
community.

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 10

11317



The Massachusetts Equine Economy

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
11

The equine industry and 
family farming 
contributes thousands 
of jobs in Massachusetts 
for breeding, racing, and 
sporting events, 
particularly in our most 
economically challenged 
rural communities. 

11317



12

Current View of the Massachusetts Equine Economy
11317



The Massachusetts Model

“…the development of a Massachusetts 
Model horse park represents a significant 
economic opportunity for the 
Commonwealth…The annual economic 
impact is expected to approach $99 
million and lead to the creation of more 
than 950 jobs throughout 
Massachusetts. 

Economic activity resulting from the 
facility’s development would also 
generate an additional $5 million in state 
and local tax revenues per year."

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
13

Dr. John Mullin, Emeritus Professor 
Regional Planning at the 

University of Massachusetts Amherst

11317



14Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024

“From 2012 to 2021, according to the 
Massachusetts Department of Agricultural 
Resources (MDAR), new foals born in 
Massachusetts dropped from 34 to just 2 in 
2021.

The negative birth rates of thoroughbred foals 
were entirely borne by Massachusetts 
thoroughbred breeders and owners and that 
decline has contributed to the financial peril 
of Massachusetts breeding farms.

The Massachusetts Thoroughbred Breeder’s 
Association supports the establishment of 
thoroughbred racing in Gardner because we 
understand that connection between racing 
and breeding and haying farms.”

Arlene Brown, Secretary

“Gardner is about preserving our rural 
economy, our farms and a way of life that will 
disappear forever if we don’t protect it and act 
now. Gardner Equestrian Center helps protect 
1,200 horse farms around Massachusetts. 

This project has wide support among horse 
owners, breeders, and enthusiasts as a 
catalyst to sustain and grow farms and horse 
operations across the Commonwealth.”

Anthony Spadea, Jr., President

11317



Protecting the health and safety of our horses

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
15

Massachusetts leads the nation for the 
health and safety of horses:

• Any owner/trainer who violated anti-doping 
rules is permanently banned from racing in 
Massachusetts. 

• Working with the NE HBPA, it is our goal that 
every retired horse finds a second career or 
an after-care home for after its racing 
career. 

• Any owner or trainer who sells their horse for 
slaughter is banned for life. 

11317



Protecting the health and safety of our horses

Here are the measures that will further protect the health and safety of these 
racehorses:
• Before every race, horses will be medically examined by a qualified and 

independent vet who is under the control of the state. If the vet has any concern 
about the ability of the horse to run safely or has reason to believe they have 
received any banned substance, they alone can disqualify that horse;

• If that horse has been disqualified for receiving a banned substance, under our 
rules that the trainer will be permanently banned from racing at our track (and 
in Massachusetts);

• We will build a surface to ensure greater safety for the horses as it is well known 
that turf is safer and gentler for the horse and results in fewer racing injuries.

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
16

11317



Protecting the health and safety of our horses

• Thoroughbred racing in Massachusetts is highly regulated under the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission and its Horse Racing Committee;

• We will build into our engineering design a 24/7 video monitoring system that 
will capture all our barns and stalls to detect any violation of anti-doping rules. 
This monitoring will also include additional undisclosed security measures;

• We will take proceeds from our race day purses and put it towards the aftercare 
and wellbeing of our racehorses;

• We will work with HISA (Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority) which was 
just established in July of 2022 that is working to set a standard for all tracks to 
follow.

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
17

11317



Community Partnerships

• Collaborating with GAAMHA on 
equestrian training for clients and 
providing retired racehorses for 
therapeutic programs.

• Partnering with Mount Wachusett 
Community College Pathway for 
Jobs, and around agricultural and 
veterinarian tech training 
modules.

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024
18

11317



Benefits for Gardner
• Helps drive ongoing economic 

revitalization in the city bringing in new 
patrons for local restaurants and small 
businesses. 

• Agricultural collaborations and programs 
with Mount Wachusett Community College 
and GAAMHA.

• Creates a venue for functions and events.
• $25 million in new capital investment. 
• Creates 15-25 permanent and more than 

100 temporary jobs in the community. 
• Millions of dollars in new revenue from the 

sale of property, real estate and gaming 
taxes, and community benefits to the City 
of Gardner. 

• Preserves open space and connects with 
the North Central Pathway.

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 19

11317



Community Process
• Community meetings and public input
• Approval of site for thoroughbred racing
• Execution of Host Community Agreement 
• Application to Massachusetts Gaming 

Commission (MGC)
• Hearing by MGC in Gardner on application 
• Adjudicatory Hearing & Suitability by MGC
• MGC vote on application 
• Gardner permitting process, including the 

Conservation Commission
• Application for a building permit
• Annual report to Mayor and Council on facility 

operations

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 20

11317



Thank you

Baystate Racing, LLC

marykate@baystateracingllc.com

www.baystateracingllc.com

Baystate Racing, LLC | June 17, 2024 21

11317



Exhibit 1(c)

11317



Bay State Park Frequently Asked Questions 

Why Gardner and this location on Route 140? 

Gardner is known as the Chair City. But nearly 150 years ago, Gardner started to emerge as the premier 
destination for horse breeding, training, and racing in the state. Local physician Dr. Robert Foster Andrews 
created what was then called Andrews Park on the site currently managed by GAAHMA, Inc. on Route 140. The 
first horse race was on September 26, 1875 with more than 600 attendees. Over the course of the next several 
decades, the site also became the location of the Mid-State Fair, and the Agricultural Fair sponsored by the 
Gardner Agricultural Society and the Gardner Chamber of Commerce. The fairs featured featuring livestock 
shows featuring cattle, horses and poultry, agricultural and horticultural exhibits, horse pulls, track and field 
events, and horse racings.  

In later years, Leonard LeBlanc, one of the top trainers in New England, bought the farm to raise and train his 
horses. More recently, under the guidance of GAAMHA, the location has become a place for those with substance 
user disorder and mental health needs to find therapy and recovery while taking care of the farm and its animals.  

Bay State Park brings the legacy of this location full circle by providing thoroughbred horses a place to breed, 
train, race and retire.  

What activities are planned for Bay State Park? 
Our proposal continues the tradition of using this site as a horse farm and racing facility. It will be a year-round 
equestrian facility for all to learn about and enjoy farming and horses, with activities including: 

• Breeding program
• Training facilities
• Off-track retirement
• Agricultural and equestrian festivals
• Agricultural programs for local students
• Thoroughbred racing and wagering
• Therapy programs for individuals in recovery
• Hayfields and vegetable gardens, and livestock such as chickens and pigs

GAAHMA has two pregnant mares currently on their farm. Breeding on this site is not a thing of the past – it is 
happening today, and we plan on continuing for the future. Not every thoroughbred horse will participate in 
racing. Other career options include eventing, dressage, jumping, polo, or on local farms for riding and 
therapeutic riding.   

After a racing career, horses start their “second career”, which can be in therapy, riding lessons, for example. 
Our retirement facility for retired Massachusetts bred thoroughbred horses will train them for this next stage of 
their lives in a healthy and nurturing environment. Working with the New England HPBA, a percentage of all 
race purses will be dedicated towards thoroughbred aftercare and rescue.   

As the property is a neighbor of the North Central Pathway, we will do our part in preserving and maintaining the 
open space around the trail. 

11317



 
Where will the jockeys, trainers and groomers stay during race days? 
Jockeys and trainers will stay at local hotels and inns. Groomers will be staying on project in temporary quarters 
in close proximity to the horses.  
 
Will there be housing at the facility? 
We will use the existing house on site for a caretaker home for on-site, round the clock, staff and veterinarian use 
for the care of stabled horses and grounds. These individuals are the only ones who are living on site to ensure 
the health and safety of the horses, and the safety of Bay State Park.  
 
 
How many days will there be festival 
racing?  
We will race up to 20 days a year. While the 
Legislature has set an aspirational goal of 20 
days of live racing per year, it recognized the 
practical challenges in achieving this goal and 
gave the Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
clear authority to “waive this requirement as 
necessary and appropriate to ensure the 
financial ability of the licensee to develop and 
operate a race track.”  
 
Further, we commit to include in the Host 
Community Agreement an annual review of 
the number of days and specific dates of racing 
prior to filing our annual application for a 
Racing Meeting License, including your approval of plans for non-racing operations, parking, marketing, and 
hiring of workers. 
 
Live wagering will only occur on festival days. However, more than 93% of wagering takes place on people's 
cell phones. Gardner will benefit through those revenues even without the overwhelming majority of wages not 
taking place at Bay State Park. 
 
 
I have heard stories about the health and safety of horses. How will you keep them safe?  
Our proposal is developed by horse and agricultural enthusiasts. The proposal is focused on preserving this 
beautiful open space for future generations and includes thoroughbred breeding and off-track thoroughbred 
retirement programs, training and racing facilities for thoroughbreds, an agricultural program for local students. 
 
We will work with the Horseracing Integrity and Safety Authority (HISA). HISA was established by the federal 
government in July 2022 to bring independent oversight and ensuring a consistent level of care for horses across 
the entire sport.  
 
Our focus is ensuring Bay State Park is an ecosystem of care – from birth to careers to retirement. Working with 
local veterinarians and animal medical schools, we will keep our horses healthy, safe and fit to run. Members of 
our team are top experts in the horse industry in Massachusetts and the country. With their guidance and insight 
on the latest technology and best practices, we will maintain optimal racing and training surface conditions.   
 
Our project has the full backing of the New England Horsemen’s Benevolent and Protective Association 
(NEBPA) and the Massachusetts Horse Breeders Association (MHBA).  

11317



Massachusetts leads the national for the health and safety of horses with strong anti-doping and anti-slaughter 
rules. At Bay State Park, any owner or trainer who violates anti-doping rules is permanently banned from racing 
in Massachusetts. Any owner or trainer who sells their horse for 
slaughter is banned for life.   

Working with the NEBPA, it is our goal that every retired horse finds a 
second career or an after-care home for after its racing career. Proceeds 
from our race day purses will be put towards the aftercare and 
wellbeing of our horses. 

Thoroughbred racing in Massachusetts is highly regulated under the 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission and its Horse Racing Committee. 

Before every race, horses will be medically examined by a qualified 
and independent veterinarian, who is under the authority of the state. If 
the veterinarian has any concern about the ability of the horse to run 
safely or has reason to believe they have received any banned 
substance, they alone can disqualify that horse.  

We will build into our engineering design a 24/7 video monitoring 
system that will capture all our barns and stalls to detect any violation 
of anti-doping rules. This monitoring will also include additional 
undisclosed security measures.  

We want Bay State Park to be the place for horses to breed, train, race, 
and retire. That is our mission. 

Is horse racing even viable anymore? 
Thoroughbred racing is at the center of a horse and farming ecosystem that is fast disappearing because our hay 
and breeding farms are being swallowed up by housing developers. 

Even for two or more weekends of festival racing each year, keeps breeding and hay farmers employed and 
successful and it supports local stores like lumber yards, tack shops, hardware stores, restaurants, and local 
veterinarians. Bay State Park will help preserve and protect 1,200 horse and hay farms in Massachusetts.  

Do you know that from 2007-2017 the USDA reported that land across this country has been consumed by 
developers at the rate of 25 square miles? Massachusetts ranked 6th for disappearing open space. 

That's the equivalent of 2 cities the size of Waltham and we know in the last 5 years it's increased even at a 
higher rate. Running an equine center on this site will help lower the sale of farms to developers. 

Additionally, with the gaming legislation passed by the legislature a few years ago, online wagering is now legal 
in Massachusetts. More than 93% of wagering will take place on people’s cell phones throughout the state.  

How do we know you won’t sell this to someone else? 
We are 100% committed to Bay State Park and the City of Gardner. Our proposal is developed by horse and 
agricultural enthusiasts. We are focused on providing a place for thoroughbred horses and their owners, and look 

11317



forward to the rebirth of thoroughbred breeding, training and racing in the Commonwealth. Furthermore, any 
sale or transfer would require going through a similar review process that the community and state are now going 
through. 

What are the benefits for Gardner? 
Bay State Park is a natural continuation of Gardner’s agricultural legacy.  This project creates 10-25 permanent and 
more than 100 temporary jobs in the community, estimated new revenue of approximately $500,000 a year, and helps 
drive ongoing economic revitalization in the city bringing in new patrons for local restaurants and small businesses. 
Additionally, we are collaborating with GAAMHA on equestrian training for clients and providing retired horses for 
therapeutic programs and partnering with Mount Wachusett Community College Pathway for Jobs around agricultural 
and veterinarian tech training.  

The Center of Economic Development at University of Massachusetts Amherst wrote a study about the economic 
benefits of a facility like Bay State Park.   

Will this strain our city’s infrastructure? 
We submitted a Host Community Agreement (“HCA”) to the Mayor addressing the safety of horses, residents, 
patrons, and employees, and key issues like traffic and parking, and public infrastructure. 

If we require police, fire, and EMS on site for our festivals, we will 100% cover those costs. We will cover all 
the costs associated with setting up, operating and cleanup after events (e.g., police and fire details, DPW crew, 
etc.). We also commit to providing $10,000 upfront for the cost of any reviews during the approval process.  

How will you handle animal waste and the removal of deceased horses? Concerns about animal pollution. 
All animal waste will be disposed of in accordance with state and federal rules and regulations. Horse manure 
will be collected in an enclosed dumpster and removed from the site. 

If there are any deceased horses on site, necropsy will be performed and then the horse will be removed from the 
site for cremation or burial. 

Additionally, the concept design included with our presentation is subject to review after full delineation of 
wetlands and plans by the Conservation Commission.  

Where will festival attendees stay during the festival? 
Most festival attendees will arrive and leave the same day. Horse owners and trainers with horses often stay with 
their horses on site for the duration of the festival. 

Will your site plan show where parking will be placed? What about traffic?  
Route 140 has more than efficient capacity to handle traffic to and from Bay State Park. In fact, our operations 
will be a fraction of the daily traffic on 140 and mostly will occur in off-peak commuting times. We will not add 
to the morning or evening rush hour. Festival days will only be held a few days out of the year, and again, most 
traffic will occur on off-peak times on Route 140. 

A full traffic analysis will occur as part of our permitting process with the city. Elements of the plan will include, 
but are not limited to, the following: 

• Pre- and post-event staging (deliveries, set up, and break down),
• Event timing (to coincide with off-peak commuter traffic),
• Parking management (guests, VIPs, and participants),
• Shuttle bus routes (to remote parking areas),

11317

http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf
http://www.baystateracingllc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/umass_study.pdf


• Signage and wayfinding,
• Temporary intersection control (police details and signage),
• Media and digital content outreach, and
• Identification of police/medical emergency access/egress

The proposed Host Community Agreement (HCA) requires us to have an approved parking plan each year prior 
to the festival. Our parking plans include on and off-site locations. There will be an annual review of parking and 
traffic with the city and state. We will pay for peer review by the city. 

What is simulcast betting? How does it work? Does the city benefit? Do people come to the farm to bet? 
Simulcast betting is a simultaneous live video transmission of a race to other tracks or other outlets for the 
purpose of wagering, most likely on a mobile device, around the state and the country. More than 93% of all 
wagering takes place on a person’s cell phone and not in person. The city will receive a share of revenue from 
simulcasting races. According to Spectrum Gaming Group, “Where both retail and digital wagering are allowed, 
digital wagering is the overwhelming choice for bettors.”  

There will be wagering on site during only during live race festivals. 

What would be the expected capacity of visitors on Race 
Days? Grandstand capacity? Standing? 
Crowds at horse races can vary greatly. It depends on the time 
and day of a race, the weather and who is racing. We would 
expect crowds of 50-100 at races that occur during the 
weekdays, to crowds of 2,000-5,000 for big races on weekends. 

Grandstands will be built into terraced earth giving the 
grounds a park-like feel and honoring the nature and beauty 
of the property. 

Is a casino being built?  
No. We are not, nor we ever, will build a casino in Gardner. The 
only wagering that will occur on this site will be at a temporary 
facility on race days – a few days each year. 

What input and controls does Gardner have?  
The Host Community Agreement (HCA) is our contract with the City of Gardner. Baystate will establish an 
Oversight Committee and agrees to report to the Mayor and Council before June 1 of each year on the operation 
of the Equine Center the year before and plans for operations for the year ahead, including the number of race 
days, non-racing operations, parking, marketing, and hiring of vendors and employees. 

We will pay for all traffic impacts, including transportation and parking management plans, and peer review of 
those plans.  

Additionally, we will go through the normal permitting process through city boards, including the Conservation 
Commission.  

11317



Exhibit 1(d)

11317



Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
260 Arsenal Place #2, Watertown, Massachusetts 02472 
P  617.924.1770 F  617.924.2286 www.vhb.com 

To: Mr. John Stefanini Date: May 9, 2024 

Project #: 16012.00 

From: Robert Nagi, PE 
Director Transportation Planning and 
Operations 

Re: Preliminary Gardner Equestrian Traffic Assessment 

VHB has prepared this technical memorandum to outline transportation elements of the proposed equestrian facility 
located along Route 140 in Gardner, Massachusetts.  The purpose of this memorandum is to both review the current 
traffic volumes in the vicinity of the Project site and to conceptually outline how the project will function during both 
the normal ‘day-to-day’ operations as well as during their Special Event days. 

Current Traffic Operations 
The site is currently serviced via an existing driveway along Route 140.  Along the entire frontage of the site, 
Route 140 is under the jurisdiction of the City of Gardner.  Immediately to the southeast, Route 140 is under the 
jurisdiction of MassDOT (including its intersection with Green Street approximately 300 feet south of the site’s current 
driveway). 

According to MassDOT, Route 140 just south of 
the Project site carries approximately 11,200 
vehicles per day with about 1,000 vehicles during 
the peak commuter hours.  Weekend traffic is 
slightly lighter with about 10,000 daily trips, but 
the peaks are not as significant.   

Similarly, Green Street south of the site carries 
approximately 5,100 vehicles per day with about 
400-500+/- vehicles/hour during the commuter
peak periods.

The intersection of Green Street at Route 140 
operates well during the commuter peak periods 
with some delays for side street turning traffic. 
According to MassDOT, there are no notable 
safety issues within the vicinity of the Project site. 

Daily Facility Operations 
During normal operations, the facility will provide 
typical equestrian activities (maintenance, training) of which many of those activities would take place during off-peak 
periods (mostly on weekends and during the middle of the day on weekdays) with only limited full time staff arriving 
and departing from the site during typical commuter peak hours.  As currently envisioned, access to and from the site 
would be provided via the existing driveway along Route 140 which will be reviewed during the site plan development 
to assure it is designed to accommodate a safe and efficient operation.  

Figure 1 - Route 140 Weekday Daily Traffic Volume 15-minute increments 
(Source: MassDOT TCDS portal) 

11317



Mr. John Stefanini 
Ref:  16012.00 
May 9, 2024 
Page 2 

Traffic Impacts 

As noted above, the general day to day operations of the equestrian operations do not generate any significant 
volume of peak hour traffic – with ranges of about 20-40 employees arriving and departing during these time periods. 
Over the course of the day, the site would typically see anywhere from 250-350 daily trips arriving/departing the site 
spread out over the typical daylight hours. These are made up of employees arriving and departing from the facility, 
deliveries, and visitors to the facility.  This would equate to about 2-3 percent additional traffic being added to the 
Route 140 corridor. 

Special Event Operations 

Assuming that the project will host some number of special event days throughout the year (of which the frequency 
and number of visitors will be determined through discussions with the City), VHB considered that the majority of 
visitors arriving to the site would likely do so to the Gardner area via Route 2, with some smaller volume of traffic 
arriving from the north via Route 140.  

As is typical with these types of special events, guests will arrive at the site over the course of several hours depending 
on the schedule of events to take place at the facility.  In most cases, there is a surge of visitors who depart the site 
within the hour of the conclusion of the schedule of events.   

For example, a special event that hosts between 2,000 and 5,000 visitors would typically see about 1,000 to 1,600 
vehicles arrive over a two- to four-hour window and depart within an hour of the event conclusion.  Arriving traffic 
during the busiest period would represent about 50 percent of the arriving vehicles (~500-800 cars/hour).  As noted, 
the peak hour of the Route 140 corridor sees about 1,000 vehicles per hour with limited congestion near the project 
site observed – so the volumes are consistent with what the corridor currently carries during the weekday. 

In order to address the impact of these surges in traffic associated with the special events, VHB typically works with 
the City, MassDOT, police (local and state), and other stakeholders to develop a detailed traffic management plan that 
is developed cooperatively based on the collective experiences of the stakeholders and VHB.  This plan is then 
presented to the City in advance of the event for discussion and implementation.  Following the first events, VHB and 
stakeholders would review what worked well with the TMP and where adjustments could be made to improve the 
overall experience (which would be integrated into the next TMP for future events).  

Elements of the plan will include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Pre- and post-event staging (deliveries, set up, and break down),

• Event timing (to coincide with off-peak commuter traffic),

• Parking management (guests, VIPs, and participants),

• Shuttle bus routes (to remote parking areas),

• Signage and wayfinding,

• Temporary intersection control (police details and signage),

• Media and digital content outreach, and

• Identification of police/medical emergency access/egress

11317



Exhibit 1(e)

11317



 

  

Towards the Creation 
of a Horse Park in the 
Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts: A 
Feasibility Study 
FINAL REPORT 

Executive Summary 
Project Overview 
Facility Overview 
Economic Impact Analysis 
Conclusions 
Community Impact Case Studies 

The Center for Economic Development 
Department of Landscape Architecture and Regional Planning 
University of Massachusetts Amherst 
109 Hills North 
Amherst, Massachusetts 01002 
 
July 7, 2016 
 

CONTENTS          PAGE 
2  
5  
9  
18  
38  
39  

11317



1 

 

ABOUT THE AUTHORS 
DR. HENRY RENSKI: DIRECTOR, CENTER FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Dr. Renski is an Associate Professor of Regional Planning at the 
University of Massachusetts Amherst, Graduate Program Director of the 
Ph.D. in Regional Planning, and the Associate Director for the Institute 
for Social Science Research. His research focuses on understanding the 
technological and social forces driving regional economic competitiveness 
and transformation, and building upon this knowledge to improve the 
effectiveness of economic development policy. He has authored or 
consulted on over two dozen economic impact studies during his career. 

DR. JOHN R. MULLIN, FAICP: ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR, CENTER FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Dr. Mullin is an Emeritus Professor of Regional Planning at the 
University of Massachusetts Amherst, and former Dean of the Graduate 
School. His research and professional interests focus upon industrial 
revitalization, port development and downtown planning. A Senior 
Fulbright Scholar, Dr. Mullin has written or edited over 100 book 
chapters, book reviews, technical reports, journal articles, and conference 
proceedings. He is a retired Brigadier General from the United States 
Army National Guard. 

JONATHAN G. COOPER: PROJECT ASSOCIATE, CENTER FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Mr. Cooper is an economic and community development planner. He 
provides research and consulting services to public agencies, nonprofit 
organizations, and private planning firms across New England. Mr. 
Cooper assists clients through his affiliation with the CED at UMass 
Amherst; through his role as Research Director of the Institute for 
Nuclear Host Communities; and as an independent consultant. He has 
published and presented research on workforce development, university-
community partnerships, and the local impacts of power plant closure. 

ABOUT THE CENTER FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

The Center for Economic Development (CED) is a research and community-oriented technical 
assistance center at the University of Massachusetts Amherst. Housed in the Department of 
Landscape Architecture and Regional Planning, the CED provides technical assistance, undertakes 
critical studies, disseminates information, and enhances local and multi-community capacity for 
strategic planning and development. This approach is designed to relate the concerns and goals of 
commerce and industry to those of the broader community. The CED works closely with 
community and business sectors, providing information and assistance needed for growth, 
management, and public benefit. The CED’s clientele reflects that the Center does indeed work 
well with all sectors: community development corporations, state agencies, municipalities, regional 
planning agencies, developers, business leaders, chambers of commerce, local officials, public 
groups, and the managers of firms. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
CED research assistants Michael Havlin (MRP/MPPA) and Sarah Lang (MRP/MS) assisted Dr. 
Renski with the economic impacts and case study sections of the report. The Berkshire Design 
Group provided conceptual renderings and visual materials for use in public presentations.  

11317



2 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

CONCEPT 
Numerous social and economic factors have coalesced to present the Commonwealth with an 
opportunity to create a new model for a multi-use horse park. This model would combine a race 
track for Thoroughbred horses with a high-end equestrian center and a Thoroughbred horse 
retirement and retraining farm. This equestrian center, capable of hosting indoor and outdoor 
dressage, eventing, and hunter/jumper competitions, would be anchored by a large indoor arena 
with stadium seating and Olympic-sized surfaces. The retirement and retraining farm would enable 
Thoroughbred horses either to retire comfortably, or to develop new skills for other competitive 
and non-competitive activities, including hunting/jumping, polo, and therapeutic riding programs 
for at-risk and higher-needs children. With space for conferences and trade shows, 4-H activities 
and meets, local community recreation, pleasure riding, agricultural and artisanal markets, and 
equine health trainings and services, among other uses, the “Massachusetts Model” would create 
an economic and social hub in the service of the Commonwealth’s equestrian heritage and 
agricultural economy. 

This study finds that the development of a Massachusetts Model horse park represents a significant 
economic opportunity for the Commonwealth. Capital costs are not expected to exceed $150 
million. The annual economic impact is expected to approach $99 million and lead to the creation 
of more than 950 jobs throughout Massachusetts. Economic activity resulting from the facility’s 
development would also generate an additional $5 million in state and local tax revenues per year. 

EXISTING ACTIVITY & LOCATION CRITERIA 
There are nearly 1,200 equine farms in Massachusetts, making it the most common farm type in 
the state. A review of commercial equestrian centers and registered Thoroughbred farms found no 
fewer than 125 facilities hosting various equestrian competitions, providing horse retirement and 
retraining services, operating riding academies, breeding Thoroughbreds, and a number of other 
activities. From the Berkshires to the Cape, in towns as geographically and socioeconomically 
distinct as Orange and Sherborn, these facilities have shown a propensity to cluster in four 
geographic regions: Essex County; the western suburbs of Boston; southeastern Massachusetts; and 
the Pioneer Valley. Surprisingly, there are very few equestrian centers west of the Pioneer Valley. 

Official dressage and eventing competitions are popular in each region, as are the competitions 
between the 27 intercollegiate teams and 120 interscholastic teams located in Massachusetts. Since 
relatively few equestrian centers have the necessary facilities for hosting competitions in the winter, 
most activity takes place between September and November. The most distinct regional variation 
is the extensive presence of shows and competitions for non-Thoroughbred horse breeds in the 
Pioneer Valley, where Arabian and Morgan horses are especially popular. 

Based on a review of existing race tracks and equestrian centers across the country, site visits to 
successful facilities, interviews with industry experts, and an inventory and spatial analysis of the 

11317



3 

 

existing equine activities in Massachusetts, we have identified six criteria for assessing the fitness of 
any potential location for the proposed horse park, listed on the following page. 

x At least 300 to 600 acres of preferably contiguous land, to meet all spatial, social, and 
logistical needs. 

x Slopes of 3 to 8 percent, free from wetlands, streams, and poorly-drained soils. This will 
provide ease of circulation, ensure appropriate drainage, and prevent erosion. 

x Access to an interstate or state route with a high level of service within five miles, to 
minimize traffic impacts and time lost in transit on event days. 

x Open views to appealing landscapes that connect the facility visually, emotionally, and 
physically to its agricultural milieu. 

x One hour’s travel time to at least two of New England’s largest cities, so that a trip to the 
facility is not especially burdensome for event participants, spectators, and guests. 

x Land use compatibility to underscore the natural partnership between the facility’s activities 
and the character and culture of a potential site’s host community. 

Although subject to change, there are currently ten sites on the real estate market that meet some 
or all of the established criteria. These parcels are in Bristol, Essex, Franklin, Hampden, 
Plymouth, and Worcester counties, in rural and suburban settings of varying density. Nearly all 
have some equestrian and/or agricultural activity nearby, and many are within 20 minutes of a 
major road or interstate. 

ECONOMIC IMPACTS 
This section used the industry-standard IMPLAN economic modeling program to assess the 
economic impacts of three of the major components of the horse park: the Thoroughbred race 
track; the equestrian center; and the Thoroughbred retirement farm. Because these are not the 
only uses proposed for the site, and the separate modeling of each component does not factor in 
the cost savings that would likely result from this combination of related uses, what follows is a very 
conservative estimate.   

In 2016 dollars, the proposed facility is expected to bring approximately $53.7 million per year in 
new spending to the Massachusetts economy from out-of-state sources. The ripple effects would 
yield a total annual impact of $98.9 million across the entire economy, and generate another $5 
million per year in new state and local tax revenues. More than half of this total economic impact 
will be paid directly to Massachusetts workers as labor income, and is expected to support the 
creation of 957 full-time equivalent (FTE) year-round jobs in the Commonwealth. Of these, we 
anticipate more than 300 FTE jobs at the horse park: more than 250 at the track; at least 30 at the 
equestrian center; and approximately 12 at the retirement farm. In addition, the creation of a new 
racetrack coupled with recently enacted purse supplements and breeder awards will result in 20 
new workers at thoroughbred breeding and training farms across Massachusetts. 

11317



4 

 

RACE TRACK COMPONENT 

Based on our research, we expect the Thoroughbred racing component to yield $66.3 million in 
annual output and sales statewide. This level of economic activity would support the creation of 
nearly 664 FTE jobs, which would add roughly $38 million of labor income to Massachusetts 
households. Money spent directly at the track by breeding farms, racing participants and 
spectators, or spent in-state by the track itself for services and operations, would account for $36.7 
million of the total annual output. 

These totals are built on the following assumptions: 75 racing days during a typical season between 
May and October; 9 races per day; 800 horses in residence throughout the season; an average of 
3,000 spectators per race day; and an out-of-state attendance rate of 20 percent. We also assume 
that the new racetrack, coupled with the purse supplements and breeding awards provided through 
the Expanded Gaming Act of 2011, will spur the production of 115 new foals per year.   

EQUESTRIAN CENTER COMPONENT 

The horse park’s other major component is a first-class equestrian center capable of hosting elite 
national events. Based on our research, we expect the equestrian center to generate $31.7 million 
in annual output and sales throughout the Massachusetts economy. This new activity is enough to 
support the equivalent of 280 full time jobs, and will generate $14.5 million in new household 
income across the Commonwealth. Money spent directly at the center by event visitors and 
participants coming from out-of-state, or by the center itself for its operations, accounts for $16.7 
million. This is slightly more than half of the total output, and the rest is generated downstream. 

The analysis assumes that the facility will host 70 equestrian events per year: five major events of a 
national scale; 40 mid-sized events of a regional/interstate scale; and 25 minor events at state and 
local levels. In addition, the center will also host 18 non-equestrian events of local interest. 
Through industry research and consultation, each event type (major, mid-sized, minor, and non-
equestrian) was assigned a set of distinguishing characteristics, such as event duration, total 
attendance, and out-of-state attendance levels. A first-class equestrian center is likely to draw 
approximately 66 percent of its revenue from out-of-state sources, and we estimate that the 
proposed facility will result in over 82,500 visits from non-Massachusetts residents per year for all 
events. 

RETIREMENT FARM COMPONENT 

The horse park also includes a retirement/retraining farm for up to 40 Thoroughbred racing 
horses whose are ready to move on to equestrian careers off the racetrack. A review of existing 
Thoroughbred retirement facilities indicates that they have the potential to become significant 
tourist destinations in their own right. The study suggests that such an operation would draw 
roughly 7,000 out-of-state visitors per year; require annual operational expenditures of 
approximately $325,000; provide 11 FTE jobs; and generate a total economic impact of 
approximately $800,000 per year. 

  

11317



5 

 

EQUINE: 
Horse Farms

15%

EQUINE: 
Haying
14%

Greenhouses
12%

Vegetables
12%

Fruits
10%

Cattle
10%

Poultry
5%

Sheep
5%

All others
17%

Figure 1.1: MA Farms by Type, 2012

1. PROJECT OVERVIEW 
 

INTRODUCTION 
The Commonwealth of Massachusetts enjoys a deep and varied equestrian presence that can be 
found in her landscapes, industries, history, and people. Horses have represented the many 
characteristics of Massachusetts equally well: like the state itself, its relationships with horses are at 
once agricultural and industrial, urban and rural, sophisticated and functional, and historic and 
forward-looking. 

The turnpikes and Great Roads that proliferated across Massachusetts at the end of the 18th 
century were local successors to the King’s Highway and Post Roads of the colonial era. These 
feats of civil engineering were ideal for the speed and stamina of horses, enabling messengers to 
speed from Boston to Concord under cover of night, and carriages to ferry mail through the 
hinterlands of southern New England. The canals that democratized shipping and commerce in 
the first half of the 19th century relied on draft horses to pull barges along miles of towpaths. Later 
on, after the Industrial Revolution had given rise to the implements that mechanized agriculture 
along the Great Plains, horses and oxen remained the most sensible choices in Massachusetts. 
Most suited to the task was the Morgan, bred from a bay stallion named Figure that was born in 
West Springfield in 1789. The Morgan’s compact and powerful build was ideal for the smaller 
farms and rockier fields that still characterize much of the Commonwealth’s agricultural land.  

 This link between horses and agriculture 
in Massachusetts is still evident today. The 
most common farms in Massachusetts are 
horse farms and haying operations. As 
Figure 1.1 shows, as of 2012 these 
categories alone account for over 29 
percent of the 7,755 farms in 
Massachusetts. Furthermore, the 
combined acreage of these farms accounts 
for 30 percent of the Commonwealth’s 
agricultural land. 

  

Source:  USDA. 2012 Census of Agriculture. 

11317



6 

PURPOSE & MOTIVATION 
The purpose of this report is to present our preliminary findings concerning the feasibility of 
developing a multi-use Horse Park in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. This center would be 
operated as a non-profit entity, dedicated to furthering a wide range of activities that would 
promote equestrian education, racing events, and Massachusetts agriculture, among other 
functions. The study, sponsored by the New England Horseman’s Benevolent and Protective 
Society (NEHBPA), is being undertaken by the Center for Economic Development (CED) at the 
University of Massachusetts Amherst. Research for this project involved site visits to equestrian 
centers, interviews with equestrian business leaders and academics, and analysis of data related to 
equestrian activities. The project also included extensive input through a voluntary advisory 
committee consisting of equestrian experts familiar with equestrian operations throughout the 
United States. 

The motivation for the project is to enhance interest in the sport of horseracing, create a tourist 
opportunity for the enjoyment of visitors, expand employment opportunities in equestrian 
activities, develop and maintain agricultural and open spaces, promote the breeding, training, 
racing and exhibition of Thoroughbred and other horses, and to protect the Thoroughbred racing 
industry and jobs resulting directly and indirectly from these purposes. The complex is intended to 
be multi-functional, high end, and to appeal to a wide array of patrons. It will be state of the art and 
befitting of the image of Massachusetts as a tourist destination. It is further envisioned that the 
complex will be located in a rural area outside of metropolitan Boston. The property, to be owned 
by a non-profit corporation, shall be deemed land devoted to agricultural use under MGL Chapter 
61A. This corporation will establish relationships with (a) the Massachusetts 4-H and similar 
organizations to encourage the growth of agricultural products to be used at the facility and (b) 
Massachusetts schools offering agricultural studies dedicated to creating agricultural career 
opportunities in the Commonwealth.  

Several factors contributed to the current interest in developing a multi-use horse park in 
Massachusetts. These included the following: 

x Consumer preferences for Thoroughbred racing attendance are shifting away from the 
large urban venues of the early 20th century, such as Suffolk Downs. 

x Equestrian competition opportunities are increasing across the United States. 
Massachusetts has very few venues for these events and most are private. 

x Recreational interest in equestrian activities is growing across the country and in 
Massachusetts. It is of considerable interest to Massachusetts 4-H. 

x The healthy caring and nurturing of horses is of great interest to those undertaking 
research on animals including horses. It is an opportunity for the equine studies field. 

x There are no state of the art facilities in Massachusetts dedicated to the protection and 
care of retired and ageing horses. 

x Equestrian related conferences, exhibitions, and conventions are growing business 
opportunities. Relatively few choose Massachusetts as a venue. 

11317



7 

 

x Equestrian activities provide well-paying jobs for vocational school and community 
college graduates. A center would stimulate the creation of these opportunities. 

x A horse park would increase farm production and agricultural land use in 
Massachusetts. 

x A horse park would be a job and tax producer (PILOT) in the region and town where 
it would be located. 

x A horse park would provide the opportunity for Massachusetts retailers to expand their 
markets. 

x A horse park built with a cultural sense of the New England design ethos and complete 
with a first class hotel, would become a tourist destination.  

VISION 
The Horse Park is envisioned to include a wide range of activities that will take place throughout 
the year. It will be designed to reflect design features common to New England’s rural character 
and be a welcoming place for a wide array of equestrian enthusiasts.  

The center will feature a one-mile dirt oval racetrack designed for the safest possible racing of 
Thoroughbred horses for a 60-90 day season per year. This track could also serve as a venue for 
Standardbred horse racing if there is interest. Within the oval is a 7/8 mile turf course. 
Overlooking the track will be a viewing stand capable of seating 4,000 patrons. Within this facility 
will be restaurants and local wagering areas. 

In close proximity to the racing facilities and barns and paddocks will be a series of indoor, 
outdoor, and covered arenas with rings of varying sizes to meet Olympic-level standards for 
equestrian training, exercise, and competition. The most substantial of these structures, a large 
multi-purpose arena, will provide the physical counterpoint to the track and grandstand. Inside the 
arena, a large natural sand surface of at least 200’ x 300’ will be designed to house indoor 
competitions of local and national prominence, surrounded by seating and concessions for 
upwards of 4,000 spectators. The arena will also include lecture spaces intended for research and 
educational activities. At other times it would be expected to be used for horse breed shows, 4-H 
fairs, Future Farmers of America, staff trainings, conferences and exhibitions, commercial 
expositions, and community college/high school instruction. 

As will be noted later, the ability to attract these conferences and exhibitions to Massachusetts will 
generate extensive new revenues and job opportunities of their own. The racing activities and 
competition events will be supported by state of the art barns and paddocks that are intended to 
safely house and protect horses throughout the year. This part of the center will include space that 
would be available for use by the thousands of Massachusetts horse owners who enjoy equestrian 
recreational opportunities. 

The Equestrian Center might include space for a veterinary facility designed to meet the needs of 
the horse racing community and equestrian enthusiasts throughout the northeast. It would have a 
small permanent staff that would expand to meet the needs of the racing season, horse show 

11317



8 

 

season, conference visitors, and those housing their horses on site. Whether in conjunction with 
one of the veterinary or equine studies programs in Massachusetts, or through a partnership with 
local large animal veterinarians, it has become clear that such a facility would not only help to 
maintain the health of a wide range of horses but assist in expanding research opportunities 
partnering institutions. 

The satellite veterinary center would also play an important role in the care and protection of 
horses, which would be housed in a retirement farm on site.  Many local owners have had to ship 
their ageing horses to retirement homes as far away as Virginia and Kentucky. Not only would such 
a facility provide great care for the horses, it would create additional jobs for equestrian caregivers 
in Massachusetts. Furthermore, these equine retirement and retraining programs could be coupled 
with any number of approaches to equestrian therapy. This arrangement could provide several 
groups – veterans, urban youth, low-risk offenders, and the physically/developmentally disabled, as 
examples – with meaningful opportunities for personal and practical skill-building. 

All of the above would contribute to creating an expanded market for Massachusetts agriculture. 
The horse park will operate under local purchasing policies in which the feed for horses would be 
sourced from local farmers to the greatest possible extent. Furthermore, the Center will provide a 
space for practical research opportunities intended to improve the health of the horses. Specific 
opportunities will be offered to the University of Massachusetts Stockbridge School, the 
Commonwealth’s agricultural high schools (i.e.: Essex Agricultural, Norfolk Agricultural, Smith 
Vocational High School), and nearby community colleges. 

Given the increasing interest in recreational equestrian activities, the Center will provide extensive 
space for community recreational riding. Through trails on-site, it will provide opportunities for 
riders of a wide range of skills and interests. Moreover, if possible, the Center will be closely linked 
to nearby state parks and forests, such that riders can experience the unique environments of these 
special places. 

All of the above will be interlaced with retail opportunities. During the racing season, as well as 
conference, convention and exhibition times, “pop-up” market vendors will be encouraged to 
participate. In so doing, these local and regional merchants will be able to expand their sales. As 
the Center matures, there will also be opportunities for lodging. Given that the Center will be 
located in a rural area, it is expected that local bed and breakfast facilities will expand, and that a 
four season resort-style hotel will be constructed. 

  

11317



9 

 

2. FACILITY OVERVIEW 
 

This section of the report addresses the presence of existing equestrian centers in Massachusetts; 
identifies the siting criteria for evaluating potential sites; applies the criteria to currently available 
sites; and describes a number of best practices to ensure the facility’s success in meeting previously 
articulated goals. 

EXISTING FACILITIES IN MASSACHUSETTS 
There are several dozen equestrian centers in Massachusetts, which serve a variety of equestrian 
activities. For the sake of simplicity, this inventory places the facilities into two categories: those that 
are hosting at least one sanctioned horse show competition this year, and those that are not. The 
various regional organizations affiliated with the United States Equestrian Federation (USEF) are 
responsible for ensuring that competitions take place at equestrian centers with adequate facilities, 
staffing, experience, and planning. This is not meant to imply that centers not hosting a USEF-
sanctioned competition are sub-standard, however; it is merely a useful way to determine which 
centers function as regional destinations. More information about the facilities described below is 
available on the following pages, in Figures 2.1 and 2.2, and Table 2.1. 

USEF-SANCTIONED COMPETITION 

In 2016, twenty-five equestrian centers in Massachusetts will host at least one competition 
sanctioned by regional affiliates of the United States Equestrian Federation. These are some of the 
most successful equestrian centers in the Commonwealth, and through them the following 
disciplines are represented at the competitive level: Carriage Pleasure; Dressage (including Para-
Equestrian, Seat Medal, and Western dressage); English Pleasure; Eventing; Hunter; Hunter 
Equitation; Jumping; Roadster; and Saddle Seat Equitation.  

These venues are split fairly evenly into four geographic regions: Essex County; the western 
suburbs of Boston; southeastern Massachusetts; and the Pioneer Valley. Although dressage and 
eventing competitions are found throughout the state, there appear to be some regional 
preferences. Most remarkably, competitive jumping is limited to the western suburbs and 
southeastern Massachusetts. Essex County prefers to host hunter events, and the equestrian centers 
of the Pioneer Valley are far more likely to host dressage and eventing shows than hunter/jumper 
competitions. Meanwhile, horse shows for non-Thoroughbred breeds (Arabians, Friesians, 
Morgans, and American Saddlebreds) and more specialized disciplines do not stretch beyond 
West Springfield and Northampton. 

11317



10 

Figure 2.1: Locations of USEF-Sanctioned Competitions 

Figure 2.2: Locations of Interscholastic (Red) and USEF-Sanctioned (Black) Competitions 

11317



11 

 

Table 2.1: Equestrian Center Community Details 

County Town MA $/Cap Rank USEF-Sanctioned Interscholastic 

Barnstable 

Barnstable 160 Hunter/Hunt Eq Hunt Seat 

Bourne 209 Hunter/Hunt Eq/Jump Hunt Seat 

Falmouth 110 
 

Western 

Berkshire Richmond 34 
 

Hunt Seat 

Bristol 
Raynham 185 Hunter/Hunt Eq/Jump 

 Rehoboth 139 
 

Hunt Seat 

Essex 

Boxford 11 
 

Hunt Seat 

Danvers 128 
 

Hunt Seat 

Georgetown 76 Dressage Hunt Seat 

Hamilton 71 Eventing Hunt Seat 

Haverhill 284 Hunter/Hunter Eq Hunt Seat 

Ipswich 80 Hunter/Hunter Eq 
 Newbury 91 Hunter/Hunter Eq Hunt Seat 

Franklin 

Greenfield 313 Eventing Hunt Seat 

Orange 345 
 

Western 

Shelburne 255 
 

Hunt Seat 

Hampden W Springfield 308 Western Dressage 
 

Hampshire 

Easthampton 261 
 

Hunt Seat 

Hadley 146 Dressage/Seat Medal Hunt Seat 

Northampton 198 Hunter Equitation 
 South Hadley 270 Dressage Hunt Seat 

Southampton 207 Eventing 
 

Middlesex 

Concord 12 Dressage Hunt Seat 

Holliston 40 Hunter/Hunter Eq Hunt Seat 

Sherborn 4 Eventing 
 Stow 50 

 
Hunt Seat 

Sudbury 5 
 

Hunt Seat 

Westford 42 
 

Hunt Seat 

Norfolk 

Medfield 18 Hunter/Hunt Eq/Jump 
 Medway 75 Hunter/Hunt Eq/Jump Hunt Seat 

Wellesley 6 
 

Hunt Seat 

Plymouth 

Halifax 221 Jumper 
 Lakeville 163 Dressage 
 Marshfield 77 Dressage/Seat Medal 
 Pembroke 140 Hunter/Hunt Eq/Jump Hunt Seat 

Plymouth 172 Eventing 
 Plympton 121 

 
Hunt Seat 

Worcester 

Berlin 72 
 

Hunt Seat 

Bolton 27 
 

Hunt Seat 

Grafton 106 
 

Western & Hunt Seat 

Holden 99 
 

Hunt Seat 

Rutland 218 
 

Hunt Seat 

Sutton 87 
 

Hunt Seat 

11317



12 

 

ADDITIONAL FACILITIES 

There are a number of other equestrian facilities in the state as well, which include breeding farms, 
stables, and riding academies. Although they are too numerous to review in great detail here, there 
are at least five facilities for Thoroughbred retraining and retirement; four university-based 
academic and research programs; and nearly three dozen centers for region-wide interscholastic 
competitions. The academic programs are located between Greater Boston and the Pioneer 
Valley, with educational options ranging from associate’s degrees in equine studies at junior 
colleges to large-animal surgical concentrations at world-renowned veterinary schools.  

In addition to these academic programs, intercollegiate equestrian teams operate at 27 colleges and 
universities in the Commonwealth. At the primary and secondary school levels, several hundred 
teams across New England (hailing from country day schools, riding academies, and private 
stables) participate in interscholastic competitions, with over 120 teams based in Massachusetts 
alone. As Figure 2.2 shows, the 35 venues hosting interscholastic competitions this year largely 
follow the four-region location pattern described above (nine equestrian centers are hosting both 
USEF-sanctioned and interscholastic competitions). In New England, the bulk of these events will 
take place in October and November; with nine facilities hosting competitions in the winter 
months of December, January, and February (see Best Practices, below). 

ANALYSIS 

First, the relatively low level of equestrian centers west of the Connecticut River Valley suggests that 
it may be difficult to establish a viable facility in the Berkshires. Despite the outstanding visual 
resources, exceptional rural character, and extensive park and trail access, the area has not found a 
natural fit with equestrian activities. Interestingly, much of the same could be said of the area east 
of the Connecticut River Valley, as well, from the Quabbin Reservoir to as far east as Worcester. 

Second, although this is an incomplete list of equestrian centers in Massachusetts, there is a 
remarkable range of host communities. The 43 municipalities in Table 2.1 include some of the 
wealthiest towns in the Commonwealth (Sherborn and Sudbury), and some of the poorest 
(Greenfield and Orange). Although equestrian centers provide services to upscale consumers, 
more than one-third of the host communities have per capita income levels below the state 
median. 

Finally, it is unclear whether the subtle differences in horse show tendencies of the four in-state 
regions is merely a coincidence, or points to something more significant. The advisory board may 
wish to consider ways to ensure a good match between the host region and the types of equestrian 
competition envisioned for the facility, especially where staffing and event planning experience is 
concerned. 

  

11317



13 

 

CRITERIA FOR FACILITY LOCATION 
A horse park incorporating the range of showing, racing, veterinary, adoption, agricultural, and 
recreational uses described in the vision will require a site with desirable characteristics in six 
categories, each of which is examined in the following sections. The first three pertain to the site 
itself, and the latter half pertain to the host community. 

x Substantial acreage: to meet all spatial, social, and logistical needs. 
x Workable terrain: to provide ease of circulation, ensure appropriate drainage, and prevent 

erosion.  
x Streamlined access: to minimize traffic impacts on event days and time lost in transit. 

x Appealing landscapes: to connect the facility visually, emotionally, and physically to its 
agricultural milieu. 

x Useful location: so a trip to the facility is not especially burdensome for event participants, 
spectators, and guests, especially when compared to journeys to other facilities. 

x Land use compatibility: to demonstrate a natural partnership between the facility’s activities 
and the character and culture of a potential site’s host community. 

 
SUBSTANTIAL ACREAGE 

At a minimum, a Thoroughbred racing park will need approximately 150 acres to meet its facility 
requirements, and a number of tracks have upwards of 300 acres at their disposal. However, bigger 
is not automatically better in the industry, primarily because the oval that is the main attraction is 
often a fairly consistent size from one track to the next. For equestrian centers, however, site 
requirements can change significantly based on the anticipated events: shows that gather hundreds 
of horses require hundreds of stalls and adequate space for trailers, RVs, and other equipment, 
while more exclusive eventing and endurance competitions bring comparatively fewer horses, but 
require miles of trail and open space. As an example, the Virginia Horse Park is a 600-acre facility, 
but approximately half of the total land is for cross country and combined driving courses, while 
the rest is allocated to barns, arenas, campgrounds, parking, and other structures. 

The Massachusetts Horse Park is intended as a high-end equestrian center and race track. Since 
races and horse shows will not take place on the same days, there is the opportunity for shared 
facilities to reduce the total overall footprint. The ideal site is approximately 600 acres of 
contiguous land, with a potential reduction if the site has access to adjacent trails and parkland.  

WORKABLE TERRAIN 

Due to the robust environmental protections in Massachusetts, the ideal site will be free from 
wetlands, streams, and poorly-drained soils. Slopes of 3 percent to 8 percent allow for adequate 
site drainage, and low-impact site engineering. Sites free from agricultural protections under 
Chapter 61 and 61A are preferable, but not essential. Section 3 of Chapter 40A of the 
Massachusetts General Laws protects commercial agriculture from over-regulation by town zoning 
bylaws. The law relies on a definition of agriculture found in Chapter 128, which includes both the 

11317



14 

 

raising of horses and the keeping of horses as a commercial enterprise. On parcels five acres or 
greater, such uses are allowed by-right, meaning that no special permit is needed for such uses. 

STREAMLINED ACCESS 

Thoroughbred race tracks are rarely more than three miles from an interstate exit, and show a 
significantly higher tolerance for urbanized contexts than equestrian centers do. Equestrian centers, 
meanwhile, are far more tolerant of non-highway driving, but are rarely more than five miles from 
a state route. Figure 2.3 shows the location of the 29 facilities hosting a US Dressage Federation-
recognized competition in Region 8 (New York and New England). Clearly, very few are any 
appreciable distance from a major transportation route. This same tendency could be observed in 
Figures 2.1 and 2.2, as well. 

 

Figure 2.3: Region 8 Equestrian Centers hosting USEF-Sanctioned Dressage Competitions 

 

 

11317



15 

 

APPEALING LANDSCAPES 

The exacting aesthetics of competitive horse shows underscores the importance of appearance and 
presentation to this key user group. Massachusetts is home to some very well-regarded equestrian 
centers, and some legendary polo and hunting grounds. The equine community is highly 
discerning, and national-level event coordinators are accustomed to top-of-the-line facilities and 
services. This eye for detail extends to the surrounding landscape. The facility must be located in a 
pastoral context, with a preference for open views to natural and visually appealing landscapes. 
Satisfying this “country estate” aesthetic is essential for demonstrating that the facility makes a 
meaningful and thorough contribution to equestrian culture. 

USEFUL LOCATION 

Although equestrian activities are by definition mileage-heavy pursuits, the facility is meant to 
strengthen and promote the connections horses have to the culture, history, and economy of rural 
Massachusetts. An exceptionally remote location reduces the potential audience for this message, 
and increases the transportation costs of the in-state suppliers and vendors that would do business 
at the facility. Therefore, sites within an hour’s drive of New England’s largest cities - Boston, 
Worcester, Providence, and Springfield - provide riders, spectators, and vendors with increased 
availability and exposure. 

LAND USE COMPATIBILITY 

Because the horse park envisions an unprecedented variety of equestrian uses, the facility is likely 
to have a noteworthy impact on whichever community hosts it. It is essential, therefore, that the 
equestrian nature of the facility be congruent with existing local land uses. For example, rural 
communities with active equestrian activities – stables, horse farms, or agricultural haying, for 
example – are highly likely to view the proposed horse park as an appropriate use of locally 
available open space. 

 

  

11317



16 

 

CURRENT SITE OPTIONS 
Table 2.2 includes the characteristics of ten sites that most nearly meet the established criteria. It is 
important to bear in mind that this selection reflects currently-available real estate. As such, it does 
not identify optimal sites (those not currently for sale, but otherwise meeting all siting criteria), and 
it is subject to change. Identifying features have been obscured. 

Table 2.2: Potential Sites and Criteria Matches 

 Acres Terrain Access Landscape Location  Compatibility 

001 225-250; near 
state forest. 

Rolling; partially 
cleared. Stream. 

10-15 min. Rural, low 
density. 

1 under 60; 
1 under 90. 

 No equestrian 
activity nearby. 

002 550-575; trails 
near. 

Flat; partially 
cleared. 

20-30 min. Strong pastoral 
scenic. 

1 under 60; 
1 under 90. 

 Active outdoor 
and farming. 

003 250-300; 
town land adj. 

Hilltop. Ponds. 20-30 min. Rural decline. 1 under 60; 
1 under 90. 

 No equestrian 
activity nearby. 

004 200-250 ac. Flat; partially 
cleared. Pond. 

5-10 min. Suburban, mid-
density. 

3 under 90.  Some equestrian 
activity nearby. 

005 475-500 ac. Rolling, forested. 
Stream. 61A. 

10-15 min. Rural, low-
density. 

2 under 60; 
2 under 90. 

 Equestrian and 
farming nearby. 

006 400-415 ac. Rocky, forested. 
Pond. 

5-10 min. Rural, mid-
density 

1 under 60; 
2 under 90. 

 High equestrian 
activity nearby. 

007 200-250 ac; 
near parks. 

Non-contiguous, 
forested. Stream. 

5-10 min. Mid-density 
suburb. 

3 under 60.  High equestrian 
activity nearby. 

008 175-200 ac; 
trails, 4H adj. 

Rolling; partially 
cleared. 61A. 

20-30 min. Strong 
pastoral. 

2 under 60; 
2 under 90. 

 Equestrian and 
farming nearby. 

009 275-300 ac; 
parks adj. 

Rolling, forested. 
No restrictions. 

15-20 min. Forested, low 
visual element. 

2 under 60; 
2 under 90 

 Some equestrian 
nearby. 

010 500 ac. Hilly; forested. 5-10 min. Strong scenic 
components. 

1 under 60.  Some equestrian 
activity nearby. 

 

BEST PRACTICES 
In recent years, researchers and designers have begun to incorporate sustainability indicators and 
other markers of social and environmental well-being into the best management practices of 
equestrian facilities. Some principles, such as siting and designing barn and indoor arenas to 
maximize solar aspect, are natural extensions of existing practices. Others, such as the use of native 
plantings for grazing, horticultural identity, and invasive species management purposes, address 

11317



17 

 

industry-specific environmental concerns. Meanwhile, the management of manure for haying and 
other crop-planting purposes addresses the equine-agriculture linkages this project attempts to 
develop. Two issues - shared services and intra-state partnerships - are described in greater detail 
here. 

SHARED SERVICES 

The parking lot of Lone Star Park, a racing track outside of Dallas, is approximately 60 acres. By 
comparison, in Massachusetts the average farm is just 68 acres, with a median value of 23 acres. It 
is therefore relatively uncommon for more than 300 acres of agricultural land in Massachusetts to 
come onto the market. Since it may be impractical to wait for the ideal parcel to become available, 
it is essential that the advisory board work closely with architectural and engineering firms to think 
creatively about the most efficient use of available land. Whether it be parking, RV hookups, 
paddocks, exercise tracks, or loading areas, every duplicative function that can be reduced, or site 
use that can be shared, will provide additional acreage for other programmatic elements. 

PARTNERSHIPS WITH OTHER FACILITIES 

Across the Commonwealth, dozens of facilities host horse shows for numerous equestrian 
communities. Anticipating how the facility could benefit these entities, rather than compete with 
them, could help generate industry-wide support. As an example, of the 35 equestrian centers 
currently hosting interscholastic shows, only nine do so between December and February: Mount 
Holyoke, Silverstone Stables, Stoneleigh-Burnham School, Saddle Rowe, Rising Star, Volo Farm, 
Dana Hall School, Willow Brook, and Hillside Meadows. These centers have the facilities 
necessary to host indoor scholastic events, and three of these (Mount Holyoke, Stoneleigh-
Burnham, and Saddle Rowe) currently host USEF-sanctioned events, as well. With the addition of 
the horse park to the state’s equestrian center mix, there is the possibility that these four equestrian 
centers, and perhaps others, would be able to gain approval for a series of sanctioned wintertime 
competitions in Massachusetts. As the largest dressage region in the country, there are many 
families in the northeast that might prefer participating in a competitive series around the holidays 
that is closer to home than Florida or Texas. 

COST ESTIMATE 
To date, no integrated equestrian facilities have been developed. The truly unique nature of the 
Massachusetts Model - thoroughbred racing, showing, riding, and retirement - means that there is 
no “industry standard” for estimating development costs. Accordingly, we have consulted with 
racetrack developers and equestrian center developers to estimate project costs for the proposed 
horse park. We estimate that total development costs of a world-class horse park would not exceed 
$150 million. Of this, $90 million is allocated for all land acquisition and infrastructure 
development, along with the construction of the equestrian center. The remaining $60 million is 
the expected cost for the development of the race track’s oval, rail, grandstand, stables, and other 
necessary structures. 

The $150 million estimate is meant to describe the upper bounds of development: it does not 
factor in any of the anticipated cost savings resulting from shared services, materials, or facilities.  

11317



18 

 

3. ECONOMIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
 

CHAPTER SUMMARY 
This chapter considers the potential economic impacts of the proposed horse park on the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Because we are estimating the impacts of a facility that does not 
yet exist, our estimates were developed by looking at the expenditures and existing facilities in 
other locations coupled with insights from our advisory board and other industry experts.  

We provide preliminary estimates of the economic impact of the three major components of the 
proposed horse park. These include: 

x A Thoroughbred race track with 75 race-days of activity during a full season.  
x An equestrian center that will be capable of hosting a variety of equestrian events (e.g. 

dressage, 3-day eventing, hunting/jumping competitions, etc.) at a national scale. We 
anticipate 70 equestrian and 18 non-equestrian events per year. 

x A horse retirement and retraining farm, capable of the housing, retraining, and care of 40 
former Thoroughbred racehorses. 

To our knowledge, no other facility in the nation includes all three components together at a single 
site. The proposed “Massachusetts Model” is truly unique. However, this creates a challenge for 
estimating the prospective impacts of such a facility, because there is no appropriate template to 
guide us. Therefore, we model each of the three components independently, and then combine 
their separate impacts to produce an overall estimate of the overall impact. In other words, we 
assume that the race track will operate as a distinct entity from the horse center and the retirement 
facility. Because we are treating each separately, we are not able to account for possible cost-savings 
in terms of shared facilities, staff, or discounts through bulk purchasing.  

Table 3.1: Combined Economic Impacts: Thoroughbred Racing, Equestrian Center, and 
Retirement Farm 
 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME* 

OUTPUT 
(SALES)* 

DIRECT EFFECT 651.7 $34,905,383  $53,785,565  
INDIRECT EFFECT 98.4 $6,011,609  $13,503,183  
INDUCED EFFECT 207.0 $12,216,334  $31,569,240  
TOTAL EFFECT 957.0 $53,133,324  $98,857,986  
                  *Reported in 2016 dollars 

Table 3.1 reports the combined economic impacts from the three major components of the 
proposed facility. We estimate that a multi-purpose horse park will bring $53.8 million in direct 
new spending to Massachusetts from out-of-state sources. These new dollars will have ripple effects 
throughout the entire economy, resulting in a total annual output impact of nearly $100 million. 

11317



19 

 

This is enough to support the creation of 957 new full-time equivalent (FTE) year-round jobs in 
the state. Slightly more than half of the new sales will make its way into the pockets of 
Massachusetts workers and households in the form of additional income.  

The ratio of total to direct effects is known as the multiplier. For these three components 
combined, our output multiplier is 1.83. That means for each dollar spent at the new facility—
whether by visitors, participants, or via facility operations—we predict an additional 83 cents will 
flow to other area businesses and workers. 

Table 3.2: Combined State and Local Tax Revenue Impacts: Thoroughbred Racing, 
Equestrian Center, and Retirement Farm 
 

 
 

STATE AND LOCAL 
TAX REVENUES* 

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION $78,244  
TAX ON PRODUCTION AND IMPORTS $3,125,820  
HOUSEHOLDS $1,678,505  
CORPORATIONS $188,253  
TOTAL $5,070,822  
       *Reported in 2016 dollars 

According to IMPLAN-based estimates, the combination of direct, indirect, and induced impacts 
will generate roughly $5 million in new state and local tax revenues per year (Table 3.2). The 
majority of the increased tax revenues will come from taxes on production and imports (62 
percent), namely sales tax revenues. Because we only include impacts from out-of-state visitors and 
participants, these sales taxes will almost entirely be borne by non-Massachusetts residents. The 
second largest source of tax revenues is household tax revenue, specifically the portion of personal 
income taxes paid on the additional earnings of workers directly and indirectly benefiting from the 
center. Corporate taxes (taxes on profits and dividends) are a distant third source of new tax 
revenue. Much of the anticipated revenue from increased corporate taxes will be from indirect 
sources, as we assume that the Horse Center and Retirement Farm portion of the project will 
operate as a non-profit entity. 

  

11317



20 

 

WHAT IS ECONOMIC IMPACT ANALYSIS? 
 

Economic impact analysis is a technique for 
measuring the net effects of new spending and 
investment on a regional economy’s employment, 
wages and business output (i.e. sales). This is done 
by estimating the amount of net new spending in the 
region as a direct result of a project (i.e. the direct 
effects). In the case of the proposed horse park, the 
direct economic impacts come from numerous 
sources. These include additional spending by event 
participants and horse owners required for the 
stabling, feeding, care and maintenance of their 
horses; the spending by out-of-state visitors at area 
retailers, restaurants, lodging establishments and 
other services; and the operational expenditures of 
the facility, of which wages and salaries are usually 
the largest portion. 

Beyond the initial influx of new funds, new direct 
spending in the region then goes on to have 
secondary (or indirect) economic impacts. Indirect 
impacts are generated from the exchange of these 
additional revenues among area businesses and their 
workers. For example, a portion of the increased 
visitor spending on area hotels is used to pay the 
employees of the hotel, and another portion goes 
toward the purchase of products and services from 
other local businesses. These local workers and 
businesses, in turn, use some of their increased 
revenues to buy other goods and services from other 
local businesses. Some of these funds are also spent 
outside the study region. This is considered 
“leakage” and does not continue to generate 
additional economic activity within the region. The 
direct investment combined with the exchange of 
money among local vendors and workers make up 
the total economic impact. The ratio of the direct to 
total economic impact is referred to as the 
multiplier effect. The total economic impacts and 
multipliers were generated using the IMPLAN 
economic modeling system. 

STUDY LIMITATIONS 
We believe that these are extremely conservative 
estimates of the actual impacts for several reasons. 
For one, we do not model economic impacts 
related to land acquisition costs or the construction 
of the facility — only operational costs. While 
construction impacts only last for a few years, they 
can often be substantial. However, construction 
impacts also depend heavily on site-specific 
features, as well as design and architectural 
decisions. It is rather premature to estimate these 
impacts before site is selected, designs for the 
facility have been drawn up, and there have been 
some preliminary engineering and architectural 
estimates. 

Second, we only count impacts that are attributable 
to “new money” flowing into the state. More 
specifically, we exclude the anticipated spending by 
in-state patrons of the race track, as well as 
spending by Massachusetts residents and 
participants attending equestrian shows and 
competitions. We have to assume they would have 
spent this money within the state even if the 
proposed facility did not exist. This is a standard 
assumption of most economic impact studies, 
although a rather conservative one. Clearly, if there 
were better facilities available within the state, then 
more Massachusetts riders and tourists would 
choose to recreate closer to home, rather than 
spend their money elsewhere.   

Third, we do not model the impacts of every 
aspect of the horse park: only the race track, the 
equestrian center events, and the retirement farm. 
The current plans also leave room for an on-site 
large-animal veterinary clinic and research center that will be operated by a university-affiliated 
partner institution. To the extent that this facility serves the needs of racing and event participants, 
its economic impacts are included. Our cost estimates for racing and event participants cover 
expenses on veterinary care that we assume will be provided at the on-site veterinary clinic. 
However, the clinic will have additional impacts that are not counted in this study if it is able to 
attract other (non-participant) patients of research grants from outside of the Commonwealth. 

11317



21 

 

Similarly, the facility also calls for an RV Park. On the one hand, the RV Park is expected to cater 
to people attending one or more of the Center’s many events, in which case they are included 
under our impacts of visitor spending on lodging. On the other hand, other visitors may also 
reserve space at the RV Park. The spending impacts from this group of visitors are not included. 
At this early stage we lack the information to know how widely the facility will be used by non-
center related visitors. Lastly, current plans call for an extensive system of recreational trails for the 
general enjoyment of the public. We assume that these recreational trails will primarily attract users 
from within Massachusetts. However, the trails may draw visitors from neighboring states as well, 
depending on its proximity, the quality of the trails, and the availability of other, similar 
recreational trail facilities. But without knowing more about the specific site and the plans for 
recreational trails, it is difficult to predict the number of out-of-state visitors. 

It is important to bear in mind that economic impact analysis is capable only of estimating impacts 
that are directly quantifiable in dollars. It is not capable of estimating impacts from less tangible 
benefits, such as helping to preserve Massachusetts’s agricultural heritage and open space; offering 
a venue for outdoor recreation that improves the wellness of area residents; and helping to ensure 
the continued vitality of the larger equestrian industry in the state. Local and statewide horse shows 
and competitions are integral to the long-term growth of the equestrian industry. They fuel the 
enthusiasm of young and established equestrians, and imbue them with a sense of belonging to a 
larger community. Sponsoring and showing support for local competitions and shows is also an 
important prerequisite for attracting national and regional events. Yet these types of events have 
little impact in this type of study, because they draw almost entirely from within the state. While we 
adhere to the conservative assumptions of the economic impact framework, we offer several case 
studies of actual equestrian competition to help illustrate some of these less tangible benefits. 

Our final limitation is simply a warning regarding the inherent uncertainty involved when 
forecasting economic impacts. This is a very early-stage assessment, and as the project develops the 
magnitude and distribution of the impacts will likely change. Furthermore, while the construction 
of a world-class facility is necessary for attracting top racing talent and sponsoring national and 
international caliber horse shows and competitions, it is not sufficient. The horse park must also 
be well-designed, well-managed, and able to successfully market itself to event organizers if it is to 
attract the full spectrum of events and attendance described in this report.  

The remainder of this chapter provides more detail on the assumptions that are the foundation for 
our estimates, as well as a breakdown of the impacts by each component (race track, equestrian 
center and retirement farm) as well as by sub-component (e.g. racing operations, racing 
participants, and racing spectators). 

  

11317



22 

 

THOROUGHBRED HORSE RACING EXPENDITURES & IMPACTS 
SUMMARY & ASSUMPTIONS 

The direct effects that determine the total economic impacts can be modeled either by estimating 
revenues or by estimating spending (i.e. expenditures). We model spending, because it allows us to 
more clearly identify economic transactions that take place within Massachusetts. A portion of the 
proceeds from racing never reaches the pockets of Massachusetts businesses or residents: the 
payouts to bets made over the internet or through off-site simulcast venues.   

The direct effects of the Thoroughbred racing facility come from numerous sources. First, there 
are expenditures associated with race track operations. Much of the funds used to support 
operations comes from betting revenues (the handle), although portions also come from on-site 
purchases of spectators, and payments made to the facility by racing participants. The spending of 
racing participants is the second primary source of direct impact. This includes the spending of 
Thoroughbred race horse owners who pay for training costs, jockeying fees, veterinary care, feed 
and bedding, tack and equipment, and the other miscellaneous costs incurred during the racing 
season. The final source of direct impact is the off-track spending of out-of-state visitors and 
spectators. This spending has an immediate benefit to area businesses, especially hotels, 
restaurants, gas stations, and other retail outlets. As previously mentioned, we only consider the 
spending of visitors that come from out-of-state, and exclude spending by Massachusetts residents 
under the standard assumption that it would have occurred within the state even if a new race track 
had never been built.  

Modeling the economic impacts of a prospective facility requires making some assumptions 
regarding the length of the racing season, the number of participants, and the number of out-of-
state visitors.  

Key Assumptions: 

x There will be 75 days of racing during a typical season. 
x The racing season will last for 150 days (mid-May through mid-October). 

x There will be an average of 9 races per race day, or 675 races during a typical season. 
x There will be a daily average of 800 horses in residence over the entire season. 

x The facility will average 3,000 spectators per race day, which accounts for typical racing 
events and one marquee special event, such as the MassCap. 

x Twenty percent of all spectators will be come from outside of Massachusetts. 
x The expansion of thoroughbred racing will spur the increased production of 115 new foals 

per year by Massachusetts breeders. 

We base these assumptions on our discussions with the client regarding their anticipated plans for 
race track, a review of existing Thoroughbred race tracks around the county, and through 
interviews with Thoroughbred racing experts.   

11317



23 

 

Based on these assumptions, we expect the new race track to yield $36.7 million in direct 
additional economic activity in the state (Table 3.3). These direct effects include the actual money 
spent in state by the race track, breeding farms, as well as by racing participants and spectators. 
This “new” money in the Massachusetts economy will change hands among workers and other 
area businesses, to generate a total of $66.3 million in annual output and sales, and support the 
creation of 664 new jobs and put over $38.2 million in the pockets of Massachusetts households 
each year. Our output multiplier for the race track component is 1.81. Thus, for every dollar spent 
directly at the race track, spectators or breeding/training farms, we expect an additional 81 cents to 
flow to other businesses in the state.  

Table 3.3: Summary Economic Impacts: Race Track Component 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME* 

OUTPUT 
(SALES)* 

DIRECT EFFECT 465.2 $26,212,516  $36,662,266  
INDIRECT EFFECT 49.8 $3,229,778  $6,914,236  
INDUCED EFFECT 149.0 $8,792,345  $22,720,396  
TOTAL EFFECT 663.9 $38,234,638  $66,296,898  
              *Reported in 2016 dollars 

The remainder of this section reports the economic impacts of each of the three racing 
components (operations, participants and visitors) separately, and discusses the key assumptions 
the yield our estimates.  

IMPACTS FROM RACING OPERATIONS 

The first component of our analysis of the proposed race track’s impacts is the impact generated 
from race track operations. We assume that the race track will generate $13 million per year in 
operational expenditures. We arrived at our estimates by examining other studies of 
Thoroughbred racing facilities around the county and consulting with racing industry experts, 
considering the preliminary design of the facility, and the expected length of the racing season. 
This amount is slightly less that what we found for other Thoroughbred race tracks. On average, 
our sample of other race tracks cost roughly $136 dollars per horse day, or just over $16 million 
per year. By contrast, our industry advisors estimate operational expenses in the order of $12 to 
$14 million per year for a racing facility of this size. Given its smaller footprint and more 
economical use of space, it is not surprising that the horse park will cost less to operate than many 
existing facilities. 

Assuming $13 million figure as the direct effects, our economic impact model estimates a total 
economic impact of just over $23.2 million per year in 2016 dollars (Table 3.4). At this level of 
output, we expect the facility will produce for roughly 338 jobs full-time equivalent (FTE) in the 
state economy, and contribute $14.4 million in income for Massachusetts households. Seventy of 
these new jobs (indirect + induced) will be created by other businesses in the state. 

11317



24 

Table 3.4: Summary Economic Impacts: Race track Operations 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME* 

OUTPUT 
(SALES)* 

DIRECT EFFECT 267.8 $10,371,093 $13,000,000 
INDIRECT EFFECT 14.0 $742,727 $1,609,959 
INDUCED EFFECT 56.3 $3,324,200 $8,588,390 
TOTAL EFFECT 338.1 $14,438,020 $23,198,350 

*Reported in 2016 dollars

IMPACTS FROM RACING PARTICIPANTS 

We estimate the direct impacts of race participants based on the average amount spent on each 
horse per day over the racing season (horse-days). With an estimated average of 800 horses on site 
per day over a 150-day season, we estimate 120,000 horse-days per year. Based on interviews with 
industry experts and a review of past studies, we estimate that it costs roughly $90 per day to train, 
feed, and provide for the general care of each horse during the racing season.1 This includes 
trainer fees and other costs paid direct by the owners, but not payments made by horse owners 
directly to the racetrack. Direct payments from owners to the racetrack are already included under 
racetrack operations. In addition, we do not consider the earnings from the horse owners’ takeout 
(or payments from betting revenues) beyond that amount that they spend on the training and care 
of their horses. This is likely to be negligible, as interviews with racing experts suggest that 
Thoroughbred racehorse owners often have very thin profit margins, and that many owners live 
out-of-state. 

It is important to note that we only consider the impacts of horse-related expenditures during the 
racing season. Although some of these will be Massachusetts Thoroughbreds and will reside in-
state during the off-season, we assume that Massachusetts horses would still be stabled in the 
Commonwealth during the off-season (even if there were no Thoroughbred racing facility), and 
that out-of-state horses would reside elsewhere. Likewise, we assume that both Massachusetts- and 
out-of-state horses would spend the racing season outside of Massachusetts if there were no 
racetrack. Therefore, all horse-related expenditures during the season are included as direct 
effects. 

Based on these calculations, we estimate $10.8 million per year in direct spending pertaining to the 
care, training and feeding of Thoroughbred racehorses at the horse park (Table 3.5). This direct 
spending will result in a total of $19.7 million in additional sales revenues for the state. This level 
of additional output can support the creation of roughly 138 FTE jobs and provide an additional 
$11.3 million in income to Massachusetts households. 

1 The $90 per horse-day cost estimate is somewhat lower than what is typically reported in other studies of 
thoroughbred racetracks, which average in the range of $120 to $130 per horse-day.  However, our industry 
advisors anticipate that training and related costs will be less in Massachusetts and that our averages are upwardly 
skewed by the inclusion of premier racetracks in our sample. 

11317



25 

 

Table 3.5: Summary Economic Impacts: Racing Participants 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME* 

OUTPUT 
(SALES)* 

DIRECT EFFECT 77.3 $7,664,557 $10,800,000 
INDIRECT EFFECT 16.0 $1,102,041 $2,218,360 
INDUCED EFFECT 44.3 $2,615,851 $6,760,334 
TOTAL EFFECT 137.5 $11,382,448 $19,778,693 
       *Reported in 2016 dollars 

IMPACTS FROM SPECTATOR SPENDING OFF-SITE 

We estimate that the new facility will attract 225,000 spectators per year. While our review of other 
studies produced an average daily attendance of 4,500, our advisory board and industry experts felt 
this number was too high, given the New England market, the relatively smaller grandstand, and 
industry wide trends of less foot traffic, but more remote forms of wagering. They suggested that a 
typical racing day will draw somewhere between 2,000 and 3,000 visitors, while special events (such 
as the MassCap) can draw up to 10,000. We settled on a daily average of 3,000 to account for 
attendance on both typical race days as well as for a handful of special racing events, across 75 days 
of racing. 

We only count the spending of out-of-state visitors as direct effects, under the assumption that 
Massachusetts residents would have spent this money in the state anyway, even without the new 
racetrack. This is a rather conservative assumption, as some Massachusetts racing enthusiasts 
would travel to out-of-state venues or engage in remote forms of betting. We estimate that 20 
percent of all spectators will be from out-of-state. This equates to 45,000 expected out-of-state 
visitors per year. The percentage of out-of-state spectators is difficult to predict, however. It 
depends greatly on the specific location of the facility in relation to major out-of-state population 
centers, highway access, the prestige of the racing events, as well as the availability of other 
competition venues. This variability is reflected in studies of other racetracks, which estimate the 
share of out-of-state visitors to be anywhere from 10 percent to 60 percent. We chose the estimate 
of 20 percent after consulting with advisory board members and other industry experts who 
understand the Massachusetts racing landscape.  

Compiling data from multiple studies, we estimate that each out-of-state visitor spends roughly 
$113 per day outside of the racetrack. This figure does not include money spent at the track, 
including wagers, food and souvenirs, which was already accounted for in our measurement of 
Center operational expenditures. Nearly 40 percent of all off-track spending is on lodging, with 
another 22 percent spent on food and drink. The remainder is near evenly split between 
entertainment, retail and travel expenses.  

Given these assumptions, the total spending of out-of-state visitors will be $5,089,050. We adjust 
this figure to account for travel-related expenses that may occur outside of Massachusetts. The 
adjusted direct effect from racing visitors is $4.1 million per year (Table 3.6). An increase of $4.1 

11317



26 

 

million in direct spending will produce a total impact of $7.2 million in additional sales and output 
per year. This is enough to support the creation of 76.5 new FTE jobs. It is important to note that 
because we only consider off-site spending, the entirety these 76.5 jobs will be generated by other 
businesses, and not at the track. 

Table 3.6: Summary Economic Impacts: Racing Spectators (Off-Site Only) 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME* 

 OUTPUT 
(SALES)* 

DIRECT EFFECT 57.29 $1,943,647  $4,079,141 
INDIRECT EFFECT 6.89 $488,773  $1,281,831 
INDUCED EFFECT 12.28 $724,947  $1,873,815 
TOTAL EFFECT 76.46 $3,157,368  $7,234,787 
           *Reported in 2016 dollars 

IMPACTS FROM THE THROUGHBRED BREEDING INDUSTRY 

Thoroughbred racehorse breeding is an import component of the Massachusetts Equine Industry, 
whose vitality is directly tied to the availability of racing opportunities within the Commonwealth.  
A Study of the Thoroughbred Equine Industry by Salem State University reported 62 
thoroughbred breeding farms in Massachusetts as of 2013, with 71 additional farms that are 
somehow affiliated with Thoroughbred racing. According to that study, these farms accounted for 
$15,086,483 in direct annual revenue and contributed 356 direct jobs to the state economy.    

The Massachusetts breeding industry has fallen on hard times in recent years. Between 1995 and 
2013, the Massachusetts foal crop has declined by 67 percent: dropping from 125 registered foals 
in 1995 to 41 in 2013 (Figure 3.1). We have seen a similar decline in the number of Mares bred by 
Massachusetts Stallions (down 73 percent) and the number of Massachusetts Stallions (down 67 
percent). 

In part, the decline of Massachusetts Thoroughbred breeding reflects a broader, national decline 
driven by increased competition from expanded casinos and on-line wagering. As the handle to 
horse racing declines, so do the returns to breeders. However, the decline of the Massachusetts 
breeding industry far outpaces national trends. Figure 3.2, below, shows the relative decline in foal 
production since 1995. 

 

11317



27 

 

Figure 3.1: Thoroughbred Horse Breeding in Massachusetts, 1995 to 2013 

 

Source:  The Jockey Club. 2016. Massachusetts Fact Book.  

 

Figure 3.2: Foal Production, Massachusetts compared to the US, 1995 to 2013 

 

Sources:  The Jockey Club. 2016. Massachusetts and National Fact Books. 

Beyond national trends, the decline of the Massachusetts breeding industry is attributable to two 
primary factors: (1) low purses relative to other states, and (2) shrinking racing opportunities in the 
Commonwealth. Low relative purses reduce the potential returns to breeders and attract lower 
quality horses to racetracks in the state. This, in turn, leads to fewer bettors and smaller wagers, 

11317



28 

 

which erode purses even further. The vicious cycle of falling purses depresses the value of 
Massachusetts equine breeding farms, which discourages investment in thoroughbred breeding, 
and threatens the open space the farms preserve. Over the past two decades, Massachusetts purses 
have typically fallen short of the national average, and have been well below our neighboring state 
of New York (Figure 3.3). That has changed following the passage of the Expanded Gaming Act of 
2011, which dedicates a portion of casino revenues to supplement purses, making them more 
competitive with tracks in other states. The state’s first licensed slots parlor opened in 2015, at 
Plainridge Park Casino, resulting in the dramatic rise in purses from 2014 to 2015 (Figure 3.3.) 
The Act also dedicates a portion of casino revenues to breeder awards, which provides additional 
incentives to Massachusetts-based breeders.2 
 

Figure 3.3: Thoroughbred Purses per Race, Massachusetts vs.  New York and the US 

 

Sources:  The Jockey Club. 2016. Massachusetts, New York, and National Fact Books.    

The second critical component to a healthy thoroughbred breeding industry is access to ample in-
state racing opportunities. Even with the competitive purse and breeding award programs codified 
in the Expanded Gaming Act, Thoroughbred breeding in Massachusetts will likely continue to 
struggle until there is more racing in Massachusetts. While the current rules permit bonuses paid 
to MA bred horses that race elsewhere, the major financial rewards are reserved for races taking 
                                                 
2 It is worth noting that in 2011, New York began allocating a portion of the revenues from Video Lottery 
Terminals (VLTs) into the purse supports and breeder awards.  As a result, the average purse per race rose from 
$34,956 in 2011 to $46,042 in 2012 (reported in 2015 equivalent dollars), according to data from the Jockey Club. 
These purse supplements and breeder awards had an immediate impact on foal production in New York, which 
increased by nearly 250 registered foals in a single year. 
 

11317



29 

 

place within Massachusetts. Simply put, fewer races provide fewer opportunities to earn revenue. 
There were only 36 Thoroughbred races held in Massachusetts last year at Suffolk Downs (Figure 
3.4). Without a racetrack of sufficient quality to attract top-level racing, the future of the 
Thoroughbred industry in Massachusetts remains uncertain. This uncertainty sends a negative 
market signal to breeders and owners that discourages long-term investments in horses, capital 
equipment, land acquisition and other infrastructure. Breeders and owners also have a strong 
preference to locate near where their horses are racing. This is, in part, due to costs associated with 
travel and related expenses, but it reflects the fact that owners and breeders simply love to see their 
horses compete. 

 

Figure 3.4: The Number of Thoroughbred Races held in Massachusetts, 1996 to 2015 

 

Source:  The Jockey Club. 2016. Massachusetts Fact Book.  

It is clear from the preceding discussion that the establishment of a new thoroughbred racetrack 
will have a direct impact on the state’s horse breeding industry. We focus on the expenditures 
associated with a reasonable expansion in the number of foals bred and housed in Massachusetts. 
We assume that the present purse subsidies and breeding program established under the 
Expanded Gaming Act of 2011 will continue in their present form. The discontinuation or 
restructuring of these incentives would certainly have a direct impact on the relative returns to 
breeding, and thus the possible expansion of the industry or the expected impacts of the program. 

It is difficult to predict how many new foals we can reasonably expect following the opening of a 
new thoroughbred track with 75 days of racing.  Our discussions with breeding industry experts 
suggests that it is reasonable to expect an increase in the Massachusetts foal crop to something 

11317



30 

 

slightly above the 1995 level of production. Therefore, we assume an increase of 115 foals per year 
over current levels. This is a rather conservative assumption. The ultimate size of the foal crop may 
well be much larger as additional casinos open and purses and breeding awards continue to rise. 
Breeders typically raise their foals for two years prior to sale and the start of their training. 
Therefore, we estimate the number of additional foals residing in Massachusetts at 230: twice the 
expected number of foals born each year. The mother of the foals (mares) must also be cared for 
during the nearly year-long gestation period. We assume 115 additional Massachusetts mares will 
reside in Massachusetts per year (one mare per foal). 

Breeding, raising and training thoroughbred racehorses is a rather expensive business. Based upon 
our discussions with several Massachusetts breeders, we estimate that it costs roughly $10,000 per 
year to care for a foal or mare. This estimate corresponds with those from a 2013 study of a 
racetrack in Saratoga, NY that estimated costs between $6,000 and $12,000 per year to care for a 
mare or foal in New York. At $10,000 per horse for 345 foals and mares, we estimate the 
equestrian racing complex will result in just under $3.5 million per year in total annual new 
spending by Massachusetts breeders. 
 
Foals typically begin their formal training for racing in their third year. A young racehorse typically 
spends a year in training before their first start, and continues training throughout their career. 
According to industry experts, 90 percent of Massachusetts-bred foals will likely train and race in 
state (assuming the construction of a new racetrack and the current purse and award supplements). 
The yearly costs of training, stabling, and feeding a thoroughbred racehorse is estimated at $25,000 
per year, for a total annual expenditure bill of nearly $2.6 million. We assume the remaining 10 
percent of foals are sold out-of-state at the national average auction price. Over the past three years, 
the average sale price from two-year old horses was approximately $70,000 per horse according to 
statistics from the U.S. Jockey Club. Thus, we include an addition $805,000 per year for expanded 
out-of-state horse sales. 

Our estimates of racing participant impacts already include the costs associated with active 
racehorses during the racing season. There, we estimated that it costs roughly $13,500 to train and 
care for each horse during the season. Some of these active horses will remain in Massachusetts 
off-season, while others will return to their home states or move on to events in other states. For 
example, a 2012 study of racing at Suffolk Downs reports that over 80 percent of all Suffolk 
Thoroughbreds are from out-of-state. However, the purse and breeder incentives enacted through 
the 2011 Expanded Gaming Act greatly improve the expected returns to Massachusetts-bred 
horses and thus will likely increase the share of Massachusetts horses racing at the new track. We 
use the conservative estimate that 400 active horses (or half of the assumed 800 horses on-site) will 
be from Massachusetts. In time, we expect an even larger share of horses racing at the new 
racetrack will be from in state, although it will take a few years for the Massachusetts-bred horses to 
work their way into the racing circuit. Given the average care and training costs of $25,000 per 
horse and the racing season expenses of $13,500, we estimate off-season expenditures of $11,500 
per horse, or $4.6 million in total. 

11317



31 

 

 
Expenditures for horse breeding, care, and training typically include veterinary fees, farrier 
(shoeing) care, bedding, feed, and labor costs. Breeding and training farms also make periodic 
investments in materials, new equipment, and other infrastructure. Most of this spending will go to 
workers living in Massachusetts or in-state vendors. Assuming that 75 percent of all direct 
expenditures stay in state, we estimate a combined direct effect of just under $8.0 million in 
additional direct purchases to Massachusetts businesses/workers per year. With the $805,000 in 
exports from out-of-state horse sales, the total direct effect approaches $8.8 million per year, and a 
total economic impact of just over $16 million per year in 2016 dollars (Table 3.7). This level of 
additional output is enough to sustain 112 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs, and contribute over $9 
million in additional income for Massachusetts households. 
 

Table 3.7: Summary Economic Impacts: Expansion of the MA Breeding Industry 

 
 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME* 

OUTPUT 
(SALES)* 

DIRECT EFFECT 62.9 $6,233,219 $8,783,125 
INDIRECT EFFECT 13.0 $896,237 $1,804,086 
INDUCED EFFECT 36.0 $2,127,347 $5,497,857 
TOTAL EFFECT 111.9 $9,256,802 $16,085,068 
           *Reported in 2016 dollars 

EQUESTRIAN CENTER HORSE SHOWS & COMPETITIONS 
SUMMARY & ASSUMPTIONS 

The economic impact of the equestrian center component of the horse park will also come from 
three primary sources: (1) center operations; (2) horse-related spending by out-of-state participants; 
and (3) people-related spending by out-of-state visitors and participants. As before, we are careful 
not to double count spending across categories, such as event and entry fees, paid by participants, 
which fund facility operations. We also only consider spending that comes from out-of-state 
sources. 

Our approach is to model a hypothetical “calendar” of equestrian events that could be expected at 
the facility once it is in full operation and has had sufficient time to establish itself as a premier 
destination among event organizers and horse enthusiasts. The economic impact of the proposed 
Equestrian Center relies greatly on the number and prestige of the events held at the facility. 
Generally, the more events there are, the greater the impact becomes. This is especially true when 
those events are international and national in scope, as they draw a greater number of visitors from 
outside of the state.  

We assume that the proposed Center will be a first-class facility, with the potential of hosting major 
national events. Our estimates of the number of events and presumptive attendance figures are 

11317



32 

 

based on a thorough review of existing equestrian centers and horse parks around the nation, with 
a particular focus on the Virginia Horse Center, in Lexington VA, and the Kentucky Horse Park, 
in Lexington KY. Both are considered first-class equestrian facilities, and both regularly host 
national and international grade events.  

Using the activity at other centers as a guide, we developed a set of initial assumptions regarding 
the usage of the facility. We then adjusted these initial estimates based on interviews with industry 
experts, such as directors of similar Centers in other parts of the country. Given the inherent 
uncertainty, we tend to err on the side of offering more conservative, yet realistic, attendance and 
participation estimates. 

Key Assumptions: 

x There will be 70 equestrian events held throughout the year. The calendar will include five 
major events (national scale such as division championship), 40 mid-sized events (multi-
state such as a regional division championship), and 25 minor events (within state, or local). 

x The facility will also host 18 non-equestrian events, predominantly catering to a local and 
regional audience. 

x A typical major equestrian event will last for four days. Moderate and minor events will last 
for 4.5 and 1.5 days, respectively. Non-equine events will last for 2 days, on average. 

x The average equine event will attract roughly 2,221 unique visitors. The average non-
equine event will attract 1,211 unique visitors per event. 

x Eighty percent of the visitors and participants at major events will come from out-of-state. 
The typical moderate-scale event will draw 45 percent of its visitors from neighboring 
states. A minor event will only draw 5 percent from out-of-state. Finally, 20 percent of the 
attendees of non-equine events will be from outside Massachusetts. 

The key assumption of 70 equestrian events per year falls within the range of other major 
equestrian centers, such as in Virginia and Kentucky, which host between 70 and 90 equestrian 
events per year. Our assumption of 18 non-equestrian events is also in keeping with other centers, 
which typically host between three to four equine events for every non-equine event. 

Based on these assumptions, we expect the new facility to attract $16.7 million in direct additional 
economic activity in the state each year (Table 3.8). The largest portion of this comes from event 
visitors and participants who make purchases at the event and at area businesses. As this $16.7 
million in new money trickles through the Massachusetts economy, it will generate a combined 
total of $31.8 million in annual output and sales: enough to support the creation of 280 new FTE 
jobs and generate $14.5 million in new household income. The statewide output multiplier for the 
Equestrian Center component is 1.9. Thus for every dollar spend directly at or by the center, we 
expect an additional 90 cents to flow to other businesses in the state.  

 

 

11317



33 

 

Table 3.8: Summary Economic Impacts: Equestrian Center Component 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME 

OUTPUT 
(SALES) 

DIRECT EFFECT 175.0 $8,427,085 $16,658,893 
INDIRECT EFFECT 48.1 $2,745,964 $6,497,418 
INDUCED EFFECT 56.5 $3,333,705 $8,615,606 
TOTAL EFFECT 279.5 $14,506,754 $31,771,916 

 

IMPACTS FROM CENTER OPERATIONS 

We estimate that the proposed equestrian center will spend roughly $5.6 million per year in 
operations. We developed this estimate by dividing the total annual operational expenditures at 
other equestrian centers by the number of days those facilities were hosting events (i.e. event-days). 
The average operational costs for existing centers run close to $35,600 per event-day. As we expect 
157.5 total event days at the proposed Massachusetts facility, the resulting annual operations 
budget is estimated to be roughly $5.6 million. This compares well with other existing centers.  
The Virginia Horse Center’s operational budget is closer to $4 million per year. The Kentucky 
Horse Park has annual operational expenditures of roughly $12 million per year, but has extensive 
facilities, including a horse museum and the offices of national equestrian associations, 
complemented by numerous revenue streams. 

Not all of the operational spending can be counted as direct effects, however. Unlike a race track, 
which generates a separate revenue stream through the handle, a large share of an equestrian 
center’s operational costs are financed through fees charged to event organizers, participants, 
spectators, and on-site sales of products and services. Some of these individuals will be from 
Massachusetts. As before, we can only attribute the portion of the operational expenditures that 
come from out-of-state sources as direct effects. A 2007 study of the Kentucky Horse Park 
estimates that roughly 66 percent of all revenues originate from out-of-state.  

Assuming a similar percentage, we estimate that Center operations will add $3.7 million in new 
spending to the Massachusetts economy per year (Table 3.9). According to IMPLAN, this level of 
output is enough to sustain 32 FTE employees at the facility. The actual center may actually hire 
more workers than this, especially at peak season. However, our model only reports the portion of 
employment that is supported by new outside funds, and does not consider workers that are paid 
for by in-state proceeds. 

We estimate the total economic impact due to operations at $8.5 million per year. This is 
equivalent to 70 new FTE jobs and $2.9 million in additional labor income. 

  

11317



34 

 

Table 3.9: Summary Economic Impacts: Center Operations 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME 

OUTPUT 
(SALES) 

DIRECT EFFECT 31.72 $912,007 $3,703,346 
INDIRECT EFFECT 27.43 $1,295,161 $3,046,032 
INDUCED EFFECT 11.18 $659,908 $1,705,022 
TOTAL EFFECT 70.32 $2,867,076 $8,454,400 

 

EVENT PARTICIPANT/HORSE-RELATED EXPENDITURES 

As with racehorses, participants at equestrian competitions and shows spend a considerable 
amount of money on the feeding and care of their horses during shows and competitions. They 
also make purchases of horse-related supplies and equipment at these events. Our hypothetical 
calendar includes 70 equestrian related events per season, divided into 5 major, 40 moderate, and 
25 minor events per season. In this scenario, we model participant spending on a per horse-day 
basis. Based on an analysis of other studies, we assume that the typical major event hosts 500 
horses per day over a four-day event. Moderate events are expected to last for 2.5 days, on average, 
and host 300 horses. We assume that minor events host 150 horses per day and last for 1.5 days, 
on average. We also make different assumptions regarding the origin of the participants, based on 
the scale of the event. There is no solid data on where the horses come from, but there is for the 
human participants. We assume that major events draw 80 percent of participants from out-of-
state, moderate events draw 45 percent, and minor events only 5 percent. This is in keeping with 
the fact that, by definition, minor events are almost always local events that primarily draw 
participants from within the state. 

Over a typical year of 70 events, we expect there will be just over 40,000 horse-days spent at the 
facility by out-of-state participants. Based upon data provide by studies of other centers, we 
estimate an average of $141 of spending per horse per event day. This includes event fees, feed, 
bedding, veterinary care, and other direct horse expenditures while at the event. It also includes the 
purchase of horse-related equipment and supplies, which are typically for sale at shows by specialty 
retailers. It does not include spending pertaining to the lodging, care, and feeding of the human 
participants. The next section on visitor impacts covers the impacts of their spending. 

The $141 in daily purchases, made by out-of-state participants across 40,281 horse-days, produces 
a total direct effect of $5.7 million per year (Table 3.10). This additional revenue will produce a 
total impact of over $10.4 million on the Massachusetts economy, primarily through increases to 
household income and household spending. Over $6 million will go to Massachusetts workers, 
and the additional spending of these workers alone (the induced effect) will generate $3.6 million 
in new sales in the Commonwealth. 

 

11317



35 

 

Table 3.10: Summary Economic Impacts: Center Participants 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME 

OUTPUT 
(SALES) 

DIRECT EFFECT 40.76 $4,042,180 $5,695,769 
INDIRECT EFFECT 8.41 $581,201 $1,169,932 
INDUCED EFFECT 23.37 $1,379,563 $3,565,305 
TOTAL EFFECT 72.53 $6,002,944 $10,431,006 

 

Note that while we provide these estimates for participants at equestrian events, we do not provide 
a comparable analysis of spending of participants at other events. The non-equine events held at 
equestrian facilities vary greatly: dog-shows, tractor-pulls, and agricultural fairs, just to name a few of 
the possibilities. There are simply far too many options to develop an accurate spending profile for 
participants at these venues. This means that our figures will be underestimates, but by how much 
we do not know. The downward bias may end-up being rather small considering that there are 
relatively few non-equestrian events on the hypothetical calendar. It is also likely that participants of 
horse shows and competitions spend far more money than other event participants, who do not 
normally have to cover the cost of feeding and care of a large animal. 

IMPACTS FROM CENTER VISITOR SPENDING 

The final component is the spending on the (human) participants and other event spectators. For 
the sake of brevity, we will refer to these as visitor impacts. We developed a profile of the typical 
spending patterns of equestrian center visitors, based on a review of studies of existing centers 
elsewhere in the county. Overall, the expenditure patterns of horse park visitors look a lot like the 
non-wager spending of racing spectators. Horse park visitors spend an average of $109 per day, 
with lodging, food/restaurants, retail purchases, and travel services being the largest expenditure 
categories. We were not able to develop separate estimates for non-equestrian event visitors, but 
assume they follow a similar expenditure profile as those attending equestrian events. 

We also used these studies to develop daily attendance rates for both equestrian and non-
equestrian events. The average daily attendance for equestrian events was 2,221 visitors (including 
event participants). The average daily attendance for non-equestrian events held at existing centers 
was 1,211. Considering the number of hypothetical event days, we estimate the total annual out-of-
state attendance at equestrian events (of all types) at 78,287 unique visitors per year. To put this in 
context, a recent study of the economic impact of the Kentucky Horse Park estimated the number 
of unique equine event visitors at 93,992. Attendance of roughly 80,000 visitors per year seems 
reasonable, given that we assuming fewer events at our prospective facility (70 equestrian events for 
MA, and roughly 90 for Kentucky). We also assume that larger events draw a relatively larger share 
of its visitors from out-of-state. Based on studies that use both license plate and visitor surveys at 
other centers, we assume that major events draw 80 percent of participants from out-of-state, 
moderate events draw 45 percent, and minor events only 5 percent. We assume that 20 percent of 
the visitors for non-equestrian events are from out-of-state, a number reported in a 2001 study of 

11317



36 

 

the Virginia Horse Center. We estimate that there will be 21,201 attendees at non-equestrian 
events throughout the year, 4,240 of whom will be from out-of-state. 

Multiplying our estimates of daily expenditures with our estimate of 82,527 daily event attendees 
produces an estimate of just over $9 million in total visitor expenditures per year. Some of this 
spending will take place outside of Massachusetts. Using standard local spending averages provided 
within IMPLAN, we estimate that out-of-state visitors will spend roughly $7.3 million per year in 
Massachusetts while attending events at the equestrian center. This additional revenue will produce 
roughly $12.9 million in total new spending and 137 new FTE jobs in the Commonwealth each 
year (Table 3.11). 

Table 3.11: Summary Economic Impacts: Center Visitor Spending 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME 

OUTPUT 
(SALES) 

DIRECT EFFECT 102.47 $3,472,898 $7,259,778 
INDIRECT EFFECT 12.26 $869,602 $2,281,454 
INDUCED EFFECT 21.92 $1,294,234 $3,345,279 
TOTAL EFFECT 136.65 $5,636,734 $12,886,510 

 

THOROUGHBRED HORSE RETIREMENT FARM 
The third and final component of our economic impact model considers impacts from the 
operations of a retirement and retraining farm for Thoroughbred racehorses. Although there are 
no formal studies of the economic impact of such farms to use as a guide, we were able consult 
with the founder and current president of Old Friends Thoroughbred Retirement Farms. We used 
financial and operational data from Old Friends to estimate the economic impacts of a similar type 
of facility in Massachusetts.  

Old Friends is a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization that operates two Thoroughbred retirement 
centers: one in Georgetown, KY and a second, smaller, facility in Saratoga, NY. In 2015, Old 
Friends also acquired a satellite facility along the Kentucky/Tennessee border. Together these 
facilities are home to roughly 150 rescued and retired Thoroughbreds. Revenues come entirely 
from donations, grants, sales at its gift shop, and private support. The larger Kentucky facility has 
also become a popular tourist destination, attracting roughly 20,000 visitors per year. 

We assume that the proposed Massachusetts retirement farm will follow a similar revenue model 
where operational costs come entirely from out-of-state contributions. We further assume that the 
facility will house 40 Thoroughbreds on site, although the actual number will depend upon site-
specific considerations that are yet to be determined. A 40-horse farm is considerably smaller than 
the Kentucky farm, with roughly 120 horses in residence, but it is larger than that of Saratoga, 
which has closer to 20. We cannot predict how many of these horses will be from out-of-state, but 

11317



37 

 

it is a fair assumption that without such a facility in the state, these horses would have to be cared 
for elsewhere.   

At this level, we estimate that the Massachusetts facility will spend slightly more than $325,000 on 
operations, including all horse-related expenditures (Table 3.12). We also assume that the 
Massachusetts Farm will draw roughly 7,000 visitors per year, of which 20 percent will be from 
outside of the state. The spending profile of these out-of-state visitors will mirror that of other types 
of tourists who spend roughly $96 per day on lodging, food and other purchases.   

Table 3.12: Summary Economic Impacts, 40 Horse Retirement Farm 

 
 

FTE 
EMPLOYMENT 

LABOR 
INCOME 

OUTPUT 
(SALES) 

DIRECT EFFECT 11.53 $265,782 $464,406 
INDIRECT EFFECT 0.49 $35,867 $91,529 
INDUCED EFFECT 1.53 $90,284 $233,238 
TOTAL EFFECT 13.55 $391,932 $789,172 

 

The combined spending of the Center and its out-of-state visitors is expected to generate roughly 
$464,000 dollars in additional sales in the Commonwealth per year. This is enough to provide 11 
FTE jobs at industry standard salaries. However, as this type of facility relies greatly on volunteer 
labor, the actual employment count at the farm may be smaller. Accounting for leakage and 
multiplier effects, the total economic impact of the retirement farm will be just under $800,000 per 
year, enough to sustain 13.5 FTE year-round jobs. 

  

11317



38 

 

4. CONCLUSION 
Based on our analysis, it is our conclusion that the creation of a multi-use horse park would 
provide a significant economic opportunity for the Commonwealth. The following factors were 
critical in forming this conclusion. 

x The creation of a horse park will result in the capture of a significant amount of tourist, 
recreational, educational, exhibition and service activity not presently found in the 
Commonwealth. The Massachusetts Horse Park would be far more than a race track: it 
would be an all-season venue attractive to a wide array of visitors across New England. 
Indeed, there is no such facility in New England. 

x Massachusetts residents, despite a lack of local opportunities, have maintained a 
significant interest in horse wagering. The horse park would help to capture these funds 
within the Commonwealth. 

x The horse park would capture conference and trade show events that, despite our 
significant interest in equestrian activities, is largely bypassing the Commonwealth and 
New England. 

x The horse park would expand retail sales for a wide array of Massachusetts based 
merchants who focus on the sale of equestrian goods and services. 

x The horse park would expand our academic research and training in equestrian 
activities through the potential involvement of equine programs at universities, 
community colleges, and agricultural vocational high schools. 

x Through a local purchasing policy, local farmers would have increased opportunities to 
sell their produce. It would also bring more acreage, now unproductive, in to active use. 

x Through involvement with 4-H and other organizations helping to educate our youth, 
the horse park would have a first rate facility to meet their needs and interests. 

x Through the creation of a retirement home, the owners of older horses will be able to 
find a caring facility close enough for visiting, and retrain their animals for second and 
third careers in competitive or therapeutic pursuits. 

x Through the creation of riding, hiking and cross country skiing trails, the horse park 
would stimulate a healthy recreational involvement of its citizens and job opportunities 
in a multi-season venue. 

x The local community would capture additional income through a “Payments in Lieu of 
Taxes” (PILOT) agreement. 

x The creation of a year round Farmer’s Market/Artisanal Market venue would provide 
the potential for the sale of local produce and products. 

x Through the use of modern lodging networks, local homes could gain revenue through 
boarding opportunities for tourists. 

x The horse park will employ green energy principles in order to save costs and reduce 
its carbon footprint. Its open character suggests extensive opportunities for solar power. 

x With the creation of a high end hotel, it will become a destination for weddings and 
banquets far beyond the racing season. 

x It will bring job opportunities to an area in need of economic development.  

11317



39 

 

5. COMMUNITY IMPACT CASE STUDIES 
 

In this section of the report, we profile three case studies to help illustrate the types of events that 
could be offered at a Massachusetts Horse Park. The first, the Rolex Kentucky Three Day Event, 
is a major national scale competition, one of a handful of premier events on the U.S. equestrian 
calendar. The second, the New England Dressage Association Fall Festival is more typical of a 
regional-scale event, primarily drawing participants from the Northeastern United States. The 
third, the Massachusetts 4-H horse-show, is a statewide event. While it may draw few visitors from 
outside of the Commonwealth, we include it as a case study to help illustrate how these types of 
events support agricultural education and heritage.    

ROLEX KENTUCKY THREE-DAY EVENT | LEXINGTON, KY 
 

HISTORY 

The Rolex Kentucky Three-Day Event (RK3DE) 
is held annually at the Kentucky Horse Park in 
Lexington, KY (Figure C1, below). The 1,224-
acre facility is dedicated to “man’s relationships 
to horse.” The Kentucky Horse Park opened in 
1978; the first World Championships were held 
there the same year. The event attracted 170,000 
spectators, and brought $4 million to the local 
economy. It was also broadcast worldwide on 
CBS, putting Lexington on the map. The success convinced the American Horse Show 
Association to ask the event organizers to hold the event annually. In 1979 it was termed the 
“Kentucky Horse Trials” which was later changed to its current title 1982, when it was chosen as 
the initial sponsorship recipient by Rolex Watch U.S.A. The RK3DE held many levels of events in 
its first decade of operation, including intermediate and preliminary competitions. In the 
equestrian eventing world, the highest event level rating is CCI**** (the Concours Complet 
International four-star), as determined by the International Federation for Equestrian Sports (FEI). 
The RK3DE become the country’s first and the world’s third CCI**** competition in 1998. In 
2000, the CCI**** is the event’s only competition, and RK3DE no longer offers any lower level 
competitions. 

 

  

11317



40 

 

Figure C1: Kentucky Horse Park (source: kyforward.com) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EVENTING ACTIVITIES 

Although the competition title states “three-day,” the eventing happens over a four-day span. 
Dressage encompasses the first two days, and focuses on equestrian control, and is considered the 
most aesthetically pleasing of the disciplines. The cross-country phase is held on the third day, 
testing equestrian stamina with 30-40 obstacles along an outdoor course, made to simulate the 
surrounding countryside. The final phase, jumping, tests equestrian fitness on the final day, and is 
held entirely within an indoor stadium ring (Figure C2). These three events, in combination, 
extensively test the partnership between the horse and its rider. 

Figure C2: Stadium Jumping at RK3DE (source: kentuckyworldequestriangames.com) 

 

  

11317



41 

 

COMMUNITY IMPACT 

Lexington is Kentucky’s second-largest city, with an estimated population of 310,797 as of 2014, 
according to the U.S. Census Bureau. Lexington is the center of Kentucky’s Bluegrass Region, an 
area characterized by fertile soil, open pasture land, and active farms. It was the first city in the 
United States to enact an Urban Growth Boundary, which restricts development and helps to 
preserve farmlands. Known as the “Horse Capital of the World,” it is easy to see that horses and 
farms are a central part of this community. 

Lexington’s economy is among the most stable in the country, with a 4.4 percent unemployment 
rate as of January 2016. Its largest employer is the University of Kentucky, and the city is home to 
many large corporations, including Xerox, Lexmark International, Lockheed-Martin, IBM, and 
the J.M. Smucker Company. Unsurprisingly, Lexington is one of the ten well-educated cities in the 
nation: nearly 40 percent of its residents possess at least a bachelor’s degree. The city also hosts 
many cultural events and fairs, such as the Mayfest Arts Fair, the Festival of the Bluegrass, Festival 
Latino de Lexington, and “Southern Lights: Spectacular Sights on Holiday Nights” held at the 
Kentucky Horse Park.  

Even a single massive event like the RK3DE can have considerable impact on the community. The 
RK3DE brings in people from all over the world, who spend a considerable amount of money at 
area businesses. A 2013 study estimated that the RK3DE’s total economic impact on the local 
economy was $14.2 million in a four-day span: over $3.5 million per day. The major impact driver 
was the money spent by the estimated 35,991 visitors from outside the region, who accounted for 
10,600 paid lodging room-nights during the event. Remarkably, approximately 25 percent of 
visitors enjoyed annual household incomes exceeding $150,000 per year. Visitors spent an average 
of $243.74 per day per person in in the local economy. Almost $4 million of the new money 
flowing into the region went to area businesses outside of the horse-park, for food transportation, 
lodging, and equestrian needs. 

The Kentucky Horse Park, where RK3DE is held, is about 10 miles outside of Lexington and 
about 8 miles outside of Georgetown. There were plans in 2010 to put in a hotel on the same I-75 
exit as the Kentucky Horse Park, but this has yet to come to fruition. However, the lack of lodging 
near the horse park has been to the benefit of downtown Lexington, where many RK3DE visitors 
stay, shop, eat and drink. 

  

11317



42 

 

Figure C3: A view of Lexington in the distance (source: visitlex.com)  

 

Horses are an integral part of Lexington’s social fabric, woven into its, economy, culture, and 
identity. The RK3DE provides many benefits for people who live within the vicinity, namely the 
chance to see national and international equestrian celebrities. Tom Elben, a columnist for the 
Lexington Herald-Leader, describes the RK3DE as a bonus of living in Lexington. “It’s a good 
excuse to get out and walk around on a beautiful day in a beautiful place and see some of the 
world’s best horses and riders do amazing things” (Elben, 2009). This event is an inspiration for 
beginner riders who are looking to improve their riding and eventing skills. The possibility to see 
world-class riders and experience a world class event gives the community an opportunity to 
display their Kentucky pride and love of all things equestrian. “A major Rolex demographic is little 
girls who love horses and older girls who are getting good at riding them. They are accompanied by 
camera-toting fathers, and mothers, many of whom used to be those little girls” (Elben, 2009). The 
RK3DE is a symbol of the community’s legacy and tradition. It not only brings world-class riders to 
the community, it also brings the community to the riders. 

 

  

11317



43 

 

FALL FESTIVAL OF DRESSAGE | SAUGERTIES, NY 
HISTORY 

The United States Dressage Federation (USDF) 
was founded in the early 1970s, in order to 
advance “education, recognition of achievement, 
and promotion of dressage.” The USDF is 
divided into nine regions with affiliated local 
dressage clubs as group member organizations, or 
GMOs (Figure C4, below). Each region hosts its 
own annual championship, and the largest of 
these is in Region 8, which comprises GMOs in 
New York and New England. Every year, the New 
England Dressage Association (NEDA) hosts the 
championship, the Fall Festival of Dressage, at the 
HITS-on-the-Hudson event center in Saugerties, NY. 

Figure C4: USDF Region Map (Source: www.usdf.org) 

THE EVENT 

The Fall Festival is held in late 
September. It is a four-day event, 
with multiple competitions in skill 
classes ranging from the Training 
Level to the Grand Prix. There are 
about 700 horses competing for the 
chance to move on to national 
competitions. The purse for the Fall 
Festival is $49,000, and spectator 
admission is free. 

The Region 8 Championship gives 
the winning riders the chance to 
compete at the National Dressage Finals at the Kentucky Horse Park in November. This event 
also supports a National Competition in which many rider levels compete. The NEDA sponsors 
the Fall Festival Dressage Sweepstakes, the NEDA Adult Amateur Championships, and the 
NEDA Juniors/Young Rider Championships. The CDI-W Y/J Saugerties International 
Competition is also held during the Fall Festival, an event recognized by the International 
Federation for Equestrian Sport (FEI). During this competition, riders and their horse can earn 
points towards representing their country at the World Games.  

The Fall Festival also hosts a major competition for horse breeders and a major equestrian trade 
fair. The Sport Horse Breed Show is held on Thursday and Friday and offers the New England 
Sport Horse Breeder’s Futurity Award ($5,400) to recognize quality sport horse breeders in the 

11317



44 

 

New England area (Figure C5, below). This competition serves as the regional finals of the USDF 
Breeders Championship New England Series. Lastly, the Equestrian Trade Fair is held all four 
days of the Fall Festival, supporting artists, horse suppliers, boutiques, and trailers. 

COMMUNITY IMPACT 

Saugerties is located in southeastern New York, sandwiched between the Catskill Mountains and 
the Hudson River. As of the 2010 U.S. Census, its population was 19,482. Although it is a small 
town, it boasts a colorful history. The town was originally purchased from the Esopus Sachem 
Tribe in 1677 for a piece of cloth, a shirt, a loaf of bread, and maize.  

Figure C5: DonarShaun ggf [sic], winner of the 2015 Futurity 

 The community is extremely 
proud of its heritage, evident 
through the preservation of many 
historical and cultural landmarks, 
such as the Saugerties Lighthouse, 
the 1727 Kiersted House, and the 
Opus 40 environmental sculpture 
(Figures C6 and C7, below). 
Industry still has an important 
role, but there has been 
substantial growth in tourism in 
recent years, attracting people 
from the New York City area and 
beyond.   

Traditionally, Saugerties is not a 
horse town but rather a blue-collar community that has suffered under a number of major plant 
closings in the past decades—such as the 1994 closure of a 1,500 job IBM plant in the nearby city 
of Kingston. The influx of equestrian visitors has been a welcome change. HITS Inc. developed its 
$15 million equestrian center along the Hudson River in 2003. HITS-on-the-Hudson now 
supports about 3,000 horses and 2,200 riders every year between May and September. This center 
has had a major impact on the economy of Saugerties and its character.  A 2011 article in the New 
York Times quotes an area resident and business owner as stating, “When we first came to town, 
there were a lot of empty stores…and now it feels really vibrant. It’s like having the Hamptons in 
your backyard.” 

It took some trial and error from the local businesses to figure out how best to capture the money 
of competitors and spectators at the equestrian center. One of the biggest changes to businesses 
over the summer is the extension of operating hours, in order to utilize the time after competitions 
end for the day. 

11317



45 

 

Figure C6: Downtown Saugerties, NY (Source: discoversaugerties.com) 

 

The last weekend of the dressage season is dedicated to the NEDA Fall Festival. The competition 
brings in about 700 horses and their riders along with another two to five individuals, often trainers 
and family members. The biggest effect the Fall Festival has is through the competitors and their 
retinue, who utilize the hotels, bed and breakfasts, and restaurants. Most of the spectators and 
participants come from no fewer than 15 to 20 miles outside Saugerties. Economically, for the 
town, this is an ideal situation. Money is brought in from outside the community, spent at local 
businesses, and then the people who brought the money leave after the competition. An owner of 
a local restaurant stated in the NY Times article, “People will say, ‘ugh, the restaurants are so 
crowded when they’re here…’ but I say, ‘yes, but we get to have that restaurant all year round.’ And 
if they weren’t here, I don’t know if we would or not.”  

Figure C7: Saugerties Lighthouse 
(Source: www.tripadvisor.com) 

It is rare for any single event, even 
one as well attended as the Fall 
Festival, to have a transformative 
impact on a community. Rather, it is 
the cumulative impact from the entire 
calendar of events that has helped to 
revive the Saugerties economy. Just 
about every week or weekend from 
May to September, there is something 
happening at HITS-on-the-Hudson, 

drawing new visitors to the community. Beyond its immediate impact on Saugerties, the Fall 
Festival and regional events like it also play an important role in supporting the New England 
equestrian community. The Fall Festival supports all levels of dressage, from beginner classes to 
classes that include competitors who have also competed in the Olympics or World Games. The 
Fall Festival is a time for the entire NEDA community to come together and support their 
discipline. For them, boosting the town’s economy is a secondary benefit. 

11317



46 

 

MASSACHUSETTS STATE 4-H HORSE SHOW | NORTHAMPTON, MA 
 

HISTORY AND BACKGROUND 

4-H is the youth development arm of the federal Cooperative 
Extension Service of 110 land-grant universities utilizing 611,800 
volunteers, 3,500 professionals, and 25 million alumni. Its mission 
is “engaging youth to reach their fullest potential while advancing the 
field of youth development,” with over 90,000 clubs across the 
country empowering over six million young people across the 
country. 

The Massachusetts 4-H chapter was founded in 1908 and 
incorporated in 1956. This year also marked the birth of the 4-H 
horse project in Massachusetts. It was different from 4-H’s many other livestock programs because 
it was the first large-scale approach with a recreational intent rather than an economic one.  

Figure C8: 4-H fosters love and appreciation for 
other living beings (Source: manukahoneyusa.com) 

The programs offered through the 
Massachusetts 4-H are animal science, which 
features the horse program; science, engineering, 
and technology; communications; community 
service; leadership; as well as other infrequent 
and smaller programs and projects. The animal 
science programs focus on companion animals, 
livestock, poultry, and heritage breeds; a popular 

project animal is the horse. 

The 4-H horse program is for horse owners as well as horse lovers who do not own a horse. It’s 
primarily focus is horse care and education. Members compete in areas such as horse judging, 
hippology, and public speaking. It does not provide in-depth riding instruction; however, 4-H 
members will sometimes ride their horse as part of the activities. 4-H also sponsors horse shows 
around the Commonwealth where members of the horse projects can display their riding skills.  

THE EVENT 

The annual Massachusetts 4-H State Horse Show is held on the second weekend in September at 
the Three County Fairgrounds in Northampton, Massachusetts. This fall will be the 38th annual 
show. The show consists of the Horse Lover Division, Model Horse Show, Drill Team 
Performance, Hunter/Jumper Classes, Showmanship, and more. 

 

11317



47 

Figure C9: 4-H member at horse show 
(Source: extension.usu.edu) 

This two-day event allows all 
Massachusetts 4-H members who 
participate in the horse project to display 
the talents and skills they have learned 
throughout the year. It also fosters the 
connection between peers who share the 
same interest in horses. By choosing the 
divisions or classes they wish to 
participate in, the members are able to 
highlight their strongest attributes. 

Although this show is only open to 4-H members, 4-H hosts other types of horse shows, some of 
which are open to non-members. Communities and clubs are also able to put on their own horse 
shows, using a horse show-planning guide developed by 4-H that covers all the aspects of a horse 
show, from judges to performance rings to prizes. 

COMMUNITY IMPACT 

Due to its focus on local talent, events such as the 4-H State Horse Show tend to draw few out-of-
state participants. As a result, from a narrow economic impact perspective, they bring little new 
money into the Commonwealth. However, they pay a critically important role in building the 
equestrian community, which has spillover benefits on entire equine industry in the 
Commonwealth. A 2013 study by Christiansen Capital Advisors estimates that the thoroughbred 
equine industry alone contributes $107 million in revenue to the Massachusetts economy each 
year, and is directly and indirectly responsible for nearly 1,500 full-time equivalent jobs. But this 
industry cannot thrive without a community of horse-lovers to support it, and a new generation of 
enthusiasts to take the mantle in the years ahead. The state horse show is the culmination of the 
stewardship of the local horse community. 

The Massachusetts 4-H State Horse Show also supports an even more important educational 
mission. Through the horse project, participants learn responsibility and commitment to the 
project and horse and learn important life and work skills, such as respect for a schedule, fulfilling 
the needs of others, selflessness, and accountability. In fact, a recent study conducted by 
researchers at Tufts University’s Institute for Applied Research and Development found that 4-H 
members were more likely to contribute to their communities, become civically active, and more 
likely to participate in Science, Engineering and Computer Technology programs3. 

3 Lerner, RM at al. “The Positive Development of Youth: Comprehensive Findings from the 4-H Study of Positive 
Youth Development.” National 4-H Council. Chevy Chase, MD: 2013. 

11317



Exhibit 1(f)

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



Exhibit 2

11317



                       

GAAMHA is a 501(c)3 Non-Profit Charitable Organization 
We are proud to be W/NPO (Woman Non-Profit Organization) certified agency. 

 
 

208 Coleman Street 

Gardner, MA 01440 

P: 978-632-0934 

F: 978-630-3337 

I/DD Services 

SUD Services 

Transit Services 

www.gaamha.org 
 

S  

May 14, 2024 

 

Elizabeth J. Kazinskas 

Council President 

Gardner City Council 

95 Pleasant St. Room 121 

Gardner, MA 01440 

 

Dear Madam President, 

I am writing to you today in support of the application submitted to the City Council by Bay State Racing, and to 

provide additional context around GAAMHA’s interest in this matter. 

As you are likely aware, Bay State Racing’s proposal includes their intent to acquire the property owned by GAAMHA 

located at 827 Green St. This farm property is currently home to The Carl E. Dahl House at Evergreen Grove and 

R.O.O.T.S. at Evergreen Grove, both of which are programs operated by our agency. Both Dahl House and ROOTS 

represent incredibly unique and successful programs that are without peers in the world of substance use and mental 

health due to their innovative approach, and because they are both specifically designed to serve people with financial 

barriers to the quality of care that we offer. Since the day we opened in November of 2021, not one participant in our 

care has paid a single penny to take part. GAAMHA’s ability to sustain this industry leading care relies heavily on 

fundraising through donations, grants, and a dedicated team of passionate individuals who are employed within these 

programs and throughout our agency. Over 50 rescued and endangered livestock animals also call our farm home, and 

the costs to feed and care for these amazing creatures continue to increase each year. 

For the past three years I have been inspired by calls from around the country from clinical professionals looking at 

our work here in Gardner as a model they wish to replicate in their own regions. At this moment, providers in both 

Oregon and Ohio are planning to visit our farm in Gardner in 2024 to study and learn from our groundbreaking work. 

Evergreen Grove has been used as the site for clinical research projects for graduate students from Fitchburg State 

University and from the University of Pennsylvania School of Veterinary Medicine. We’ve even played host to Jim 

Wahlberg and Wahl St. Productions who have captured interviews and footage of families impacted by substance use. 

Later this month, a team of academic professionals from the University of Denver, University of New Hampshire, Tufts 

Veterinary School, Green Chimneys School in NY, and The Land at Hillside Farms in PA will be visiting the farm to study 

our work. In August of this year, we expect to make global news in the equine world with the birth of two 

Newfoundland Ponies. This critically endangered breed typically only sees an average of 10 births each year 

worldwide, and our farm is home to the largest herd of Newfoundland Ponies in the United States. To have two births 

occur on one small farm is virtually unprecedented. As proud as we are of the accolades our work gets, and the 

attention it brings to the Greater Gardner Community, I am equally concerned as I look to the future. 

The demand for our unique approach to care is overwhelming. Wait lists to enroll in our programs continue to expand 

beyond our grasp, and the prospect of being able to generate enough revenue to expand our facilities and 

programming is daunting.  

11317



                       

GAAMHA is a 501(c)3 Non-Profit Charitable Organization 
We are proud to be W/NPO (Woman Non-Profit Organization) certified agency. 

 
 

208 Coleman Street 

Gardner, MA 01440 

P: 978-632-0934 

F: 978-630-3337 

I/DD Services 

SUD Services 

Transit Services 

www.gaamha.org 
 

This is where GAAMHA’s goals of expansion and sustainability, and Bay State Racing’s plan intersect. Bay State and 

GAAMHA have signed a Letter of Intent that would allow us to move our program just a short distance down Route 

140 and build the facility of our dreams. The agreement includes not only the sale of our property to Bay State, but 

also a muti-million-dollar donation to our organization to facilitate the construction of a larger farm program. Our plan 

would be to expand the Carl E. Dahl House residential program from 16 to 24 beds and increase capacity by 50%. The 

new residence would also include a community meeting space where we could host training and other events to share 

our work with more members of the local community, and welcome visitors from all over to our great city. The ROOTS 

program, which currently operates out of a tiny modular trailer, would now be housed in a large and permanent 

facility that would create space to work with our animals in an indoor arena and remove our current barrier to serving 

more local youth. We currently perform all this work outside, which means for most of the year daylight and weather 

severely limit the hours available to host sessions with young people starving for a way to address mental health and 

substance use challenges in a setting that the genuinely enjoy and look forward to attending.  

This letter is by no means a wholesale endorsement of horse racing, or the horse racing industry, which has had many 

challenges in its past. However, I can tell you that Bay State Racing has committed to adhering to the highest 

standards of animal ethics in their industry. Bay State has made this commitment not only verbally, but in writing as 

part of our agreement. GAAMHA’s Board of Directors has met extensively with representatives from Bay State and 

insisted that this caveat be a part of our as part of our overarching agreement. To their credit, Bay State did not 

hesitate to make this commitment.  

While Bay State’s proposed operation would have obvious financial benefits to Gardner, so too would GAAMHA’s 

expanded programming that would result. Over 50 clinical, support, and agricultural employees would come to 

Gardner each day to work, eat, and shop. Visitors from around Massachusetts and the entire country would get to 

enjoy all that Gardner has to offer when they travel to visit family in our programs or collaborate professionally with 

our teams.  

Most importantly, this rare opportunity would increase the scope and quality of impact we have on the people we 

serve and help sustain our organization for decades to come. It is my sincere hope that you, and the entire City 

Council, will include these factors as you consider the proposal before you from Bay State Racing. Please feel free to 

contact me should you have any questions or would like any additional information. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Shawn P. Hayden, LADC-II 
President/CEO 
shayden@gaamha.org    
 

11317

mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org
mailto:shayden@gaamha.org


Exhibit 3

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



Exhibit 4

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



the City would exhaust its jurisdiction. North Shore Corp. v. Selectmen of Topsfield, 322 Mass. 

413, 416 (1948)). There is no provision that I have located that would support the proposition that 

once a location was rejected, a parcel could not be presented again for the consideration as to the 

location of a track. 

CURRENT PROPOSAL 

On April 30, 2024, Bay State Park submitted a request to the City Council to schedule a 

public hearing in accordance with M.G.L c. 128A, § 13A to consider 827 Green Street, Gardner 

MA as the location for a racetrack meet license. Exhibit I.4

During my review of this matter, I have been advised that the proposal is to open as an 

"Equine Center" providing for the breeding, housing, riding, showing, studying, treatment, 

training, retirement, and racing of horses and other equestrian and agricultural related uses such as 

wagering on horse races. These races will be broadcasted so that others not on the site may wager 

on the races occurring at the Equine Center.

The applicant plans to construct a one-mile-long grass track and grandstand in the 

northwest portion of the property. The proposal includes paddocks and facilities for training and 

riding. The existing track will not be altered, or in the alternative, will be tom up so that the 

area it occupies can be put to a different use. The current parking area and any new parking 

areas will be made of pervious material. There will be residence for a grounds keeper and 

an assistant grounds keeper. There are currently two barns that have 43 stalls which will be 

renovated. Other activities will be occurring on the site, including educational programs in 

partnership with Mount 

4 
PowerPoint enclosed in the letter was not included in Exhibit I as it was revised. 

5 

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT A 

11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT B 

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT C 

11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT D 

11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT E 

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT F 

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT G 

11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT H 

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT I 

11317



11317



EXHIBIT J 

11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT K 

11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT L 

11317



11317



11317



EXHIBIT M 

11317



11317



EXHIBIT N 

11317



11317


	11323 - Host Community Agreement Bay State Racing.pdf
	ADP3A46.tmp
	HOST COMMUNITY AGREEMENT
	By and Between the City of Gardner, Massachusetts and
	RECITALS
	1. Recitals
	2. Payments to the City, Support of the City
	3. Vehicular Access To and From the Project
	4. Local Permit Review
	5. Operational Issues
	6. Treatment of Horses
	7. Responsible Gaming in Gardner
	8. Local Vendors and Employment
	9. Local Taxes
	10. Security and Safety
	11. Nature of Baystate’s Obligations
	12. Support
	13. Term
	14. Annual Reporting
	15. Successors/Assigns
	16. Notices
	17. Severability
	18. Governing Law
	19. Indemnification
	20. Entire Agreement
	21. Amendments/Waiver
	22. Headings
	23. Counterparts
	24. Signatures
	25. No Joint Venture
	26. Nullity
	27. Third-Parties
	28. Representation of Authority
	29. Force Majeure
	30. Enforcement.
	{ INTENTIONALLY BLANK}


	11317 - Baystate Application 827 Green St.pdf
	3. 2024.04.30 Ltr to Council President
	4. 20204.06.13 powerpoint
	5. 2024.06.13 FAQ
	6. Traffic and Parking Overview
	7. BSR UMass Study
	8. GAAMHA Bay State Racing Support Letter
	9. GAAMHA Baystate Racing LOI - Executed Copy (002) 4871-3389-6889 v.1
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page




